Subject to Completion, Dated June 22, 2015

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT (To Prospectus dated October 10, 2014)

# SOTHERLY HOTELS INC.



# 3,000,000 Shares

# **Common Stock**

We are offering 3,000,000 shares of our common stock.

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market, or "NASDAQ," under the symbol "SOHO." On June 19, 2015, the last reported sale price of our common stock on NASDAQ was \$8.25 per share.

We are organized and conduct our operations to qualify as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes. To assist us in complying with certain federal income tax requirements applicable to REITs, our charter contains certain restrictions relating to the ownership and transfer of our stock, including an ownership limit of 9.9% of our common stock.

Investing in our common stock involves risks. Please carefully read the "Risk Factors" beginning on page S-8 of this prospectus supplement, on page 4 of the accompanying prospectus, and the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement, including our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 and any subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or Current Reports on Form 8-K, for a discussion of certain factors that you should consider before making your investment decision.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

	Per Share	Total
Public offering price	\$	\$
Underwriting discounts and commissions	\$	\$
Proceeds, before expenses, to us <sup>(1)</sup>	\$	\$
<del></del>		

Before deducting approximately \$\ in expenses payable by us.

We granted the underwriter the right to purchase up to an additional 450,000 shares of common stock at the public offering price, less underwriting discounts and commissions, within 30 days from the date of this prospectus supplement. The underwriter expects to deliver the shares of common stock on or about , 2015.

Sandler O'Neill + Partners, L.P. JMP Securities
Ladenburg Thalmann

Boenning & Scattergood, Inc. J.J.B. Hilliard, W.L. Lyons, LLC

The date of this prospectus supplement is , 2015

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# **Prospectus Supplement**

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT AND THE PROSPECTUS	S-1
SUMMARY	S-2
THE OFFERING	S-7
RISK FACTORS	S-8
CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	S-12
USE OF PROCEEDS	S-14
UNDERWRITING	S-15
LEGAL MATTERS	S-18
EXPERTS	S-18
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	S-18
INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE	S-18
Prospectus	
ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS	1
PROSPECTUS SUMMARY	2
RISK FACTORS	4
CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	5
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES	7
USE OF PROCEEDS	8
SECURITIES THAT MAY BE OFFERED	9
DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK AND PREFERRED STOCK	10
DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES AND RELATED GUARANTEES	15
DESCRIPTION OF DEPOSITARY SHARES	24
DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS	27
DESCRIPTION OF RIGHTS	28
DESCRIPTION OF UNITS	29
GLOBAL SECURITIES	30
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF MARYLAND LAW AND OF SOTHERLY'S CHARTER AND BYLAWS	33
PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT	38
MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS	42
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	63
LEGAL MATTERS	65
EXPERTS	65
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	65
INCODDODATION DV DECEDENCE	66

You should rely only on the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus and any related free writing prospectus issued by us. Neither the underwriters nor we have authorized any other person to provide you with different or additional information. If anyone provides you with different, additional or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. You should assume that the information appearing in this prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus and any free writing prospectus, as well as information that we have previously filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission that is incorporated by reference, is accurate only as of the date of the applicable document. Our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations and prospects may have changed since those respective dates. We further note that the representations, warranties and covenants made by us in any agreement that is filed as an exhibit to any document that is incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus were made solely for the benefit of the parties to such agreement, including, in some cases, for the purpose of allocating risk among the parties to such agreements, and should not be deemed to be a representation, warranty or covenant to you. Moreover, such representations, warranties or covenants were accurate only as of the date when made. Accordingly, such representations, warranties and covenants should not be relied on as accurately representing the current state of our affairs. This prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus do not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities in any jurisdiction in which such an offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so, or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation. Neither the delivery of this prospectus supplement and accompanying prospectus nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in our affairs or that information contained herein is correct as of any time subsequent to the date hereof.

This prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus contain registered trademarks, including Homewood Suites® and Hilton Garden Inn®, that are the exclusive property of Hilton Worldwide, Inc., or "HWI," and its subsidiaries and affiliates. None of HWI, its parents, subsidiaries or affiliates or any of their respective officers, directors, members, managers, stockholders, owners, agents or employees, which we refer to collectively as the "Hilton Entities," is an issuer or underwriter of the securities being offered hereby, plays (or will play) any role in the offer or sale of the securities, or has any responsibility for the creation or contents of this prospectus. This prospectus also contains other registered trademarks, including Holiday Hospitality Franchising Inc. and Sheraton LLC, together the "other trademarks," that are the exclusive property of their respective owners, which are companies other than us. None of the owners of these other trademarks, their parents, subsidiaries or affiliates or any of their respective officers, directors, members, managers, stockholders, owners, agents or employees, which we refer to collectively as the "other trademark owners," is an issuer or underwriter of the securities being offered hereby, plays (or will play) any role in the offer or sale of the securities, or has any responsibility for the creation or contents of this prospectus supplement or the accompanying prospectus. In addition, none of the Hilton Entities and none of the other trademark owners has or will have any liability or responsibility whatsoever arising out of or related to the sale or offer of the securities being offered hereby, including any liability or responsibility for any financial statements, projections or other financial information or other information contained in this prospectus or the accompanying prospectus supplement, or otherwise disseminated in connection with the offer or sale of the securities offered by this prospectus and the accompanying prospectus supplement. You must understand that, if you purchase securities in this offering, your sole recourse for any alleged or actual impropriety relating to the offer and sale of the securities and the operation of our business will be against us (and/or, as may be applicable, the seller of such securities) and in no event may you seek to impose liability arising from or related to such activity, directly or indirectly, upon any of the Hilton Entities or any of the other trademark owners.

Solely for convenience, trademarks and trade names referred to in this prospectus may appear without the "®" or "TM" symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the fullest extent possible under applicable law, our rights or the rights of the applicable licensor to these trademarks and trade names. We do not intend our use or display of other companies' trade names, trademarks or service

marks to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, any other companies. Each trademark, trade name or service mark of any other company appearing in this prospectus is the property of its respective holder.

We use market data and industry forecasts and projections throughout this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus, including data from publicly available information and industry publications. These sources generally state that the information they provide has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but that the accuracy and completeness of the information are not guaranteed. The forecasts and projections are based on industry surveys and the preparers' experience in the industry and there can be no assurance that any of the forecasts or projections will be achieved. We believe that the surveys and market research others have performed are reliable, but we have not independently investigated or verified this information. In addition, the market data and industry forecasts and projections obtained from PKF Hospitality Research, or PKF, and STR, Inc., or STR, that we have included in this prospectus have not been expertized and are, therefore, solely our responsibility. As a result, neither PKF nor STR have, nor will have, any liability or responsibility whatsoever for any market data and industry forecasts and projections that are contained in this prospectus or otherwise disseminated in connection with the offer or sale of our common stock. If you purchase our shares of common stock, your sole recourse for any alleged or actual inaccuracies in the market data and industry forecasts and projections used in this prospectus will be against us.

#### ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT AND THE PROSPECTUS

This document is in two parts. The first part is the prospectus supplement, including the documents incorporated by reference, which describes the specific terms of this offering. The second part, the accompanying prospectus, including the documents incorporated by reference, provides more general information about securities that we may offer from time to time, some of which does not apply to the common stock or this offering. Generally, when we refer to this prospectus, we are referring to both parts of this document combined. We urge you to carefully read this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus, and the documents incorporated herein and therein, before buying any of the common stock being offered under this prospectus supplement. This prospectus supplement may add, update or change information contained in the accompanying prospectus. To the extent that any statement that we make in this prospectus supplement is inconsistent or conflicts with statements made in the accompanying prospectus or any documents incorporated by reference therein, the statements made in this prospectus supplement will be deemed to modify or supersede those made in the accompanying prospectus and such documents incorporated by reference therein.

We urge you to carefully read this prospectus, any applicable prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus, together with the information incorporated herein and therein by reference as described under the heading "Where You Can Find More Information," before buying any of the common stock being offered.

In this prospectus supplement, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references to "Sotherly," "Company," "we," "us" and "our" refer collectively to Sotherly Hotels Inc., its operating partnership, Sotherly Hotels LP, and its consolidated subsidiaries.

#### **SUMMARY**

This summary highlights selected information about us, this offering and information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus supplement and in the accompanying prospectus and in the documents we incorporate by reference herein and therein. This summary is not complete and does not contain all of the information that you should consider before investing in our common stock. After you read this summary, to fully understand this offering and its consequences to you, you should read and consider carefully the more detailed information and financial statements and related notes that we include in and incorporate by reference into this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus, especially the section entitled "Risk Factors." If you invest in our common stock, you are assuming a high degree of risk. This prospectus supplement may add to, update or change information in the accompanying prospectus.

# **Company Overview**

Sotherly was formed in August 2004 to own, acquire, renovate and reposition full-service, primarily upscale and upper-upscale hotel properties located in the Mid-Atlantic and Southern United States. On December 21, 2004, Sotherly successfully completed its initial public offering and elected to be treated as a self-advised real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes. As of the date of this prospectus, Sotherly Hotels Inc. owns approximately 81.9% of the partnership units in our operating partnership, Sotherly Hotels LP. Limited partners (including certain of Sotherly's officers and directors) own the remaining units in our operating partnership.

As of the date of this prospectus supplement, our portfolio consists of twelve full-service, primarily upscale and upper-upscale hotels with 3,009 rooms and approximately 160,928 square feet of meeting space. Eleven of these hotels are 100% owned by subsidiaries of our operating partnership and ten operate under the Hilton<sup>TM</sup>, Crowne Plaza<sup>TM</sup>, DoubleTree<sup>TM</sup>, Sheraton<sup>TM</sup> and Holiday Inn<sup>TM</sup> brands, while one hotel operates independently of any brand affiliation. Our hotels are managed on a day-to-day basis by MHI Hotels Services, LLC, which does business as, and which we refer to in this prospectus supplement as, Chesapeake Hospitality. Through a joint venture with an affiliate of The Carlyle Group, which we refer to as Carlyle, we also own a 25.0% indirect interest in (i) the entity that owns the 311-room Crowne Plaza<sup>TM</sup> Hollywood Beach Resort, or the JV Owner, and (ii) the entity that leases the hotel and has engaged Chesapeake Hospitality to operate the hotel under a management contract, or the JV Lessee. Carlyle currently owns a 75.0% indirect controlling interest in each of these entities. As discussed below under "—Pending Acquisition," we have entered into a definitive purchase agreement to acquire from Carlyle their 75.0% indirect interest in the entity that owns the 311-room Crowne Plaza<sup>TM</sup> Hollywood Beach Resort, after which we will own, through a subsidiary of our operating partnership, 100.0% of this hotel.

Our portfolio is concentrated in markets that we believe possess multiple demand generators and have significant barriers to entry for new product delivery, which are important factors for us in identifying hotel properties that we expect will be capable of providing strong risk-adjusted returns.

As of June 19, 2015 we owned the following hotel properties:

Property	Number of Rooms	Location	Date of Acquisition	Chain Designation
Wholly-owned				
Crowne Plaza Hampton Marina	173	Hampton, VA	April 24, 2008	Upscale
Crowne Plaza Houston Downtown	259	Houston, TX	November 13, 2013	Upscale
Crowne Plaza Jacksonville				
Riverfront	292	Jacksonville, FL	July 22, 2005	Upscale
Crowne Plaza Tampa Westshore	222	Tampa, FL	October 29, 2007	Upscale
DoubleTree by Hilton				
Brownstone-University	190	Raleigh, NC	December 21, 2004	Upscale
DoubleTree by Hilton Philadelphia				
Airport	331	Philadelphia, PA	December 21, 2004	Upscale
Georgian Terrace	326	Atlanta, GA	March 27, 2014	Independent(1)
Hilton Savannah DeSoto	246	Savannah, GA	December 21, 2004	Upper Upscale
Hilton Wilmington Riverside	272	Wilmington, NC	December 21, 2004	Upper Upscale
Sheraton Louisville Riverside	180	Jeffersonville, IN	September 20, 2006	Upper Upscale
Holiday Inn Laurel West	_207	Laurel, MD	December 21, 2004	Upper Mid-Scale
	2,698			
Joint Venture Property				
Crowne Plaza Hollywood Beach				
Resort <sup>(2)</sup>	311	Hollywood, FL	August 9, 2007	Upscale
Total	3,009			

<sup>(1)</sup> We believe that the Georgian Terrace would carry a chain scale designation of upper upscale if it were a branded hotel.

In order for Sotherly to qualify as a REIT, it cannot directly manage or operate our wholly-owned hotels. Therefore, our wholly-owned hotel properties are leased to MHI Hospitality TRS, LLC, or our TRS Lessee, and managed by Chesapeake Hospitality, an eligible independent management company owned and controlled by certain individuals, including Andrew M. Sims, Sotherly's chairman and chief executive officer, Kim E. Sims, a current director of Sotherly, Christopher L. Sims, a former director of Sotherly, and William J. Zaiser, Sotherly's former executive vice president and chief financial officer. Our TRS Lessee is wholly-owned by MHI Hospitality TRS Holding, Inc., or MHI Holding, a taxable REIT subsidiary that is wholly-owned by our operating partnership. Our TRS Lessee is disregarded as an entity separate from MHI Holding for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Chesapeake Hospitality and its affiliates have been in continuous operation since 1957. By using Chesapeake Hospitality as the management company, we intend to continue to capitalize on its extensive experience to seek above-average operating results. Chesapeake Hospitality and its predecessors have operated for many years in markets where we have a presence, and its operations are driven primarily by a focused sales, marketing and food and beverage strategy that is critical to the success of a full-service hotel.

<sup>(2)</sup> We currently own this hotel through a joint venture in which we have a 25.0% interest. We have signed a definitive purchase agreement to acquire the remaining 75.0% interest in this hotel. See "—Pending Acquisition,"

# **Pending Acquisition**

Crowne Plaza Hollywood Beach Resort, Hollywood, Florida

On June 19, 2015, we entered into a definitive purchase agreement to acquire from Carlyle the remaining 75.0% interest in the 311-room Crowne Plaza<sup>TM</sup> Hollywood Beach Resort that we do not currently own. In this prospectus, we refer to this hotel as the Hollywood Hotel.

The Hollywood Hotel opened in September 2007 and is centrally located to enjoy both the Intracoastal Waterway and Atlantic Ocean access. With 311 luxury guestrooms and suites, the Hollywood Hotel is also close to both Fort Lauderdale and Miami, as well as the Hollywood Conference Center, Gulfstream Park, Hard Rock Casino, Sun Life Stadium, which is home to Miami's NFL and MLB teams, and South Florida's famous beaches and nightlife. The oversized luxury guestrooms and suites include kitchenette amenities such as microwave ovens and refrigerators. All guestrooms have a walk-out balcony with partial Intracoastal Waterway and ocean views. The Hollywood Hotel has seating both inside and outside the resort – Elements Bistro serves an Asian/ Caribbean fused menu for breakfast, lunch and dinner and the poolside Lava Tiki Bar & Grille offers hearty bar food and signature cocktails. Located in the resort lobby, the Cool Beans Coffee Bar has a full selection of Starbucks coffees. The Hollywood Hotel enjoys easement rights allowing direct access to the beach. The Hollywood Hotel also has a health and fitness center, gift shop, business center, outdoor open-air infinity-edge resort pool overlooking the Intracoastal Waterway and 10,000 square feet of full-service banquet and meeting space, including a 3,200 square foot climate-controlled outdoor event tent.

The Hollywood Hotel is operated by Chesapeake Hospitality under a management agreement that expires in August 2017. Under the management agreement, Chesapeake Hospitality receives an annual base management fee of 3.0% of gross revenues. Base management fees earned by Chesapeake Hospitality totaled \$211,259 and \$192,785 for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and \$592,119 for the year ended December 31, 2014. We intend to terminate the existing management agreement with Chesapeake Hospitality upon consummation of the acquisition of the remaining 75.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel and, pursuant to an existing master agreement between us and Chesapeake Hospitality, enter into a new management agreement with Chesapeake Hospitality, which we expect to include an annual base management fee of 2.0% of gross revenue for the remainder of the calendar year ending December 31, 2015, 2.25% of gross revenue for the calendar year ending December 31, 2016 and 2.5% of gross revenue in subsequent years.

The purchase price for the remaining 75.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel includes a cash payment in the aggregate amount of \$26,250,000 and the assumption of a mortgage loan secured by the Hollywood Hotel in the amount of \$57.0 million issued by Bank of America, N.A., or Bank of America, and guaranteed by affiliates of Carlyle, which we refer to as the Hollywood Mortgage Loan. Pursuant to the purchase agreement, we will acquire from Carlyle the 75.0% equity interest in each of the JV Owner and the JV Lessee that we do not currently own, and certain affiliates of Carlyle will be released as guarantors under, and from certain indemnification obligations pursuant to, the Hollywood Mortgage Loan. We will also enter into credit support arrangements with Bank of America to allow for the release of the Carlyle affiliates from these obligations. After the closing of this transaction, we will own a 100.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel.

We anticipate the closing of the acquisition of the remaining 75.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel to occur on or before August 15, 2015, subject to customary closing conditions, including the lender's approval of the credit support arrangements with Sotherly and the related release of affiliates of Carlyle as guarantors under, and from certain indemnification obligations pursuant to, the Hollywood Mortgage Loan. For additional information concerning the purchase agreement, see our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 22, 2015, which is incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement.

Rationale for the Acquisition of the Crowne Plaza Hollywood Beach Resort

- Favorable outlook on the hotel space: We believe that a continued recovery in U.S. GDP growth, coupled with limited growth in new hotel room supply will lead to continued increases in hotel industry revenue per available room, or RevPAR, and operating profit. According to PKF, the U.S. hotel industry is forecasted to achieve 65% occupancy in 2015, the highest national occupancy rate since STR began reporting data in 1987. Additionally, PKF projects that, by the end of 2015, demand for hotel accommodations will have increased 25.8% since 2009, while the supply of hotel rooms will have grown by just 5.6% over the same period. PKF also projects that hoteliers will be able to increase their average daily rate, or ADR, at an average annual pace of 5.7% between 2015 and 2017.
- Favorable outlook on Fort Lauderdale/Hollywood, Florida hotel market: As set forth in the table below, the Fort Lauderdale/Hollywood, Florida hotel market has experienced a steady recovery since 2010, with ADR and RevPAR realizing strong growth over the last two years. Additionally, PKF Hotel Horizons forecasts above average RevPAR growth through 2019 as compared to long run market averages.

	Fort Lauderdale/Hollywood Market				
Year	Occupancy	$ADR^{(1)}$	ADR %	RevPAR(2)	RevPAR %
2011	77.00%	\$141	_	\$109	_
2012	79.20%	\$143	1.41%	\$114	4.40%
2013	82.00%	\$149	4.19%	\$122	7.50%
2014	85.10%	\$159	6.71%	\$135	10.70%
YTD Apr 2014	91.73%	\$192	_	\$176	_
YTD Apr 2015	90.30%	\$214	11.46%	\$193	9.72%

Source: STR Tract Scale - Upscale Chains

- (1) ADR is calculated by dividing the total daily room revenue by the total daily number of rooms sold.
- (2) RevPAR is calculated by multiplying ADR and average daily occupancy.
- High quality asset: The 10-story Hollywood Hotel opened in late 2007 after an extensive renovation, including, among other things, new guestrooms, lobby, restaurant, and meeting space, with all new furniture, fixtures, and equipment; new infrastructure and HVAC systems; a new roof system; hurricane impact windows; new electrical and plumbing; updated elevator cabs; a large infinity-edge pool with frontage to the Intracoastal Waterway; a new tiki bar; and a new 3,200 square foot climate-controlled outdoor event tent. As a result of the 2007 restoration of the Hollywood Hotel, we anticipate that the Hollywood Hotel will require only routine maintenance and minimal capital expenditures over the next several years.
- **Strong stable in-place cash flow:** Between 2010 to 2014, the compounded annual growth rates of the Hollywood Hotel's RevPAR and total revenue were 8.9% and 8.7%, respectively.
- Uniquely positioned to acquire the Hollywood Hotel: Through our joint venture with Carlyle, we have owned a 25.0% indirect non-controlling interest in the Hollywood Hotel since August 8, 2007. Given this history and our extensive knowledge of the Hollywood Hotel's operations, the local hotel market and the Hollywood Hotel's competitive position, we believe we are uniquely positioned to effectively underwrite and acquire the asset at favorable pricing for our stockholders.
- Continued alignment with our investment strategy: This acquisition falls within our overall investment strategy to acquire full-service, upscale and upper-upscale hotels located in prime central business districts of the major markets in the Southern United States. We believe that our extensive experience and strategic relationships within this space will continue to give us a competitive advantage in comparison to our competitors.

Wholly-owned portfolio: Upon the closing of this acquisition, we will own 100.0% of the Hollywood
Hotel and have full control of the property. Additionally, we will own 100.0% of all of the hotels in our
portfolio, which we believe will result in increased profitability and growth potential for our
stockholders.

# Financing of the Acquisition

The consummation of the acquisition of the remaining 75.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel is not subject to a financing condition, as the existing loan is expected to remain in place. We plan to fund the cash portion of the purchase price for the Hollywood Hotel and related transaction expenses with the net proceeds from this offering. The Hollywood Hotel is currently encumbered by the Hollywood Mortgage Loan, a \$57.0 million mortgage that matures in January 2017 and requires monthly payments of interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 3.95%. Affiliates of Carlyle have provided limited guarantees of the Hollywood Mortgage Loan and have indemnified the lender against certain losses. As part of the acquisition of the equity interests of the JV Owner and the JV Lessee held by Carlyle, we will assume full responsibility for the Hollywood Mortgage Loan and we will enter into credit support arrangements with the lender to support the release of the Carlyle affiliates as guarantors under, and from certain indemnification obligations pursuant to, the Hollywood Mortgage Loan.

This offering is not conditioned upon the completion of the acquisition of the remaining interests in the Hollywood Hotel. Although we have entered into a definitive purchase agreement for the acquisition of the remaining 75.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel, we can provide no assurance that we will close the acquisition on the timeline or cost that we anticipate, or at all. See the section entitled "Risk Factors" on page S-8 this prospectus supplement for more information.

# **Corporate Information**

Sotherly was incorporated in Maryland in August 2004 and changed its name from MHI Hospitality Corporation to Sotherly Hotels Inc., effective April 16, 2013. Our principal executive offices are located at 410 W. Francis Street, Williamsburg, VA 23185. Our telephone number is (757) 229-5648. Our website is http://www.sotherlyhotels.com. The information contained on, or that may be accessed through, our website is not part of, and is not incorporated into, this prospectus supplement or the accompanying prospectus.

# The Offering

The following summary contains basic information about the common stock and the offering and is not intended to be complete. It does not contain all the information that is important to you. For a more complete description of the terms of our common stock, see "Description of Common Stock and Preferred Stock —" in the accompanying prospectus.

Common stock offered by us

3,000,000 shares of common stock

Common stock outstanding immediately after this offering

13,855,714 shares of common stock (1)

Use of proceeds

We estimate that the net proceeds from this offering will be approximately \$ million (or approximately \$ million if the underwriter exercises in full its option to purchase additional shares), after deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and other expenses of the offering payable by us. We will contribute the net proceeds of this offering to our operating partnership in exchange for common units of partnership interest in our operating partnership.

Our operating partnership intends to use the net proceeds from this offering to fund the cash portion of the purchase price for the acquisition of the remaining 75.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel and related transaction expenses and for general corporate purposes, and, if such acquisition is not completed, to fund other potential acquisitions, for repayment of existing debt and/or for general corporate purposes, including capital expenditures. See "Use of Proceeds" on page S-14.

In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, ownership, actually or constructively, by any person of more than 9.9% in value or number of our outstanding capital stock is restricted by our charter unless the restrictions are waived by our board. See "Description of Common Stock – Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer" in the accompanying prospectus for additional information regarding this limitation.

Ownership restrictions

NASDAQ Global Market symbol

Risk factors

**SOHO** 

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page S-8 of this prospectus supplement as well as the other information included in or incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus for a discussion of risks you should consider carefully before making an investment decision.

The number of shares of common stock to be outstanding immediately after this offering is based upon 10,855,714 shares of common stock outstanding as of June 19, 2015, and does not include (a) 450,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise in full of the underwriters option to purchase additional shares, (b) 677,150 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan, or (c) 2,400,827 shares that may be issued upon redemption of operating partnership units.

#### **RISK FACTORS**

An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risk factors in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and our subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q both incorporated by reference herein and the other information contained in this prospectus, as updated by our subsequent filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, and the risk factors and other information contained in the applicable prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus before acquiring any shares of our common stock. The occurrence of any of these risks might cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our common stock. Please also refer to the section below entitled "Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements."

# Risk Relating to the Acquisition

We may not acquire the remaining 75.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel, which could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations, cash flow and trading price of our common stock.

We currently intend to use the net proceeds from this offering to fund the cash portion of the consideration for the acquisition of the remaining 75.0% interest in Hollywood Hotel and for related transaction expenses, as described in the section entitled "Summary-Pending Acquisition." We cannot assure you that we will consummate the acquisition of the remaining interest in the Hollywood Hotel because the acquisition is subject to satisfaction of closing conditions, including third-party requirements relating to the release of certain affiliates of Carlyle as guarantors under, and from certain indemnification obligations pursuant to, the Hollywood Mortgage Loan. There can be no assurances those conditions will be satisfied or that we will close on the terms or on the timeline described herein or at all. For example, the lender under the Hollywood Mortgage Loan could seek to impose requirements on the consummation of the transaction. If we are not able to satisfy those requirements, or if we deem the satisfaction of those requirements to not be in our best interests, we may not complete the acquisition. In addition, there can be no assurance that Carlyle will proceed with the transaction or that the conditions to closing will be satisfied. In the event that we fail to consummate the acquisition of the remaining interest in the Hollywood Hotel, we will have issued a significant number of additional shares of our common stock without realizing a corresponding increase in earnings and cash flow from acquiring that hotel. As a result, our failure to consummate the acquisition of the remaining interest in the Hollywood Hotel could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations, cash flow and trading price of our common stock.

If we are unable to consummate the acquisition of the remaining 75.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel, we may experience delays in locating and securing attractive alternative investments in which to invest the net proceeds of this offering.

We may not consummate the acquisition of the remaining 75.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel. If we are unable to acquire this hotel, we may experience delays in locating and securing attractive alternative real estate investments in which to invest the net proceeds of the offering. Our failure to apply a substantial portion of the net proceeds of this offering effectively or to find suitable alternative hotel properties to acquire in a timely manner or on acceptable terms could result in returns that are substantially below expectations or result in losses. In addition, these potential alternative acquisitions, whether or not they are successful, may require substantial time and attention from our management and may cause us to incur significant expenses in connection with our review and negotiation, including expenses for closing costs and legal fees. To the extent we do not consummate the acquisition of the remaining interest in the Hollywood Hotel, these expenses will not be offset by increased revenues from the property.

Until appropriate investments can be identified, we may use a portion of the net proceeds for repayment of existing debt and/or for general corporate purposes, including capital expenditures. If we are unable to acquire the remaining 75.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel, we will have broad authority to use the net proceeds of this

offering for other purposes that may not be accretive to our results of operations. Pending application of the net proceeds from this offering, we may invest such proceeds in short-term, interest bearing investments that are consistent with our intention to maintain our qualification as a REIT. These investments are expected to provide a lower net return than we seek to achieve from future hotel property acquisitions.

We will incur additional indebtedness if we complete the acquisition of the remaining 75.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel, which may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Subject to the satisfaction of closing conditions, we currently expect to close the acquisition of the remaining interest in the Hollywood Hotel on or before August 15, 2015. We are currently responsible for our pro rata portion of the outstanding principal balance of the Hollywood Mortgage Loan, a \$57.0 million mortgage loan with Bank of America that is secured by the Hollywood Hotel. As part of the acquisition of the remaining interest in the Hollywood Hotel, we will assume full responsibility for the Hollywood Mortgage Loan, will become a guarantor under the loan and will indemnify Bank of America against certain losses. This additional indebtedness may have adverse consequences on our business, including, among others:

- requiring us to use a substantial portion of our cash flow from our operations to service our indebtedness, which would reduce the available cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, development projects and other general corporate purposes and reduce cash for distributions:
- limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund our working capital needs, acquisitions, capital expenditures or other debt service requirements or for other purposes;
- · increasing the costs of incurring additional debt;
- increasing our exposure to floating interest rates;
- limiting our ability to compete with other companies who are not as highly leveraged, as we may be less capable of responding to adverse economic and industry conditions;
- restricting us from making strategic acquisitions, developing properties or exploiting business opportunities;
- restricting the way in which we conduct our business because of financial and operating covenants in the agreements governing our existing and future indebtedness;
- exposing us to potential events of default (if not cured or waived) under covenants contained in our debt instruments that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results;
- increasing our vulnerability to a downturn in general economic conditions; and
- limiting our ability to react to changing market conditions in our industry.

The impact of any of these potential adverse consequences could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

# Risks Relating to our Common Stock and this Offering

Our stock price and trading volume may be volatile following this offering, and you may not be able to resell our shares at a profit or at all.

The market prices for securities of REITs like us have historically been highly volatile and may continue to be highly volatile in the future. From June 1, 2014 through June 1, 2015, the market price of our common stock has fluctuated from a high of \$8.45 per share to a low of \$6.60 per share. In addition, in recent years, the stock

market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has affected the market prices of securities issued by many companies for reasons unrelated to their operating performance and may adversely affect the price of our common stock. In addition, the volatility of REIT stocks often does not correlate to the operating performance of the companies represented by such stocks. If the market price of our common stock declines significantly, you may be unable to resell your shares at a profit or at all. We cannot assure you that the market price of our common stock will not fluctuate or decline significantly in the future. The following factors, in addition to other risk factors described in this section, may have a significant impact on the market price of our common stock:

- actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly operating results or distributions;
- changes in our earnings estimates or publication of research reports about us or the real estate or specialty finance industry;
- decreases in the market valuations of our assets;
- increased difficulty in maintaining or obtaining financing on attractive terms, or at all;
- increases in market interest rates that lead purchasers of our shares of common stock to demand a higher yield;
- changes in market valuations of similar companies;
- adverse market reaction to any increased indebtedness we incur in the future;
- additions or departures of key management personnel;
- · actions by institutional stockholders;
- speculation in the press or investment community; and
- general market and economic conditions.

These factors may cause the market price of our common stock to decline significantly, regardless of our financial condition, results of operations, business or prospects.

Future sales of our common stock may cause our stock price to decline and may make it difficult to sell your shares.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock, or the availability of such common stock for sale, could adversely affect the prevailing market prices for our common stock. Our Board of Directors may authorize the issuance of additional authorized but unissued shares of common stock or other authorized but unissued securities at any time, including pursuant to the Company's 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The issuance of substantial numbers of shares of our common stock in the public market, upon redemption of units in our operating partnership or as equity compensation, or the perception that such issuances might occur, could adversely affect the per share trading price of our common stock and impair our ability to raise additional capital through the sale of securities should we desire to do so. In addition, it may be difficult, or even impossible, to find a buyer for shares of our common stock.

As of June 19, 2015, we had 10,855,714 shares of common stock outstanding, which excludes up to 2,400,827 shares of our common stock that may be issued upon the redemption of units in our operating partnership. Consequently, sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, including the sale of shares in this offering, or the perception that such sales could occur, may have a material adverse effect on our stock price.

Our common stock has a limited trading market, which could limit your ability to resell your shares of common stock at or above your purchase price.

Despite the listing of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market, trading volume in our common stock has been light and an active trading market may not develop for our common stock. The NASDAQ Global Market requires us to meet minimum financial requirements in order to maintain our listing. Currently, we meet the continued listing requirements of the NASDAQ Global Market. However, if we do not continue to meet the continued listing standards, we could be delisted. We cannot assure you that an active trading market will develop or, if developed, will be maintained. As a result, our stockholders may find it difficult to dispose of shares of our common stock and, as a result, may suffer a loss of all or a substantial portion of their investment.

You may experience significant dilution as a result of this offering, which may adversely affect the per share trading price of our common stock.

This offering may have a dilutive effect on our earnings per share and funds from operations per share after giving effect to the issuance of our common stock in this offering and the application of the expected net proceeds. The actual amount of dilution from this offering, or from any future offering of common or preferred stock, will be based on numerous factors, particularly the use of proceeds and the return generated by such investment, and cannot be determined at this time.

#### CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements, which are based on certain assumptions and describe our current strategies, expectations and future plans, are generally identified by our use of words, such as "intend," "plan," "may," "should," "will," "project," "estimate," "anticipate," "believe," "expect," "continue," "potential," "opportunity," and similar expressions, whether in the negative or affirmative, but the absence of these words does not necessarily mean that a statement is not forward-looking. The factors listed under "Risk Factors" in this prospectus and in any documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus as well as any cautionary language in this prospectus, provide examples of risks, uncertainties and events that may cause our actual results to differ materially from the expectations we describe in our forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, among other things, risks and uncertainties related to:

- national and local economic and business conditions that affect occupancy rates and revenues at our hotels and the demand for hotel products and services;
- risks associated with the hotel industry, including competition, increases in wages, energy costs and other operating costs;
- the magnitude and sustainability of the economic recovery in the hospitality industry and in the markets in which we operate;
- the availability and terms of financing and capital and the general volatility of the securities markets;
- risks associated with the level of our indebtedness and our ability to meet covenants in our debt
  agreements and, if necessary, to refinance or seek an extension of the maturity of such indebtedness or
  modify such debt agreements;
- management and performance of our hotels;
- risks associated with remediating and maintaining our system of internal controls;
- risks associated with the conflicts of interest of our officers and directors;
- risks associated with redevelopment and repositioning projects, including delays and cost overruns;
- supply and demand for hotel rooms in our current and proposed market areas;
- risks associated with our ability to maintain our franchise agreements with our third party franchisors;
- our ability to acquire additional properties and the risk that potential acquisitions may not perform in accordance with expectations;
- our ability to successfully expand into new markets;
- legislative/regulatory changes, including changes to laws governing taxation of REITs;
- our ability to maintain our qualification as a REIT;
- our ability to maintain adequate insurance coverage; and
- other factors, including those discussed in "Risk Factors" in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference.

These risks and uncertainties should be considered in evaluating any forward-looking statement contained in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference or incorporated by reference herein, or therein. All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this prospectus or, in the case of any document incorporated by reference, the date of that document. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf are qualified by the cautionary statements in this section. We undertake no obligation to update or publicly release any revisions to forward-looking statements to reflect events, circumstances or changes in expectations after the date of this prospectus supplement, except as required by law. In addition, our past results are not necessarily indicative of our future results.

#### **USE OF PROCEEDS**

We estimate that the net proceeds from this offering, after deducting expenses payable by us, will be approximately \$ million (approximately \$ million if the underwriter exercises in full its option to purchase additional shares) after deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and other expenses of the offering payable by us.

We currently intend to contribute all of the net proceeds from the sale of common stock to our operating partnership in exchange for the issuance to us of additional partnership units in the operating partnership. Except as we may otherwise provide in any free writing prospectus that we authorize to be provided to you, we currently intend for our operating partnership to use approximately \$\) of the net proceeds from this offering to fund the cash portion of the purchase price of the acquisition of the remaining 75.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel and for related transaction expenses and to use the remainder of the net proceeds from this offering for general corporate purposes. This offering is not conditioned on the completion of the acquisition of the remaining interests in the Hollywood Hotel. Similarly, the closing of the acquisition of the remaining 75.0% interest in the Hollywood Hotel is not conditioned on the closing of this offering.

In the event the acquisition of the remaining interest in the Hollywood Hotel is not completed, we intend for our operating partnership to use the net proceeds from this offering to fund other potential acquisitions, for repayment of existing debt and/or for general corporate purposes, including capital expenditures. In such event, we will have broad authority to use the net proceeds of this offering.

Pending the permanent use of the net proceeds of this offering, we may invest the net proceeds in interest-bearing, short-term investment-grade securities, money-market accounts or other investments that are consistent with our qualification to be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes.

### **UNDERWRITING**

Sandler O'Neill & Partners, L.P. is acting as representative of the underwriters named below. Subject to the terms and conditions stated in the underwriting agreement, dated , 2015, each underwriter named below has severally, and not jointly, agreed to purchase from us, and we have agreed to sell to that underwriter, the number of shares of common stock set forth opposite that underwriter's name.

Underwriters	Number of Shares
Sandler O'Neill & Partners, L.P.	
JMP Securities LLC	
Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc.	
Boenning & Scattergood, Inc.	
J.J.B. Hilliard, W.L. Lyons, LLC	
Total	3,000,000

The underwriting agreement provides that the obligations of the underwriters to purchase the shares of common stock in this offering are subject to approval of certain legal matters by counsel and to certain other conditions. Subject to these conditions, the underwriters are obligated to purchase all of the shares of common stock sold under the underwriting agreement if any of these shares are purchased. The underwriters' obligations to purchase the shares of common stock from us are several and not joint. If an underwriter defaults, the underwriting agreement provides that the purchase commitment of the non-defaulting underwriters may be increased or the underwriting agreement may be terminated.

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act or to contribute to payments the underwriters may be required to make in respect of any of those liabilities.

### **Commissions and Discounts**

The representative has advised us that the underwriters propose initially to offer the shares of common stock to the public at the public offering price set forth on the cover page of this prospectus supplement and to certain dealers at the public offering price minus a concession not in excess of \$ per share. After the initial offering, the public offering price, concession and any other selling terms of this offering may be changed by the underwriters.

The following table shows the public offering price, underwriting discount and proceeds, before expenses, that we will pay to the underwriters in connection with this offering. The information assumes either no exercise or full exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase additional shares of our common stock.

Underwriters	Per Share	Option Exercise	Option Exercise
Public Offering Price	\$	\$	\$
Underwriting Discount	\$	\$	\$
Proceeds to Us, before expenses	\$	\$	\$

Certain expenses associated with this offering, exclusive of the underwriting discount, are estimated to be approximately \$\\$ and will be payable by us. In addition to the underwriting discounts, we will reimburse the underwriters for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with their engagement as underwriters, including, without limitation, all marketing, syndication and travel expenses and legal fees and expenses up to a maximum aggregate amount of \$75,000.

# **Option to Purchase Additional Shares**

We have granted an option to the underwriters, exercisable for days after the date of this prospectus supplement, to purchase up to 450,000 additional shares of common stock at the public offering price, less underwriting discounts and commissions. If the underwrites exercises this option, each will be obligated, subject to conditions contained in the underwriting agreement, to purchase a number of additional shares of common stock proportionate to that underwriter's initial amount reflected in the above table.

#### No Sales of Similar Securities

We, our executive officers and our directors have agreed not to sell or transfer any common stock, units of our operating partnership or securities convertible into, exchangeable or exercisable for, or redeemable with, common stock or units of our operating partnership, for 90 days after the date of this prospectus supplement without first obtaining the written consent of the representative. Specifically, we and these other persons have agreed, with certain limited exceptions, not to directly or indirectly, and, in each case, not to publicly disclose the intention to:

- offer, pledge, sell or contract to sell any common stock or units of our operating partnership;
- sell any option or contract to purchase any common stock or units of our operating partnership;
- purchase any option or contract to sell any common stock or units of our operating partnership;
- grant any option, right or warrant for the sale of any common stock or units of our operating partnership;
- lend or otherwise dispose of or transfer any common stock or units of our operating partnership;
- file, or request or demand that we file, a registration statement related to any common stock or units of our operating partnership; or
- enter into any swap, hedge or other agreement or any transaction that transfers, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, the economic consequence of ownership of any common stock or units of our operating partnership, whether any such swap, hedge or transaction is to be settled by delivery of shares of common stock, units of our operating partnership or other securities, in cash or otherwise.

This lock-up provision applies to common stock and units of our operating partnership owned now or acquired later by the person executing the agreement or for which the person executing the agreement later acquires the power of disposition. The representative may release any of the securities subject to lock-up agreements at any time without notice.

# **Price Stabilization, Short Position**

Until the distribution of our shares of common stock is completed, SEC rules may limit the underwriters and selling group members from bidding for and purchasing our common stock. However, the representative may engage in transactions that stabilize the price of the common stock, such as bids or purchases to peg, fix or maintain that price.

In connection with this offering, the representative of the underwriters may purchase and sell shares of our common stock in the open market. These transactions may include short sales, purchases on the open market to cover positions created by short sales and stabilizing transactions. Short sales involve the sale by the underwriters of a greater number of shares of common stock than they are required to purchase in this offering. "Covered" short sales are sales made in an amount not greater than the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares of our common stock described above. The underwriters may close out any covered short position by either exercising their option to purchase additional shares of our common stock or purchasing shares of common stock in the open market. In determining the source of shares of common stock to close out the covered short position,

the underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of shares available for purchase in the open market as compared to the price at which they may purchase shares through the option granted to them. "Naked" short sales are sales in excess of such option. The underwriters must close out any naked short position by purchasing shares of common stock in the open market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of our common stock in the open market after pricing that could adversely affect investors who purchase in this offering. Stabilizing transactions consist of certain bids or purchases of shares of common stock made for the purpose of preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of the common stock while the offering is in progress.

Any of these activities may cause the price of our common stock to be higher than the price that otherwise would exist in the absence of such activities. Neither we nor any of the underwriters make any representation or prediction as to the direction or magnitude of any effect that the transactions described above may have on the price of our common stock. In addition, neither we nor any of the underwriters make any representation that the representative will engage in these transactions or that these transactions, once commenced, will not be discontinued without notice.

#### **Electronic Offer, Sale and Distribution of Shares**

In connection with this offering, certain of the underwriters or securities dealers may distribute this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus by electronic means, such as e-mail. In addition, certain of the underwriters may facilitate Internet distribution for this offering to certain of their Internet subscription customers. Each such underwriter may allocate a limited number of shares for sale to its online brokerage customers. An electronic prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus may be available on the Internet web site maintained by each such underwriter. Other than this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus in electronic format, the information on any such underwriter's web site is not part of this prospectus supplement or the accompanying prospectus.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

The underwriters have not historically, but may in the future, provide investment banking and advisory services to us and our affiliates in the ordinary course of business, for which they have received, or may receive, compensation for such services.

# **LEGAL MATTERS**

Certain legal matters in connection with this offering, including the validity of the shares, will be passed upon for us by Baker & McKenzie LLP. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the underwriters by Morrison & Foerster LLP.

# **EXPERTS**

The audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014 incorporated into this prospectus supplement and elsewhere in the registration statement have been so incorporated by reference in reliance upon the report of Grant Thornton LLP, independent registered public accountants, upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The Company's financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 have been audited by PBMares, LLP (formerly Witt Mares, PLC), our independent registered public accounting firms for such periods.

# WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We maintain a website, www.sotherlyhotels.com, which contains additional information concerning us. We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information, as applicable, with the SEC. You may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's public reference room at Room 1580, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room. The SEC also maintains a web site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding registrants that file electronically with the SEC (http://www.sec.gov).

We have filed a registration statement on Form S-3 of which this prospectus is a part and related exhibits under the Securities Act with respect to the securities being offered by this prospectus. The registration statement contains additional information about us. You may inspect the registration statement and exhibits without charge at the office of the SEC at Room 1580, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549, and you may obtain copies from the SEC at prescribed rates.

We make available free of charge through our website all our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, definitive proxy statements and other reports filed with the SEC as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. We have also posted on this website our Code of Business Conduct and the charters of our Audit and Nominating, Corporate Governance and Compensation Committees of our board of directors. The information contained in or accessed through our website is neither part of nor incorporated into this prospectus supplement or the accompanying prospectus.

This prospectus does not contain all of the information included in the registration statement. We have omitted certain parts of the registration statement in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. For further information, we refer you to the registration statement, including its exhibits and schedules, which may be found at the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov. Statements contained in this prospectus supplement or the accompanying prospectus about the provisions or contents of any contract, agreement or any other document referred to are not necessarily complete. Please refer to the actual exhibit for a more complete description of the matters involved. Each of these statements is qualified in all respects by this reference.

#### INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference" information into this document prior to the completion of this offering. This means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to another document

filed separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this prospectus, and information that we file later with the SEC prior to the completion of this offering will automatically update and supersede the previously filed information. We incorporate by reference into this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus the documents listed below as well as any future filings made by us with the SEC pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (File No. 001-32379), including any filings made after the date of this prospectus supplement until we sell all of the securities under this prospectus, except that we do not incorporate any document or portion of a document that is "furnished" to the SEC, but not deemed "filed." The following documents filed with the SEC are incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus:

- our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014;
- our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2015;
- our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 13, 2015, April 30, 2015, May 6, 2015 (only with respect to Items 1.01 and 2.03) and June 22, 2015 (only with respect to Item 1.01, Item 2.03 and Exhibit 10.53 of Item 9.01);
- our definitive Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on April 28, 2015; and
- the description of our common stock included in our Form 8-A filed with the SEC on March 10, 2008.

Any statement in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus is deemed to be modified or superseded to the extent that a statement contained in this prospectus, or in any other document we subsequently file with the SEC prior to the completion of this offering, modifies or supersedes that statement. If any statement is modified or superseded, it does not constitute a part of this prospectus, except as modified or superseded.

You may request a copy of any or all of the information incorporated by reference into this prospectus (other than an exhibit to the filings unless we have specifically incorporated that exhibit by reference into the filing), at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at the following address:

Sotherly Hotels Inc. 410 W. Francis Street Williamsburg, Virginia 23185-4046 Attention: Investor Relations/Scott Kucinski, Telephone: 757-229-5648 **PROSPECTUS** 



\$250,000,000

# SOTHERLY HOTELS INC.

Common Stock
Preferred Stock
Debt Securities
Guarantees of Debt Securities
Depositary Shares
Warrants
Rights
Units

# SOTHERLY HOTELS LP

# **Debt Securities**

Sotherly Hotels Inc. and Sotherly Hotels LP may offer and sell from time to time, in one or more series of classes, up to \$250,000,000 in aggregate principal amount, the following securities: common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, guarantees of debt securities, preferred stock represented by depositary shares, warrants and other rights to purchase common stock, and units representing an interest in two or more other securities. The debt securities issued by Sotherly Hotels Inc. may be non-convertible or convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for securities of Sotherly Hotels Inc.

This prospectus describes the general terms of securities that may be offered. Each time Sotherly Hotels Inc. or Sotherly Hotels LP sells securities, a prospectus supplement will be provided that will contain specific information about the terms of any securities offered and the specific manner in which the securities will be offered. The prospectus supplement will also contain information, where appropriate, about material United States federal income tax consequences relating to, and any listing on a securities exchange of, the securities covered by the prospectus supplement. The prospectus supplement may add to, update or change the information in this prospectus. You should read this prospectus and any prospectus supplement carefully before you invest in our securities. This prospectus may not be used to sell securities unless accompanied by a prospectus supplement.

Sotherly Hotels Inc. is organized and conducts its operations to qualify as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes. To assist it in complying with certain federal income tax requirements applicable to REITs, Sotherly Hotels Inc.'s charter contains certain restrictions relating to the ownership and transfer of its stock, including an ownership limit of 9.9% of our common stock.

Sotherly Hotels Inc.'s common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Global Market, or "NASDAQ," under the symbol "SOHO." On October 9, 2014, the last reported sale price of our common stock on NASDAQ was \$7.58 per share. The 8% Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2018 of Sotherly Hotels LP are traded on NASDAQ under the symbol "SOHOL".

Investing in our securities involves risks. Please carefully read the "Risk Factors" beginning on page 4 of this prospectus, in any accompanying prospectus supplement, and any documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus, for a discussion of certain factors that you should consider before making your investment decision.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

THIS PROSPECTUS CONTAINS REGISTERED TRADEMARKS, INCLUDING HOMEWOOD SUITES® AND HILTON GARDEN INN®, THAT ARE THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF HILTON WORLDWIDE, INC. ("HWI") AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES. NONE OF HWI, ITS PARENTS, SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, MEMBERS, MANAGERS, STOCKHOLDERS, OWNERS, AGENTS OR EMPLOYEES, WHICH WE REFER TO COLLECTIVELY AS THE "HILTON ENTITIES," IS AN ISSUER OR UNDERWRITER OF THE SECURITIES BEING OFFERED HEREBY, PLAYS (OR WILL PLAY) ANY ROLE IN THE OFFER OR SALE OF THE SECURITIES, OR HAS ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CREATION OR CONTENTS OF THIS PROSPECTUS. THIS PROSPECTUS ALSO CONTAINS OTHER REGISTERED TRADEMARKS, INCLUDING HOLIDAY HOSPITALITY FRANCHISING INC. AND SHERATON LLC, TOGETHER THE "OTHER TRADEMARKS," THAT ARE THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE OWNERS, WHICH ARE COMPANIES OTHER THAN US. NONE OF THE OWNERS OF THESE OTHER TRADEMARKS, THEIR PARENTS, SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, MEMBERS, MANAGERS, STOCKHOLDERS, OWNERS, AGENTS OR EMPLOYEES, WHICH WE REFER TO COLLECTIVELY AS THE "OTHER TRADEMARK OWNERS," IS AN ISSUER OR UNDERWRITER OF THE SHARES BEING OFFERED HEREBY, PLAYS (OR WILL PLAY) ANY ROLE IN THE OFFER OR SALE OF THE SECURITIES, OR HAS ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CREATION OR CONTENTS OF THIS PROSPECTUS. IN ADDITION, NONE OF THE HILTON ENTITIES AND NONE OF THE OTHER TRADEMARK OWNERS HAS OR WILL HAVE ANY LIABILITY OR RESPONSIBILITY WHATSOEVER ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THE SALE OR OFFER OF THE SECURITIES BEING OFFERED HEREBY, INCLUDING ANY LIABILITY OR RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, PROJECTIONS OR OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION OR OTHER INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS PROSPECTUS OR OTHERWISE DISSEMINATED IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFER OR SALE OF THE SECURITIES OFFERED BY THIS PROSPECTUS. YOU MUST UNDERSTAND THAT, IF YOU PURCHASE SECURITIES IN THIS OFFERING, YOUR SOLE RECOURSE FOR ANY ALLEGED OR ACTUAL IMPROPRIETY RELATING TO THE OFFER AND SALE OF THE SECURITIES AND THE OPERATION OF OUR BUSINESS WILL BE AGAINST US (AND/OR, AS MAY BE APPLICABLE, THE SELLER OF SUCH SECURITIES) AND IN NO EVENT MAY YOU SEEK TO IMPOSE LIABILITY ARISING FROM OR RELATED TO SUCH ACTIVITY, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, UPON ANY OF THE HILTON ENTITIES OR ANY OF THE OTHER TRADEMARK OWNERS.

The date of this Prospectus is

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS	]
PROSPECTUS SUMMARY	2
RISK FACTORS	2
CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	4
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES	7
USE OF PROCEEDS	8
SECURITIES THAT MAY BE OFFERED	Ģ
DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK AND PREFERRED STOCK	10
DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES AND RELATED GUARANTEES	15
DESCRIPTION OF DEPOSITARY SHARES	24
DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS	27
DESCRIPTION OF RIGHTS	28
DESCRIPTION OF UNITS	29
GLOBAL SECURITIES	30
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF MARYLAND LAW AND OF SOTHERLY'S CHARTER AND	
BYLAWS	33
PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT	38
MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS	42
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	63
LEGAL MATTERS	65
EXPERTS	65
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	65
INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE	66

You should rely only on the information contained in or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, any accompanying prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be provided to you. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. This prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement do not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities other than the securities described in any applicable prospectus supplement or an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy such securities in any circumstances in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful. You should assume that the information in this prospectus, any applicable prospectus supplement or any related free writing prospectus is accurate only as of the date on the front of the document and that any information we have incorporated by reference is accurate only as of the date of the document incorporated by reference, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus, any applicable prospectus supplement or any related free writing prospectus, or any sale of a security. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed materially since those dates.

#### ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, using a "shelf" registration process, with Sotherly Hotels Inc. and Sotherly Hotels LP, which is a majority-owned subsidiary of Sotherly Hotels Inc. Under the shelf registration process, Sotherly Hotels Inc. may sell, at any time and from time to time, in one or more offerings, an unspecified amount of shares of common stock, preferred stock, debt securities (including any related guarantees), depositary shares, warrants, rights, and units and Sotherly Hotels LP may sell, at any time and from time to time, in one or more offerings, an unspecified amount of debt securities. The securities to be sold pursuant to this registration statement may have a total aggregate value of up to \$250,000,000.

We have provided to you in this prospectus a general description of the securities that we may offer. Each time we sell securities under this shelf registration process, we will provide a prospectus supplement that will contain specific information about the terms of the offering. We may also authorize one or more free writing prospectuses to be provided to you that may contain material information relating to these offerings. We may also add, update or change in the applicable prospectus supplement (and in any related free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be provided to you) any of the information contained in this prospectus or in the documents that we have incorporated by reference into this prospectus. To the extent there is a conflict between the information contained in this prospectus and any prospectus supplement, you should rely on the information in the applicable prospectus supplement, provided that if any statement in one of these documents is inconsistent with a statement in another document having a later date—for example, a document incorporated by reference in this prospectus or any prospectus supplement—the statement in the document having the later date modifies or supersedes the earlier statement.

This prospectus contains summaries of certain provisions contained in some of the documents described herein, but reference is made to the actual documents for complete information. All of the summaries are qualified in their entirety by the actual documents. Copies of some of the documents referred to herein have been filed, will be filed or will be incorporated by reference as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, and you may obtain copies of those documents as described below under the heading "Where You Can Find More Information." As permitted by the rules and regulations of the SEC, the registration statement that contains this prospectus includes additional information not contained in this prospectus. You may read the registration statement and the other reports we file with the SEC at the SEC's web site or at the SEC's offices described below under the heading "Where You Can Find More Information."

We urge you to carefully read this prospectus, any applicable prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus, together with the information incorporated herein and therein by reference as described under the heading "Where You Can Find More Information," before buying any of the securities being offered.

#### PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

To fully understand this offering and its consequences to you, you should read the following summary along with the more detailed information and our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those financial statements incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

Unless the context otherwise requires or where otherwise indicated, in this prospectus, all references in this prospectus to the "Company" or "Sotherly" means only Sotherly Hotels Inc., a Maryland corporation and the sole general partner of Sotherly Hotels LP. All references to the "Operating Partnership" means only Sotherly Hotels LP, a Delaware limited partnership. All references in this prospectus to "we," "us" and "our" refer to Sotherly and its subsidiaries and predecessors, including the Operating Partnership, unless the context otherwise requires or where otherwise indicated. When we refer to Sotherly's "charter," we mean Sotherly's articles of incorporation, as amended and supplemented from time to time.

### Sotherly Hotels Inc. and the Operating Partnership

The Company is a self-managed and self-administered lodging real estate investment trust focused on the acquisition, renovation, upbranding and repositioning of upscale to upper-upscale full-service hotels in the southern United States. Sotherly was formed in August 2004 and on December 21, 2004, it successfully completed its initial public offering and elected to be treated as a self-advised REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The Company conducts its business through the Operating Partnership, of which Sotherly is the sole general partner. As of September 30, 2014, Sotherly owned approximately 79.0% of the partnership units in the Operating Partnership. Limited partners (including certain of our officers and directors) own the remaining units of the Operating Partnership.

To qualify as a REIT, Sotherly cannot directly manage or operate its wholly-owned hotels. Therefore, the Operating Partnership leases the Company's wholly-owned hotel properties to MHI Hospitality TRS, LLC, our TRS Lessee, or its wholly-owned subsidiaries, which in turn have engaged MHI Hotels Services, LLC, or MHI Hotels Services, a management company and eligible independent contractor owned and controlled by certain individuals, including Andrew M. Sims, our chairman and chief executive officer, Kim E. Sims, a current director and Christopher L. Sims, a former director. Our TRS Lessee is a wholly-owned subsidiary of MHI Hospitality TRS Holding, Inc., or MHI Holding, a taxable REIT subsidiary that is wholly-owned by the Operating Partnership. Our TRS Lessee and its subsidiaries are disregarded as entities separate from MHI Holding for U.S. federal income tax purposes. MHI Hotels Services and its affiliates have been in continuous operation since 1957. By using MHI Hotels Services as the management company, we intend to continue to capitalize on its extensive experience to seek above-average operating results. MHI Hotels Services and its predecessors have operated for many years in markets where we have a presence, and its operations are driven primarily by a focused sales, marketing and food and beverage strategy that is critical to the success of a full-service hotel. Sotherly is in the process of renegotiating its management agreements with MHI Hotels Services.

As of September 30, 2014, the Company's hotel portfolio consisted of twelve full-service, upscale and upper-upscale hotels with 3,009 rooms and approximately 148,200 square feet of meeting space. Eleven of these hotels are 100% owned by subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership and ten operate under the Hilton<sup>TM</sup>, Crowne Plaza<sup>TM</sup>, DoubleTree<sup>TM</sup>, Sheraton<sup>TM</sup> and Holiday Inn<sup>TM</sup> brands, while one hotel operates independently of any brand affiliation. Our hotels are managed on a day-to-day basis by MHI Hotels Services. We also own a 25.0% indirect non-controlling interest in the 311-room Crowne Plaza<sup>TM</sup> Hollywood Beach Resort through a joint venture with The Carlyle Group, or Carlyle. Our portfolio is concentrated in markets that we believe possess multiple demand generators and have significant barriers to entry for new product delivery, which are important factors for us in identifying hotel properties that we expect will be capable of providing strong risk-adjusted returns.

As of September 30, 2014, our portfolio consisted of the following 12 hotel properties:

Wholly-Owned Properties	Number of Rooms	Location	Date of Acquisition	Years Built / Renovated (1)	Chain Scale
Georgian Terrace				1911/1991/2009	
	326	Atlanta, GA	March 27, 2014	/2011/2015*	Independent (2)
Hilton™ Philadelphia					
Airport	331	Philadelphia, PA	December 21, 2004	1972/2005/2014	Upper Upscale
Hilton <sup>TM</sup> Wilmington					
Riverside	272	Wilmington, NC	December 21, 2004	1970/2007	Upper Upscale
Hilton <sup>TM</sup> Savannah DeSoto	246	Savannah, GA	December 21, 2004	1968/2008	Upper Upscale
Sheraton <sup>TM</sup> Louisville					
Riverside	180	Jeffersonville, IN	September 20, 2006	1972/2008	Upper Upscale
Crowne Plaza <sup>TM</sup> Houston					
Downtown	259	Houston, TX	November 13, 2013	1963/2001/2011	Upscale
Crowne Plaza <sup>TM</sup>					
Jacksonville Riverfront	292	Jacksonville, FL	July 22, 2005	1970/2006/2015	* Upscale
Crowne Plaza <sup>TM</sup> Tampa					
Westshore	222	Tampa, FL	October 29, 2007	1973/2009	Upscale
Crowne Plaza <sup>TM</sup> Hampton					
Marina	173	Hampton, VA	April 24, 2008	1988/2008	Upscale
Holiday Inn <sup>TM</sup> Laurel West	207	Laurel, MD	December 21, 2004	1985/2005	Upper MidScale
DoubleTree <sup>TM</sup> by Hilton <sup>TM</sup>					
Brownstone-University	190	Raleigh, NC	December 21, 2004	1971/2002/2011	Upscale
Total Rooms in Our Wholly-					
Owned Portfolio	2,698				
o wheat official	2,000				
Joint Venture Property					
Crowne Plaza <sup>TM</sup> Hollywood					
Beach Resort (3)	311	Hollywood, FL	August 9, 2007	1972/2007	Upscale
Total Rooms in Our		<b>J</b> , - —	,,		<b>r</b>
Portfolio	2 000				
FOLUOIIO	3,009				

- (1) Year Renovated represents the year in which the replacement of a significant portion of the hotel's furniture, fixtures or equipment was completed.
- (2) We believe that the Georgian Terrace would carry a chain scale designation of upper upscale if it were a branded hotel.
- (3) We own this hotel through a joint venture in which we have a 25% interest.
- \* Anticipated completion date.

### **Corporate Information**

Sotherly was incorporated in Maryland in August 2004 and changed its name from MHI Hospitality Corporation to Sotherly Hotels Inc., effective April 16, 2013. The Operating Partnership was formed in Delaware as a limited partnership in August 2004 and changed its name from MHI Hospitality, L.P. to Sotherly Hotels LP effective August 2, 2013. Our principal executive offices are located at 410 W. Francis Street, Williamsburg, VA 23185. Our telephone number is (757) 229-5648. Our website is http://www.sotherlyhotels.com. The information contained on, or that may be accessed through, our website is not part of, and is not incorporated into, this prospectus.

# **RISK FACTORS**

Investment in our securities offered pursuant to this prospectus involves risks. You should carefully consider the risk factors incorporated by reference to our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and our subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and the other information contained in this prospectus, as updated by our subsequent filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, and the risk factors and other information contained in the applicable prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus before acquiring any of our securities. The occurrence of any of these risks might cause you to lose all or part of your investment in the offered securities. Please also refer to the section below entitled "Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements."

#### CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this prospectus constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements, which are based on certain assumptions and describe our current strategies, expectations and future plans, are generally identified by our use of words, such as "intend," "plan," "may," "should," "will," "project," "estimate," "anticipate," "believe," "expect," "continue," "potential," "opportunity," and similar expressions, whether in the negative or affirmative, but the absence of these words does not necessarily mean that a statement is not forward-looking. The factors listed under "Risk Factors" in this prospectus and in any documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus as well as any cautionary language in this prospectus, provide examples of risks, uncertainties and events that may cause our actual results to differ materially from the expectations we describe in our forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, among other things, risks and uncertainties related to:

- national and local economic and business conditions that affect occupancy rates and revenues at our hotels and the demand for hotel products and services;
- risks associated with the hotel industry, including competition, increases in wages, energy costs and other operating costs;
- the magnitude and sustainability of the economic recovery in the hospitality industry and in the markets in which we operate;
- the availability and terms of financing and capital and the general volatility of the securities markets;
- risks associated with the level of our indebtedness and our ability to meet covenants in our debt
  agreements and, if necessary, to refinance or seek an extension of the maturity of such indebtedness or
  modify such debt agreements;
- management and performance of our hotels;
- risks associated with the conflicts of interest of the Company's officers and directors;
- risks associated with redevelopment and repositioning projects, including delays and cost overruns;
- supply and demand for hotel rooms in our current and proposed market areas;
- risks associated with our ability to maintain our franchise agreements with our third party franchisors;
- our ability to acquire additional properties and the risk that potential acquisitions may not perform in accordance with expectations;
- our ability to successfully expand into new markets;
- legislative/regulatory changes, including changes to laws governing taxation of REITs;
- the Company's ability to maintain its qualification as a REIT; and
- our ability to maintain adequate insurance coverage.

These risks and uncertainties should be considered in evaluating any forward-looking statement contained in this prospectus or incorporated by reference herein. All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this prospectus or, in the case of any document incorporated by reference, the date of that document. All

subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf are qualified by the cautionary statements in this section. We undertake no obligation to update or publicly release any revisions to forward-looking statements to reflect events, circumstances or changes in expectations after the date of this prospectus, except as required by law. In addition, our past results are not necessarily indicative of our future results.

#### RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The following table sets forth Sotherly's ratios of earnings to fixed charges and earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends for the periods shown for Sotherly:

	Sotherly Hotels Inc.						
	Six Months Ended June 30, 2014	Year Ended December 31, 2013	Year Ended December 31, 2012	Year Ended December 31, 2011	Year Ended December 31, 2010	Year Ended December 31, 2009	
Ratio of earnings (loss) to							
fixed charges	1.58	0.80	0.71	0.54	0.73	0.55	
Deficiency of earnings to							
fixed charges	N/A	\$2,289,904	\$3,620,855	\$4,994,395	\$2,738,663	\$4,448,544	

The following table sets forth the Operating Partnership's ratios of earnings to fixed charges and earnings to combined fixed charges for the periods shown for the Operating Partnership:

		Sotherly Hotels LP					
	Six Months Ended June 30, 2014	Year Ended December 31, 2013	Year Ended December 31, 2012	Year Ended December 31, 2011	Year Ended December 31, 2010	Year Ended December 31, 2009	
Ratio of earnings (loss) to							
fixed charges	1.58	0.80	0.71	0.54	0.73	0.55	
Deficiency of earnings to							
fixed charges		\$2,289,904	\$3,620,855	\$4,994,395	\$2,738,663	\$4,448,544	

The ratios of earnings to fixed charges are computed by dividing earnings by fixed charges. The ratios of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends or preferred unit distributions, as applicable, are computed by dividing earnings by the sum of fixed charges and preferred stock dividends or preferred unit distributions, as applicable. For this purpose, "earnings" consist of net income (loss) before noncontrolling interests and fixed charges, less capitalized interest, "fixed charges" consist of interest expense, capitalized interest and amortization of deferred financing fees, whether expensed or capitalized, and "preferred stock dividends" or "preferred unit distributions," as applicable, consist of the amount of pre-tax earnings required to pay dividends or distributions, as applicable, on Sotherly's previously outstanding Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, or the Series A Preferred Stock. For periods prior to April 18, 2011, the date of the initial issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock, and after September 30, 2013, the date that the remaining shares of Series A Preferred Stock were redeemed, there were no outstanding shares of preferred stock, and therefore, there were no preferred stock dividends included in the calculations of ratios of earnings to fixed charges and preferred stock dividends, as applicable, for these periods.

#### **USE OF PROCEEDS**

We cannot guarantee that we will receive any proceeds in connection with this offering because we may be unable or choose not to issue and sell any securities covered by this prospectus.

Unless we specify otherwise in an accompanying prospectus supplement, we intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of securities by us for the repayment of any amounts outstanding under the \$19 million secured loan with Richmond Hill Capital Partners, LP and Essex Equity Joint Investment Vehicle, LLC, referred to as the Bridge Loan, and for general corporate purposes. General corporate purposes may include acquisitions of additional properties, the repayment of outstanding indebtedness, capital expenditures, the expansion, redevelopment and/or improvement of properties in our portfolio, working capital and other general purposes. Any allocation of the net proceeds of any offering of securities to a specific purpose will be determined at the time of such offering and will be described in an accompanying prospectus supplement.

We entered into the Bridge Loan in March 2014 in connection with our acquisition of the Georgian Terrace. The Bridge Loan has a maturity date of March 26, 2015; carries a 12% yield-to-maturity including a fixed interest rate of 10% per annum and 2% up front; is subject to a prepayment premium if the loan is prepaid in full or in part prior to March 26, 2015. As of the date of this prospectus, the outstanding principal balance of the Bridge Loan is \$19,000,000.

Pending the permanent use of the net proceeds, we may invest the net proceeds in interest-bearing, short-term investment grade securities, money-market accounts or other investments that are consistent with our intention to elect and qualify to be taxed as a REIT.

Based upon our historical and anticipated future growth and our financial needs, we may engage in additional financings of a character and amount that we determine as the need arises. We may raise additional capital through additional public or private financings, the incurrence of debt and other available sources.

# SECURITIES THAT MAY BE OFFERED

The descriptions of the securities contained in this prospectus, collectively, the securities, together with the applicable prospectus supplements, summarize all the material terms and provisions of the various types of securities that we may offer. We will describe in the applicable prospectus supplement the particular terms of the securities offered by that prospectus supplement. If we so indicate in the applicable prospectus supplement, the terms of the securities may differ from the terms we have summarized below. We will also include in the prospectus supplement information, where applicable, about material U.S. federal income tax considerations relating to the securities and the securities exchange, if any, on which the securities will be listed.

#### DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK AND PREFERRED STOCK

The following summary of the terms of Sotherly's common stock does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to Sotherly's charter and bylaws and the Maryland General Corporation Law, or MGCL. Sotherly has filed its charter and bylaws as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. See "Where You Can Find More Information."

#### General

Sotherly's authorized capital stock consists of 49,000,000 shares of common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, of which 10,370,932 shares of common stock were issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2014. As permitted by the MGCL, Sotherly's charter contains a provision permitting its board of directors, without any action by its stockholders, to amend the charter to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock or the number of shares of stock of any class or series that Sotherly have authority to issue.

### **Voting Rights**

Subject to the provisions of Sotherly's charter regarding the restrictions on the transfer and ownership of shares of common stock, each outstanding share of common stock entitles the holder to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders, including the election of directors, and, except as may be provided with respect to any other subsequently issued class or series of common or preferred stock, the holders of such common stock possess the exclusive voting power. There is no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which means that the holders of a majority of the outstanding common stock, voting as a single class, can elect all of the directors and the holders of the remaining stock are not able to elect any directors.

# Distributions, Liquidation and Other Rights

All common stock offered by this prospectus will be duly authorized, fully paid and nonassessable. Holders of Sotherly's common stock are entitled to receive distributions when authorized by Sotherly's board of directors and declared by Sotherly out of assets legally available for the payment of distributions. They also are entitled to share ratably in the assets legally available for distribution to Sotherly's stockholders in the event of Sotherly's liquidation, dissolution or winding up, after payment of or adequate provision for all of Sotherly's known now or hereafter incurred debts and liabilities. These rights are subject to the preferential rights of any other class or series of Sotherly's stock and to the provisions of Sotherly's charter regarding restrictions on transfer of its stock. Holders of Sotherly's common stock have no preference, conversion, exchange, sinking fund, redemption or appraisal rights and have no preemptive rights to subscribe for any of our securities. Subject to the restrictions on transfer of stock contained in Sotherly's charter, all common stock will have equal distribution, liquidation and other rights.

# Power to Reclassify Stock

Sotherly's charter authorizes its board of directors to classify any unissued common stock or preferred stock, and to reclassify any previously classified but unissued common stock and preferred stock of any series from time to time in one or more classes or series, as authorized by the board of directors. Prior to issuance of stock of each class or series, the board of directors is required by the MGCL and Sotherly's charter to set forth each such class or series, subject to the provisions of the charter regarding the restriction on transfer of common stock, the terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption for each such class or series.

As of the date hereof, no shares of preferred stock are outstanding.

#### **Power to Issue Additional Common Stock**

We believe that the power to issue additional common stock and to classify or reclassify unissued common stock and thereafter to issue the classified or reclassified stock provides us with increased flexibility in structuring possible future financings and acquisitions and in meeting other needs which might arise. These actions can be taken without stockholder approval, unless stockholder approval is required by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange or automated quotation system on which Sotherly's securities may be listed or traded. Although we have no current intention of doing so, we could issue a class or series of stock that could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for holders of common stock or otherwise be in their best interest.

## **Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer**

For Sotherly to qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, Sotherly's shares of stock must be beneficially owned by 100 or more persons during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12 months (other than the first year for which Sotherly's REIT election became effective) or during a proportionate part of a shorter taxable year. Also, not more than 50.0% of the value of the outstanding shares of stock may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Code to include certain entities) during the last half of a taxable year (other than the first year for which Sotherly's REIT election became effective). In addition, we cannot receive significant amounts of rents from tenants that are related to us, directly or constructively, through ownership.

Because Sotherly's board of directors believes it is beneficial at present for it to qualify as a REIT, Sotherly's charter, subject to certain exceptions, contains restrictions on the number of Sotherly's shares of stock that a person may own. Sotherly's charter provides that no person may own, or be deemed to own by virtue of the attribution provisions of the Code, more than 9.9% (the "Aggregate Stock Ownership Limit") in value of its outstanding shares of stock. In addition, the charter prohibits any person from acquiring or holding, directly or indirectly, shares of common stock in excess of 9.9% of the number of Sotherly's outstanding shares of common stock (the "Common Stock Ownership Limit").

Sotherly's charter prohibits (a) any person from beneficially or constructively owning its shares of stock that would result in us being "closely held" under Section 856(h) of the Code, (b) any person from transferring Sotherly's shares of stock if such transfer would result in Sotherly's shares of stock being owned by fewer than 100 persons, (c) any transfer that would cause us to own, directly or indirectly, 10.0% or more of the ownership interests in a tenant of the Company (or a tenant of the Operating Partnership or any entity owned or controlled directly or indirectly by the Operating Partnership) other than a taxable REIT subsidiary if the requirements of Section 856(d)(8)(B) of the Code are satisfied and (d) any transfer that would cause any of our hotel management companies to fail to qualify as an "eligible independent contractor" within the meaning of Section 856(d)(9) of the Code. Any person who acquires or attempts or intends to acquire beneficial or constructive ownership of Sotherly's shares of stock that will or may violate any of the foregoing restrictions on transferability and ownership, or any person who would have owned Sotherly's shares of stock that resulted in a transfer of shares to the Charitable Trust (as defined below), is required to give written notice immediately to us, or in the case of a proposed or attempted transaction, to give at least 15 days' prior written notice, and provide us with such other information as we may request in order to determine the effect of such transfer on our status as a REIT. The foregoing restrictions on transferability and ownership will not apply if Sotherly's board of directors determines that it is no longer in its best interests to attempt to qualify, or to continue to qualify, as a REIT.

Furthermore, Sotherly's board of directors, in its sole discretion, may exempt a proposed transferee from the Aggregate Stock Ownership Limit, the Common Stock Ownership Limit and/or any of the restrictions described in the first sentence of the paragraph directly above (an "Excepted Holder"). However, the board of directors may not grant such an exemption to any person if such exemption would result in our failing to qualify as a REIT. Sotherly's board of directors may require a ruling from the IRS or an opinion of counsel, in either case in form

and substance satisfactory to the board of directors, in its sole discretion, in order to determine or ensure Sotherly's status as a REIT.

If any transfer of Sotherly's shares of stock occurs which, if effective, would result in any person beneficially or constructively owning shares of stock in excess or in violation of the above transfer or ownership limitations (a "Prohibited Owner"), then that number of shares of stock the beneficial or constructive ownership of which otherwise would cause such person to violate such limitations (rounded to the nearest whole share) shall be automatically transferred to a trust (the "Charitable Trust") for the exclusive benefit of one or more charitable beneficiaries (the "Charitable Beneficiary"), and the Prohibited Owner shall not acquire any rights in such shares. Such automatic transfer shall be deemed to be effective as of the close of business on the Business Day (as defined in the charter) prior to the date of such violative transfer. If any automatic transfer to the Charitable Trust is not effective, then the initial transfer of stock will be void ab initio to the extent necessary to prevent a violation of the above transfer or ownership limitations. Shares of stock held in the Charitable Trust shall be issued and outstanding shares of stock. The Prohibited Owner shall not benefit economically from ownership of any shares of stock held in the Charitable Trust, shall have no rights to dividends or other distributions and shall not possess any rights to vote or other rights attributable to the shares of stock held in the Charitable Trust. The trustee of the Charitable Trust (the "Trustee") shall have all voting rights and rights to dividends or other distributions with respect to shares of stock held in the Charitable Trust, which rights shall be exercised for the exclusive benefit of the Charitable Beneficiary. Any dividend or other distribution paid prior to our discovery that shares of stock have been transferred to the Trustee shall be paid by the recipient of such dividend or distribution to the Trustee upon demand, and any dividend or other distribution authorized but unpaid shall be paid when due to the Trustee. Any dividend or distribution so paid to the Trustee shall be held in trust for the Charitable Beneficiary. The Prohibited Owner shall have no voting rights with respect to shares of stock held in the Charitable Trust and, subject to Maryland law, effective as of the date that such shares of stock have been transferred to the Trustee, the Trustee shall have the authority (at the Trustee's sole discretion) (i) to rescind as void any vote cast by a Prohibited Owner prior to our discovery that such shares have been transferred to the Trustee and (ii) to recast such vote in accordance with the desires of the Trustee acting for the benefit of the Charitable Beneficiary. However, if we have already taken irreversible corporate action, then the Trustee shall not have the authority to rescind and recast such vote.

Within 20 days of receiving notice from us that shares of stock have been transferred to the Charitable Trust, the Trustee shall sell the shares of stock held in the Charitable Trust to a person, designated by the Trustee, whose ownership of the shares will not violate the ownership limitations set forth in the charter. Upon such sale, the interest of the Charitable Beneficiary in the shares sold shall terminate and the Trustee shall distribute the net proceeds of the sale to the Prohibited Owner and to the Charitable Beneficiary as follows: The Prohibited Owner shall receive the lesser of (i) the price paid by the Prohibited Owner for the shares or, if the Prohibited Owner did not give value for the shares in connection with the event causing the shares to be held in the Charitable Trust (e.g., in the case of a gift, devise or other such transaction), the Market Price (as defined in the charter) of such shares on the day of the event causing the shares to be held in the Charitable Trust and (ii) the price per share received by the Trustee from the sale or other disposition of the shares held in the Charitable Trust. Any net sale proceeds in excess of the amount payable to the Prohibited Owner shall be paid immediately to the Charitable Beneficiary. If, prior to our discovery that shares of stock have been transferred to the Charitable Trust, such shares are sold by a Prohibited Owner, then (i) such shares shall be deemed to have been sold on behalf of the Charitable Trust and (ii) to the extent that the Prohibited Owner received an amount for such shares that exceeds the amount that such Prohibited Owner was entitled to receive pursuant to the aforementioned requirement, such excess shall be paid to the Trustee upon demand.

In addition, shares of stock held in the Charitable Trust shall be deemed to have been offered for sale to us, or our designee, at a price per share equal to the lesser of (i) the price per share in the transaction that resulted in such transfer to the Charitable Trust (or, in the case of a devise or gift, the Market Price at the time of such devise or gift) and (ii) the Market Price on the date we, or our designee, accepts such offer. We shall have the right to accept such offer until the Trustee has sold the shares of stock held in the Charitable Trust. Upon such a sale to

us, the interest of the Charitable Beneficiary in the shares sold shall terminate and the Trustee shall distribute the net proceeds of the sale to the Prohibited Owner and any dividends or other distributions held by the Trustee shall be paid to the Charitable Beneficiary.

All certificates representing Sotherly's shares of stock will bear a legend referring to the restrictions described above.

Every owner of 5.0% or more (or such lower percentages as required by the Code or the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder) of all classes or series of Sotherly's shares of stock, including common stock, within 30 days after the end of each taxable year, is required to give written notice to the Company stating the name and address of such owner, the number of shares of each class and series of shares of stock which the owner beneficially owns and a description of the manner in which such shares are held. Each such owner shall provide to the Company such additional information as the Company may request in order to determine the effect, if any, of such beneficial ownership on Sotherly's status as a REIT and to ensure compliance with the Aggregate Stock Ownership Limit and the Common Stock Ownership Limit. In addition, each stockholder shall upon demand be required to provide to the Company such information as it may request, in good faith, in order to determine Sotherly's status as a REIT and to comply with the requirements of any taxing authority or governmental authority or to determine such compliance and to ensure compliance with the Aggregate Stock Ownership Limit and the Common Stock Ownership Limit.

These ownership limitations could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for the common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of Sotherly's stockholders.

Sotherly has certain limitations regarding transfers of interest in the Company and its affiliates pursuant to the Company's franchise agreements with its third party franchisors. Some of these franchise agreements require the Company to obtain consent to certain transfers of equity in Sotherly, or of transfers of Sotherly's assets, including its hotels and franchise agreements.

#### Preferred Stock

Shares of Sotherly's preferred stock may be issued from time to time, in one or more series, as authorized by Sotherly's board of directors. Prior to the issuance of any preferred stock, Sotherly's board of directors is required by Maryland law to designate the class or series of preferred stock to distinguish it from all other classes and series of shares, specify the number of shares to be included in the class or series, and set the terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption for each such class or series and cause Sotherly to file articles supplementary with the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland.

The Company's charter provides that the Company may issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share, or preferred stock. The Company's charter authorizes the Company's board of directors to amend the Company's charter to increase or decrease the number of authorized shares of any class or series without stockholder approval.

The Company previously issued shares of the Series A Preferred Stock pursuant to a private transaction. All shares of the Series A Preferred Stock have been redeemed and the Company does not intend to issue shares of the Series A Preferred Stock in the future.

If we offer shares of Sotherly's preferred stock, the accompanying prospectus supplement will describe each of the following terms that may be applicable in respect of any preferred stock offered and issued pursuant to this prospectus:

- the specific designation, number of shares, seniority and purchase price;
- any liquidation preference per share;

- any additional restrictions on ownership and transfer;
- any maturity date;
- any mandatory or optional redemption or repayment dates and terms or sinking fund provisions;
- any dividend rate or rates and the dates on which any dividends will be payable (or the method by which such rates or dates will be determined);
- any voting rights;
- any rights to convert the shares of preferred stock into other securities or rights, including a description
  of the securities or rights into which such preferred stock are convertible or exchangeable (which may
  include shares of other preferred stock) and the terms and conditions upon which such conversions will
  be effected, including, without limitation, conversion rates or formulas, conversion periods and other
  related provisions;
- whether interests in the preferred stock will be represented by depositary shares as more fully described below under "Description of Depositary Shares;"
- the place or places where dividends and other payments with respect to the preferred stock will be payable; and
- any additional voting, dividend, liquidation, redemption and other rights, preferences, privileges, limitations and restrictions, including restrictions imposed for the purpose of maintaining our qualification as a REIT under the Code.

As described under "Description of Depositary Shares," we may, at our option, elect to offer depositary shares evidenced by depositary receipts. If we elect to do this, each depositary receipt will represent a fractional interest in a share of the particular series of preferred stock issued and deposited with a depositary. The applicable prospectus supplement will specify that fractional interest.

#### DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES AND RELATED GUARANTEES

The following description, together with the additional information we include in any applicable prospectus supplement, summarizes certain general terms and provisions of our debt securities and related guarantees, if any. When Sotherly or the Operating Partnership offers to sell a particular series of debt securities, we will describe the specific terms of the series in a supplement to this prospectus, including the terms of any related guarantees. We will also indicate in the prospectus supplement the extent to which the general terms and provisions described in this prospectus apply to a particular series of debt securities. To the extent the information contained in the prospectus supplement differs from this summary description, you should rely on the information in the prospectus supplement.

We may issue debt securities either separately, or together with, or upon the conversion or exercise of or in exchange for, other securities described in this prospectus. Debt securities may be our senior, senior subordinated or subordinated obligations and, unless otherwise specified in a supplement to this prospectus, the debt securities will be the direct, unsecured obligations of either Sotherly Hotels or the Operating Partnership and may be issued in one or more series.

The debt securities will be issued under an indenture between us and a trustee. We have summarized select portions of the indenture below. The summary is not complete. The form of the indenture has been filed as an exhibit to the registration statement and you should read the indenture and debt securities carefully for provisions that may be important to you. Capitalized terms used in the summary and not defined in this prospectus have the meanings specified in the indenture.

#### General

The terms of each series of debt securities will be established by or pursuant to a resolution of Sotherly's board of directors and set forth or determined in the manner provided in such resolutions, in an officer's certificate or by a supplemental indenture. The particular terms of each series of debt securities will be described in a prospectus supplement relating to such series, including any pricing supplement or term sheet.

Unless otherwise specified in a supplement to this prospectus, the debt securities will be our direct, unsecured obligations, and, if the debt securities are issued by the Operating Partnership, they may be fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company. We can issue an unlimited amount of debt securities under the indenture that may be in one or more series with the same or various maturities, at par, at a premium, or at a discount. We will set forth in a prospectus supplement, including any pricing supplement or term sheet, relating to any series of debt securities being offered, the aggregate principal amount and the following terms of the debt securities, to the extent applicable:

- the title and ranking of the debt securities (including the terms of any subordination provisions),
- the price or prices (expressed as a percentage of the principal amount) at which we will sell the debt securities,
- any limit on the aggregate principal amount of the debt securities,
- the date or dates on which the principal on the debt securities is payable,
- the rate or rates (which may be fixed or variable) per annum or the method used to determine the rate
  or rates (including any commodity, commodity index, stock exchange index or financial index) at
  which the debt securities will bear interest, the date or dates from which interest will accrue, the date or
  dates on which interest will commence and be payable and any regular record date for the interest
  payable on any interest payment date,
- the place or places where principal of, and any premium and interest on, the debt securities will be payable, the method of such payment, where debt securities may be surrendered for registration of

- transfer or exchange and where notices and demands to us relating to the debt securities may be delivered.
- the period or periods within which, the price or prices at which and the terms and conditions upon which we may redeem the debt securities,
- any obligation we have to redeem or purchase the debt securities pursuant to any sinking fund or
  analogous provisions or at the option of a holder of debt securities and the period or periods within
  which, the price or prices at which and the terms and conditions upon which the debt securities shall be
  redeemed or purchased, in whole or in part, pursuant to such obligation,
- the dates on which and the price or prices at which we will repurchase debt securities at the option of the holders of debt securities and other detailed terms and provisions of these repurchase obligations,
- the denominations in which the debt securities will be issued, if other than denominations of \$1,000 and any integral multiple thereof,
- whether the debt securities will be issued in bearer or registered form and, if the latter, whether they will be issued in the form of certificated debt securities or global debt securities,
- the portion of principal amount of the debt securities payable upon declaration of acceleration of the maturity date, if other than the principal amount,
- the currency of denomination of the debt securities, which may be U.S. dollars or any foreign currency, and if such currency of denomination is a composite currency, the agency or organization, if any, responsible for overseeing such composite currency,
- the designation of the currency, currencies or currency units in which payment of principal of, and any premium and interest on, the debt securities will be made,
- if payments of principal of, or any premium or interest on, the debt securities will be made in one or more currencies or currency units other than that or those in which the debt securities are denominated, the manner in which the exchange rate with respect to these payments will be determined,
- the manner in which the amounts of payment of principal of, and any premium and interest on, the debt securities will be determined, if these amounts may be determined by reference to an index based on a currency or currencies other than that in which the debt securities are denominated or designated to be payable or by reference to a commodity, commodity index, stock exchange index or financial index,
- any provisions relating to any security provided for the debt securities or for any guarantees,
- any addition to, deletion of or change in the Events of Default described in this prospectus or in the indenture with respect to the debt securities and any change in the acceleration provisions described in this prospectus or in the indenture with respect to the debt securities,
- any addition to, deletion of or change in the covenants described in this prospectus or in the indenture with respect to the debt securities,
- any other terms of the debt securities, which may supplement, modify or delete any provision of the
  indenture as it applies to that series, including any terms that may be required under applicable law or
  regulations or advisable in connection with the marketing of the securities,
- a discussion of any material United States federal income tax considerations applicable to an investment in the debt securities,
- any depositaries, interest rate calculation agents, exchange rate calculation agents or other agents with respect to the debt securities,
- any provisions relating to conversion or exchange of any debt securities, including if applicable, the conversion or exchange price and period, provisions as to whether conversion or exchange will be

mandatory, at the option of the holders thereof or at our option, the events requiring an adjustment of the conversion or exchange price and provisions affecting conversion or exchange if such debt securities are redeemed,

- whether the debt securities will be senior debt securities or subordinated debt securities and, if applicable, a description of the subordination terms thereof,
- whether the debt securities are entitled to the benefits of the guarantee of any guarantor, and whether any such guarantee is made on a senior or subordinated basis and, if applicable, a description of the subordination terms of any such guarantee,
- whether any underwriter(s) will act as market maker(s) for the debt securities, and
- the extent to which a secondary market for the debt securities is expected to develop.

We may issue debt securities that provide for an amount less than their stated principal amount to be due and payable upon declaration of acceleration of their maturity pursuant to the terms of the indenture. We will provide you with information on other special considerations applicable to any of these debt securities in the applicable prospectus supplement.

If we denominate the purchase price of any of the debt securities in a foreign currency or currencies or a foreign currency unit or units, or if the principal of, and any premium and interest on, any series of debt securities is payable in a foreign currency or currencies or a foreign currency unit or units, we will provide you with information on the restrictions, elections, general United States federal income tax considerations, specific terms and other information with respect to that issue of debt securities and such foreign currency or currencies or foreign currency unit or units in the applicable prospectus supplement.

### **Transfer and Exchange**

Each debt security will be represented by either one or more global securities registered in the name of The Depository Trust Company, or the Depositary or DTC, or a nominee of the Depositary (we will refer to any debt security represented by a global debt security as a "book-entry debt security"), or a certificate issued in definitive registered form (we will refer to any debt security represented by a certificated security as a "certificated debt security") as set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement. Except as otherwise set forth in this prospectus or the applicable prospectus supplement, book-entry debt securities will not be issuable in certificated form.

Certificated Debt Securities. You may transfer or exchange certificated debt securities at any office we maintain for this purpose in accordance with the terms of the indenture. No service charge will be made for any transfer or exchange of certificated debt securities, but we may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge payable in connection with a transfer or exchange.

You may effect the transfer of certificated debt securities and the right to receive the principal of, and any premium and interest on, certificated debt securities only by surrendering the certificate representing those certificated debt securities and either reissuance by us or the trustee of the certificate to the new holder or the issuance by us or the trustee of a new certificate to the new holder.

Global Debt Securities and Book-Entry System. Each global debt security representing book-entry debt securities will be deposited with, or on behalf of, the Depositary, and registered in the name of the Depositary or a nominee of the Depositary. See "Global Securities."

#### No Protection in the Event of a Change of Control

Unless we state otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, the debt securities will not contain any provisions that may afford holders of the debt securities protection in the event we undergo a change in control or

in the event of a highly leveraged transaction (whether or not such transaction results in a change in control) that could adversely affect holders of debt securities.

#### **Covenants**

We will set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement any restrictive covenants applicable to any issue of debt securities.

### Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets

We may not consolidate with or merge with or into, or convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all of our properties and assets to, any person, which we refer to as a successor person, unless:

- we are the surviving entity or the successor person (if other than us) is a corporation organized and validly existing under the laws of any U.S. domestic jurisdiction and expressly assumes our obligations on the debt securities and under the indenture,
- immediately after giving effect to the transaction, no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing,
- if we are not the successor person, each guarantor (if any), unless it has become the successor person, confirms that its guarantee shall continue to apply to the obligations under the debt securities and the indenture to the same extent as prior to such merger, conveyance, transfer or lease, as applicable, and
- certain other conditions are met.

Notwithstanding the above, any of our subsidiaries may consolidate with, merge into or transfer all or part of its properties to us.

### **Events of Default**

"Event of Default" means, with respect to any series of debt securities, any of the following:

- default in the payment of any interest upon any debt security of that series when it becomes due and payable, and continuance of that default for a period of 30 days (unless the entire amount of the payment is deposited by us with the trustee or with a paying agent prior to the expiration of the 30-day period),
- default in the payment of principal of any debt security of that series at its maturity, upon acceleration, redemption or otherwise,
- default in the performance or breach of any other covenant or warranty by us in the indenture (other
  than a covenant or warranty that has been included in the indenture solely for the benefit of a series of
  debt securities other than that series), which default continues uncured for a period of 90 days after we
  receive written notice from the trustee or we and the trustee receive written notice from the holders of
  not less than a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series as provided
  in the indenture.
- certain voluntary or involuntary events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of our company, and
- any other Event of Default provided with respect to debt securities of that series that is described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

No Event of Default with respect to a particular series of debt securities (except as to certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization) necessarily constitutes an Event of Default with respect to any other

series of debt securities. The occurrence of certain Events of Default or an acceleration under the indenture may constitute an event of default under certain of our or our subsidiaries' indebtedness outstanding from time to time.

If an Event of Default with respect to outstanding debt securities of any series occurs and is continuing, then the trustee or the holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series may, by a notice in writing to us (and to the trustee if given by the holders), declare to be due and payable immediately the principal (or, if the debt securities of that series are discount securities, that portion of the principal amount as may be specified in the terms of that series) of, and any accrued and unpaid interest on, all debt securities of that series. In the case of an Event of Default resulting from certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization, the principal (or such specified amount) of, and any accrued and unpaid interest on, all outstanding debt securities will become and be immediately due and payable without any declaration or other act on the part of the trustee or any holder of outstanding debt securities. At any time after a declaration of acceleration with respect to debt securities of any series has been made, but before a judgment or decree for payment of the money due has been obtained by the trustee, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series may rescind and annul the acceleration if all Events of Default, other than the non-payment of accelerated principal and interest, if any, with respect to debt securities of that series, have been cured or waived as provided in the indenture. We refer you to the prospectus supplement relating to any series of debt securities that are discount securities for the particular provisions relating to acceleration of a portion of the principal amount of such discount securities upon the occurrence of an Event of Default.

The indenture provides that the trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the indenture unless the trustee receives indemnity satisfactory to it against any cost, liability or expense that might be incurred by it in exercising such right or power. Subject to certain rights of the trustee, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of any series will have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred on the trustee with respect to the debt securities of that series.

No holder of any debt security of any series will have any right to institute any proceeding, judicial or otherwise, with respect to the indenture or for the appointment of a receiver or trustee, or for any remedy under the indenture, unless:

- that holder has previously given to the trustee written notice of a continuing Event of Default with respect to debt securities of that series, and
- the holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series
  have made written request, and offered reasonable indemnity or security, to the trustee to institute the
  proceeding as trustee, and the trustee has not received from the holders of at least a majority in
  principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series a direction inconsistent with that
  request and has failed to institute the proceeding within 60 days.

Notwithstanding any other provision in the indenture, the holder of any debt security will have an absolute and unconditional right to receive payment of the principal of, and any premium and interest on, that debt security on or after the due dates expressed in that debt security and to institute suit for the enforcement of payment.

The indenture requires us, within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year, to furnish to the trustee a statement as to compliance with the indenture. If a Default or Event of Default occurs and is continuing with respect to the debt securities of any series and if it is known to a responsible officer of the trustee, the trustee shall mail to each holder of the debt securities of that series notice of a Default or Event of Default within 90 days after knowledge of its occurrence. The indenture provides that the trustee may withhold notice to the holders of debt securities of any series of any Default or Event of Default (except in payment on any debt securities of that series) with respect to debt securities of that series if the trustee determines in good faith that withholding notice is in the interest of the holders of those debt securities.

#### **Modification and Waiver**

We and the trustee may modify and amend the indenture or the debt securities of any series without the consent of any holder of any debt security:

- to cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or inconsistency,
- to comply with covenants in the indenture described above under the heading "Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets,"
- to provide for uncertificated securities in addition to or in place of certificated securities,
- to surrender any of our rights or powers under the indenture,
- to add covenants or events of default for the benefit of the holders of debt securities of any series,
- to comply with the applicable procedures of the applicable depositary,
- to make any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any holder of debt securities,
- to provide for the issuance of and establish the form and terms and conditions of debt securities of any series as permitted by the indenture,
- to effect the appointment of a successor trustee with respect to the debt securities of any series and to add to or change any of the provisions of the indenture to provide for or facilitate administration by more than one trustee.
- to comply with requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the indenture under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, the Trust Indenture Act,
- to reflect the release of a guarantor of the debt securities in accordance with the terms of the indenture,
   or
- to add guarantors with respect to any or all of the debt securities or to secure any or all of the debt securities or the guarantees.

We may also modify and amend the indenture with the consent of the holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of each series affected by the modifications or amendments. We may not make any modification or amendment without the consent of the holders of each affected debt security then outstanding if that amendment will:

- reduce the amount of debt securities whose holders must consent to an amendment, supplement or waiver,
- reduce the rate of or extend the time for payment of interest (including default interest) on any debt security,
- reduce the principal of or premium on, or change the fixed maturity of, any debt security, or reduce the amount of, or postpone the date fixed for, the payment of any sinking fund or analogous obligation with respect to any series of debt securities,
- reduce the principal amount of discount securities payable upon acceleration of maturity,
- waive a Default or Event of Default in the payment of the principal of, or any premium or interest on, any debt security (except a rescission of acceleration of the debt securities of any series by the holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding debt securities of that series and a waiver of the payment default that resulted from such acceleration),
- make the principal of, or any premium or interest on, any debt security payable in any currency other than that stated in the debt security,

- make any change to certain provisions of the indenture relating to, among other things, the right of
  holders of debt securities to receive payment of the principal of, or any premium and interest on, those
  debt securities and to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment and to waivers or
  amendments,
- waive a redemption payment with respect to any debt security, or
- if the debt securities of that series are entitled to the benefit of a guarantee, release any guarantor of such series other than as provided in the indenture or modify the guarantee in any manner adverse to the holders.

Except for certain specified provisions, the holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of any series may on behalf of the holders of all debt securities of that series waive our compliance with provisions of the indenture. The holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of any series may on behalf of the holders of all of the debt securities of such series waive any past default under the indenture with respect to that series and its consequences, except a default in the payment of the principal of, or any premium or interest on, any debt security of that series; provided, however, that the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of any series may rescind an acceleration and its consequences, including any related payment default that resulted from the acceleration.

### Defeasance of Debt Securities and Certain Covenants in Certain Circumstances

Legal Defeasance. The indenture provides that, unless otherwise provided by the terms of the applicable series of debt securities, we may be discharged from any and all obligations in respect of the debt securities of any series (subject to certain exceptions). We will be so discharged upon the deposit with the trustee, in trust, of money and/or U.S. government obligations or, in the case of debt securities denominated in a single currency other than U.S. dollars, government obligations of the government that issued or caused to be issued such currency, that, through the payment of interest and principal in accordance with their terms, will provide money or U.S. government obligations in an amount sufficient in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants or investment bank to pay and discharge each installment of principal of, any premium and interest on, and any mandatory sinking fund payments in respect of, the debt securities of that series on the stated maturity of those payments in accordance with the terms of the indenture and those debt securities.

This discharge may occur only if, among other things, we have delivered to the trustee an opinion of counsel stating that we have received from, or there has been published by, the United States Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, a ruling or, since the date of execution of the indenture, there has been a change in the applicable United States federal income tax law, in either case to the effect that, and based thereon such opinion shall confirm that, the holders of the debt securities of that series will not recognize income, gain or loss for United States federal income tax purposes as a result of the deposit, defeasance and discharge and will be subject to United States federal income tax on the same amounts and in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if the deposit, defeasance and discharge had not occurred.

*Defeasance of Certain Covenants*. The indenture provides that, unless otherwise provided by the terms of the applicable series of debt securities, upon compliance with certain conditions:

- we may omit to comply with the covenant described under the heading "Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets" and certain other covenants set forth in the indenture, as well as any additional covenants that may be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement, and
- any omission to comply with those covenants will not constitute a Default or an Event of Default with respect to the debt securities of that series, or covenant defeasance.

The conditions include:

- depositing with the trustee money and/or U.S. government obligations or, in the case of debt securities denominated in a single currency other than U.S. dollars, government obligations of the government that issued or caused to be issued such currency, that, through the payment of interest and principal in accordance with their terms, will provide money in an amount sufficient in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants or investment bank to pay and discharge each installment of principal of, any premium and interest on, and any mandatory sinking fund payments in respect of the debt securities of that series on the stated maturity of those payments in accordance with the terms of the indenture and those debt securities, and
- delivering to the trustee an opinion of counsel to the effect that the holders of the debt securities of that
  series will not recognize income, gain or loss for United States federal income tax purposes as a result
  of the deposit and related covenant defeasance and will be subject to United States federal income tax
  on the same amounts and in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if the
  deposit and related covenant defeasance had not occurred.

Covenant Defeasance and Events of Default. In the event we exercise our option to effect covenant defeasance with respect to any series of debt securities and the debt securities of that series are declared due and payable because of the occurrence of any Event of Default, the amount of money and/or U.S. government obligations or foreign government obligations on deposit with the trustee will be sufficient to pay amounts due on the debt securities of that series at the time of their stated maturity but may not be sufficient to pay amounts due on the debt securities of that series at the time of the acceleration resulting from the Event of Default. In such a case, we would remain liable for those payments.

"Foreign Government Obligations" means, with respect to debt securities of any series that are denominated in a currency other than U.S. dollars, direct obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the government that issued or caused to be issued such currency for the payment of which obligations its full faith and credit is pledged and which are not callable or redeemable at the option of the issuer thereof.

## Regarding the Trustee

The indenture provides that, except during the continuance of an Event of Default, the trustee will perform only such duties as are specifically set forth in the indenture. During the existence of an Event of Default, the trustee will exercise such rights and powers vested in it under the indenture and use the same degree of care and skill in its exercise as a prudent person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of such person's own affairs.

The indenture and provisions of the Trust Indenture Act that are incorporated by reference therein contain limitations on the rights of the trustee, should it become one of our creditors, to obtain payment of claims in certain cases or to realize on certain property received by it in respect of any such claim as security or otherwise. The trustee is permitted to engage in other transactions with us or any of our affiliates; provided, however, that if it acquires any conflicting interest (as defined in the indenture or in the Trust Indenture Act), it must eliminate such conflict or resign.

### No Personal Liability of Directors, Officers, Employees or Stockholders

None of our past, present or future directors, officers, employees, stockholders or controlling persons, as such, will have any liability for any of our obligations under the debt securities or the indenture or for any claim based on, or in respect or by reason of, such obligations or their creation. By accepting a debt security, each holder waives and releases all such liability. This waiver and release is part of the consideration for the issue of the debt securities. However, this waiver and release may not be effective to waive liabilities under United States federal securities laws, and it is the view of the SEC that such a waiver is against public policy.

# **Governing Law**

The indenture and the debt securities, including any claim or controversy arising out of or relating to the indenture or the debt securities, will be governed by the laws of the State of New York (without regard to the conflicts of laws provisions thereof other than Section 5-1401 of the General Obligations Law).

#### DESCRIPTION OF DEPOSITARY SHARES

Sotherly may, at its option, elect to offer depositary shares rather than full shares of the Company's preferred stock. Each depositary share will represent ownership of, and entitlement to, all rights and preferences of a fraction of a share of preferred stock of a specified series (including dividend, voting, redemption and liquidation rights). The applicable fraction will be specified in a prospectus supplement. The shares of the Company's preferred stock represented by the depositary shares will be deposited with a depositary named in the applicable prospectus supplement, under a deposit agreement, among the Company, the depositary and the holders of the certificates representing depositary shares, or depositary receipts. Depositary receipts will be delivered to those persons purchasing depositary shares in the offering. The depositary will be the transfer agent, registrar and dividend disbursing agent for the depositary shares. Holders of depositary receipts agree to be bound by the deposit agreement, which requires holders to take certain actions such as filing proof of residence and paying certain charges.

The summary of the terms of the depositary shares contained in this prospectus does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by, the provisions of the deposit agreement, Sotherly's charter and the form of articles supplementary for the applicable class or series of preferred stock.

#### **Dividends**

The depositary will distribute all cash dividends or other cash distributions received in respect of the series of Sotherly's preferred stock represented by the depositary shares to the record holders of depositary receipts in proportion to the number of depositary shares owned by such holders on the relevant record date, which will be the same date as the record date fixed by the Company for the applicable series of preferred stock. The depositary, however, will distribute only such amount as can be distributed without attributing to any depositary share a fraction of one cent, and any balance not so distributed will be added to and treated as part of the next sum received by the depositary for distribution to record holders of depositary receipts then outstanding.

In the event of a distribution other than in cash, the depositary will distribute property received by it to the record holders of depositary receipts entitled thereto, in proportion, as nearly as may be practicable, to the number of depositary shares owned by such holders on the relevant record date, unless the depositary determines (after consultation with the Company) that it is not feasible to make such distribution, in which case the depositary may (with the Company's approval) adopt any other method for such distribution as it deems equitable and appropriate, including the sale of such property (at such place or places and upon such terms as it may deem equitable and appropriate) and distribution of the net proceeds from such sale to such holders.

No distribution will be made in respect of any depositary share to the extent that it represents any preferred stock transferred to a trust for the benefit of one or more charitable beneficiaries. See "Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer."

#### **Liquidation Preference**

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of each depositary share will be entitled to the fraction of the liquidation preference accorded each share of the applicable series of preferred stock as set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement.

### Redemption

If the series of Sotherly's preferred stock represented by the applicable series of depositary shares is redeemable, such depositary shares will be redeemed from the proceeds received by the depositary resulting from the redemption, in whole or in part, of the shares of preferred stock held by the depositary. Whenever Sotherly redeems any preferred stock held by the depositary, the depositary will redeem as of the same redemption date the number of depositary shares representing the shares of preferred stock so redeemed. The depositary will mail

the notice of redemption promptly upon receipt of such notice from the Company and not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption of the preferred stock and the depositary shares to the record holders of the depositary receipts.

#### **Voting**

Promptly upon receipt of notice of any meeting at which the holders of the series of Sotherly's preferred stock represented by the applicable series of depositary shares are entitled to vote, the depositary will mail the information contained in such notice of meeting to the record holders of the depositary receipts as of the record date for such meeting. Each such record holder of depositary receipts will be entitled to instruct the depositary as to the exercise of the voting rights pertaining to the number of shares of preferred stock represented by such record holder's depositary shares. The depositary will endeavor, insofar as practicable, to vote such preferred stock represented by such depositary shares in accordance with such instructions, and the Company will agree to take all action which may be deemed necessary by the depositary in order to enable the depositary to do so. The depositary will abstain from voting any of the preferred stock to the extent that it does not receive specific instructions from the holders of depositary receipts.

### Withdrawal of Preferred Stock

Upon surrender of depositary receipts at the principal office of the depositary and payment of any unpaid amount due the depositary, and subject to the terms of the deposit agreement, the owner of the depositary shares represented thereby is entitled to delivery of the number of whole shares of preferred stock and all money and other property, if any, represented by such depositary shares. Partial shares of preferred stock will not be issued. If the depositary receipts delivered by the holder represent a number of depositary shares in excess of the number of depositary shares representing the number of whole shares of preferred stock to be withdrawn, the depositary will deliver to such holder at the same time a new depositary receipt representing such excess number of depositary shares. Holders of preferred stock thus withdrawn will not thereafter be entitled to deposit such shares under the deposit agreement or to receive depositary receipts representing depositary shares therefor.

## **Amendment and Termination of Deposit Agreement**

The form of depositary receipt representing the depositary shares and any provision of the deposit agreement may at any time and from time to time be amended by agreement between Sotherly and the depositary. However, any amendment which materially and adversely alters the rights of the holders (other than any change in fees) of depositary shares will not be effective unless such amendment has been approved by at least a majority of the depositary shares then outstanding. No such amendment may impair the right, subject to the terms of the deposit agreement, of any owner of any depositary shares to surrender the depositary receipt representing such depositary shares with instructions to the depositary to deliver to the holder of the preferred stock and all money and other property, if any, represented thereby, except in order to comply with mandatory provisions of applicable law.

The deposit agreement will be permitted to be terminated by Sotherly upon not less than 30 days' prior written notice to the applicable depositary if (1) such termination is necessary to preserve Sotherly's status as a REIT or (2) a majority of each series of preferred stock affected by such termination consents to such termination, whereupon such depositary will be required to deliver or make available to each holder of depositary receipts, upon surrender of the depositary receipts held by such holder, such number of whole or fractional shares of preferred stock as are represented by the depositary shares represented by such depositary receipts together with any other property held by such depositary with respect to such depositary receipts. The Company will agree that if the deposit agreement is terminated to preserve Sotherly's status as a REIT, then the Company will use its best efforts to list the preferred stock issued upon surrender of the related depositary shares on a national securities exchange. In addition, the deposit agreement will automatically terminate if (a) all outstanding depositary shares thereunder shall have been redeemed, (b) there shall have been a final distribution in respect of the related preferred stock in connection with any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company and

such distribution shall have been distributed to the holders of depositary receipts representing the depositary shares representing such preferred stock or (c) each share of the related preferred stock shall have been converted into stock of Sotherly not so represented by depositary shares.

#### **Charges of Depositary**

Sotherly will pay all transfer and other taxes and governmental charges arising solely from the existence of the depositary arrangements. Sotherly will pay charges of the depositary in connection with the initial deposit of the preferred stock and initial issuance of the depositary shares, and redemption of the preferred stock and all withdrawals of preferred stock by owners of depositary shares. Holders of depositary receipts will pay transfer, income and other taxes and governmental charges and certain other charges as are provided in the deposit agreement to be for their accounts. In certain circumstances, the depositary may refuse to transfer depositary shares, may withhold dividends and distributions and sell the depositary shares represented by such depositary receipt if such charges are not paid. The applicable prospectus supplement will include information with respect to fees and charges, if any, in connection with the deposit or substitution of the underlying securities, the receipt and distribution of dividends, the sale or exercise of rights, the withdrawal of the underlying security, and the transferring, splitting or grouping of receipts. The applicable prospectus supplement will also include information with respect to the right to collect the fees and charges, if any, against dividends received and deposited securities.

#### Miscellaneous

The depositary will forward to the holders of depositary receipts all notices, reports and proxy soliciting material from Sotherly which are delivered to the depositary and which Sotherly is required to furnish to the holders of its preferred stock. In addition, the depositary will make available for inspection by holders of depositary receipts at the principal office of the depositary, and at such other places as it may from time to time deem advisable, any notices, reports and proxy soliciting material received from the Company which are received by the depositary as the holder of preferred stock. The applicable prospectus supplement will include information about the rights, if any, of holders of receipts to inspect the transfer books of the depositary and the list of holders of receipts.

Neither the depositary nor the Company assumes any obligation or will be subject to any liability under the deposit agreement to holders of depositary receipts other than for its negligence or willful misconduct. Neither the depositary nor the Company will be liable if it is prevented or delayed by law or any circumstance beyond its control in performing its obligations under the deposit agreement. The obligations of the Company and the depositary under the deposit agreement will be limited to performance in good faith of their duties thereunder, and they will not be obligated to prosecute or defend any legal proceeding in respect of any depositary shares or preferred stock unless satisfactory indemnity is furnished. The Company and the depositary may rely on written advice of counsel or accountants, on information provided by holders of the depositary receipts or other persons believed in good faith to be competent to give such information and on documents believed to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.

In the event the depositary shall receive conflicting claims, requests or instructions from any holders of depositary receipts, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, the depositary shall be entitled to act on such claims, requests or instructions received from the Company.

## **Resignation and Removal of Depositary**

The depositary may resign at any time by delivering to the Company notice of its election to do so, and the Company may at any time remove the depositary, any such resignation or removal to take effect upon the appointment of a successor depositary and its acceptance of such appointment. Such successor depositary must be appointed within 60 days after delivery of the notice for resignation or removal and must be a bank or trust company having its principal office in the United States and having a combined capital and surplus of at least \$150,000,000.

#### **DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS**

The following description, together with the additional information we may include in any applicable prospectus supplements, summarizes the material terms and provisions of the warrants that Sotherly may offer under this prospectus and the related warrant agreements and warrant certificates. While the terms summarized below will apply generally to any warrants that Sotherly may offer, we will describe the particular terms of any series of warrants in more detail in the applicable prospectus supplement. If we indicate in the prospectus supplement, the terms of any warrants offered under that prospectus supplement may differ from the terms described below. Specific warrant agreements will contain additional important terms and provisions and will be incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the registration statement, which includes this prospectus.

#### General

Sotherly may issue warrants for the purchase of its common stock, preferred stock and/or debt securities in one or more series. Sotherly may issue warrants independently or together with shares of common stock, shares of preferred stock and/or debt securities, and the warrants may be attached to or separate from these securities.

We will evidence each series of warrants by warrant certificates that Sotherly will issue under a separate warrant agreement. Sotherly will enter into the warrant agreement with a warrant agent and will indicate the name and address of the warrant agent in the applicable prospectus supplement relating to a particular series of warrants.

The particular terms of any issue of warrants will be described in the prospectus supplement relating to the issue. Those terms may include:

- the offering price and aggregate number of warrants offered;
- the currency for which the warrants may be purchased;
- if applicable, the designation and terms of the securities with which the warrants are issued and the number of warrants issued with each such security or each principal amount of such security;
- if applicable, the date on and after which the warrants and the related securities will be separately transferable:
- in the case of warrants to purchase debt securities, the principal amount of debt securities purchasable upon exercise of one warrant and the price at, and currency in which, this principal amount of debt securities may be purchased upon such exercise;
- in the case of warrants to purchase common stock or preferred stock, the number of shares of common stock or preferred stock, as the case may be, purchasable upon the exercise of one warrant and the price at which these shares may be purchased upon such exercise;
- the effect of any merger, consolidation, sale or other disposition of our business on the warrant agreement and the warrants;
- the terms of any rights to redeem or call the warrants;
- any provisions for changes to or adjustments in the exercise price or number of securities issuable upon exercise of the warrants;
- the periods during which, and places at which, the warrants are exercisable;
- the manner of exercise;
- the dates on which the right to exercise the warrants will commence and expire;
- the manner in which the warrant agreement and warrants may be modified;
- federal income tax consequences of holding or exercising the warrants;
- the terms of the securities issuable upon exercise of the warrants; and
- any other specific terms, preferences, rights or limitations of or restrictions on the warrants.

#### **DESCRIPTION OF RIGHTS**

Sotherly may issue rights to purchase shares of its common stock or preferred stock. Each series of rights will be issued under a separate rights agreement to be entered into between Sotherly and a bank or trust company, as rights agent. The statements made in this section relating to the rights are summaries only. These summaries are not complete. This prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement will contain the material terms and conditions for each right. To the extent the information contained in the prospectus supplement differs from this summary description, you should rely on the information in the prospectus supplement. For more detail, we refer you to the applicable rights agreement itself, which we will file as an exhibit to, or incorporate by reference in, the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part.

If Sotherly offers any series of rights, certain terms of that series of rights will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement, including, without limitation, the following:

- the title of the rights,
- the date of determining the stockholders entitled to the rights distribution,
- the title and aggregate number of shares of Sotherly's common stock or preferred stock purchasable upon exercise of the rights,
- the exercise price,
- the aggregate number of rights issued,
- the date, if any, on and after which the rights will be separately transferable,
- the date on which the right to exercise the rights will commence and the date on which the right will
  expire,
- a discussion of any material United States federal income tax considerations applicable to an investment in the rights, and
- any other terms of the rights, including terms, procedures and limitations relating to the distribution, exchange and exercise of the rights.

#### **Exercise of Rights**

Each right will entitle the holder of rights to purchase for cash the principal amount of shares of Sotherly's common stock or preferred stock at the exercise price provided in the applicable prospectus supplement. Rights may be exercised at any time up to the close of business on the expiration date for the rights provided in the applicable prospectus supplement. After the close of business on the expiration date, all unexercised rights will be void.

Holders may exercise rights as described in the applicable prospectus supplement. Upon receipt of payment and the rights certificate properly completed and duly executed at the corporate trust office of the rights agent or any other office indicated in the prospectus supplement, Sotherly will, as soon as practicable, forward the shares of common stock or preferred stock purchasable upon exercise of the rights. If less than all of the rights issued in any rights offering are exercised, Sotherly may offer any unsubscribed securities directly, to or through agents, underwriters or dealers or through a combination of such methods, including pursuant to standby underwriting arrangements, as described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

#### **DESCRIPTION OF UNITS**

Sotherly may issue units consisting of any combination of the other types of securities offered under this prospectus in one or more series. Sotherly may evidence each series of units by unit certificates that it will issue under a separate agreement and may enter into unit agreements with a unit agent. Each unit agent will be a bank or trust company that Sotherly selects. Sotherly will indicate the name and address of the unit agent in the applicable prospectus supplement relating to a particular series of units.

The following description, together with the additional information included in any applicable prospectus supplement, summarizes the general features of the units that Sotherly may offer under this prospectus. You should read any prospectus supplement relating to the series of units being offered, as well as the complete unit agreements that contain the terms of the units. Specific unit agreements will contain additional important terms and provisions, and Sotherly will file as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, or will incorporate by reference from another report that it files with the Securities and Exchange Commission, the form of each unit agreement relating to units offered under this prospectus.

If Sotherly offers any units, certain terms of that series of units will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement, including, without limitation, the following, as applicable:

- the title of the series of units,
- identification and description of the separate constituent securities comprising the units,
- the price or prices at which the units will be issued,
- the date, if any, on and after which the constituent securities comprising the units will be separately transferable,
- a discussion of any material United States federal income tax considerations applicable to an investment in the units, and
- any other terms of the units and their constituent securities.

#### **GLOBAL SECURITIES**

### **Book-Entry, Delivery and Form**

Unless we indicate differently in a prospectus supplement, the securities initially will be issued in bookentry form and represented by one or more global notes or global securities, or, collectively, global securities. The global securities will be deposited with, or on behalf of, DTC and registered in the name of Cede & Co., the nominee of DTC. Unless and until it is exchanged for individual certificates evidencing securities under the limited circumstances described below, a global security may not be transferred except as a whole by the depositary to its nominee or by the nominee to the depositary, or by the depositary or its nominee to a successor depositary or to a nominee of the successor depositary.

#### DTC has advised that it is:

- a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law,
- a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law,
- a member of the Federal Reserve System,
- a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and
- a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act.

DTC holds securities that its participants deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the settlement among its participants of securities transactions, such as transfers and pledges, in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry changes in participants' accounts, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates. "Direct participants" in DTC include securities brokers and dealers, including underwriters, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and other organizations. DTC is a wholly owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation, or DTCC. DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others, which we sometimes refer to as indirect participants, that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a direct participant, either directly or indirectly. The rules applicable to DTC and its participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Purchases of securities under the DTC system must be made by or through direct participants, which will receive a credit for the securities on DTC's records. The ownership interest of the actual purchaser of a security, which we sometimes refer to as a beneficial owner, is in turn recorded on the direct and indirect participants' records. Beneficial owners of securities will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchases. However, beneficial owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of their transactions, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the direct or indirect participants through which they purchased securities. Transfers of ownership interests in global securities are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of participants acting on behalf of beneficial owners. Beneficial owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the global securities, except under the limited circumstances described below.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all global securities deposited by direct participants with DTC will be registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of securities with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other nominee will not change the beneficial ownership of the securities. DTC has no knowledge of the actual beneficial owners of the securities. DTC's records reflect only the identity of the direct participants to whose accounts the securities are credited, which may or may not be the beneficial owners. The participants are responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

So long as the securities are in book-entry form, you will receive payments and may transfer securities only through the facilities of the depositary and its direct and indirect participants. We will maintain an office or agency in the location specified in the prospectus supplement for the applicable securities, where notices and demands in respect of the securities and the indenture may be delivered to us and where certificated securities may be surrendered for payment, registration of transfer or exchange.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to direct participants, by direct participants to indirect participants and by direct participants and indirect participants to beneficial owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any legal requirements in effect from time to time.

Redemption notices will be sent to DTC. If less than all of the securities of a particular series are being redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each direct participant in the securities of such series to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (or such other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the securities. Under its usual procedures, DTC will mail an omnibus proxy to us as soon as possible after the record date. The omnibus proxy assigns the consenting or voting rights of Cede & Co. to those direct participants to whose accounts the securities of such series are credited on the record date, identified in a listing attached to the omnibus proxy.

So long as securities are in book-entry form, we will make payments on those securities to the depositary or its nominee, as the registered owner of such securities, by wire transfer of immediately available funds. If securities are issued in definitive certificated form under the limited circumstances described below, we will have the option of making payments by check mailed to the addresses of the persons entitled to payment or by wire transfer to bank accounts in the United States designated in writing to the applicable trustee or other designated party at least 15 days before the applicable payment date by the persons entitled to payment, unless a shorter period is satisfactory to the applicable trustee or other designated party.

Redemption proceeds, distributions and dividend payments on the securities will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit direct participants' accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from us on the payment date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC records. Payments by participants to beneficial owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the account of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name." Those payments will be the responsibility of participants and not of DTC or us, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions and dividend payments to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC, is our responsibility, disbursement of payments to direct participants is the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of payments to the beneficial owners is the responsibility of direct and indirect participants.

Except under the limited circumstances described below, purchasers of securities will not be entitled to have securities registered in their names and will not receive physical delivery of securities. Accordingly, each beneficial owner must rely on the procedures of DTC and its participants to exercise any rights under the securities and the indenture.

The laws of some jurisdictions may require that some purchasers of securities take physical delivery of securities in definitive form. Those laws may impair the ability to transfer or pledge beneficial interests in securities.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depositary with respect to the securities at any time by giving reasonable notice to us. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depositary is not obtained, securities certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

As noted above, beneficial owners of a particular series of securities generally will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in those securities. However, if:

- DTC notifies us that it is unwilling or unable to continue as a depositary for the global security or securities representing such series of securities or if DTC ceases to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act at a time when it is required to be registered and a successor depositary is not appointed within 90 days of the notification to us or of our becoming aware of DTC's ceasing to be so registered, as the case may be,
- we determine, in our sole discretion, not to have such securities represented by one or more global securities, or
- an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing with respect to such series of securities,

we will prepare and deliver certificates for such securities in exchange for beneficial interests in the global securities. Any beneficial interest in a global security that is exchangeable under the circumstances described in the preceding sentence will be exchangeable for securities in definitive certificated form registered in the names that the depositary directs. It is expected that these directions will be based upon directions received by the depositary from its participants with respect to ownership of beneficial interests in the global securities.

We have obtained the information in this section and elsewhere in this prospectus concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system from sources that are believed to be reliable, but we take no responsibility for the accuracy of this information.

#### CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF MARYLAND LAW AND OF SOTHERLY'S CHARTER AND BYLAWS

The following description of certain provisions of Maryland law and of Sotherly's charter and bylaws is only a summary. For a complete description, we refer you to Maryland law and Sotherly's charter and bylaws. We have filed Sotherly's charter and bylaws as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. See "Where You Can Find More Information."

### **Sotherly's Board of Directors**

Sotherly's bylaws provide that the number of Sotherly's directors may be established by its board of directors. Sotherly currently has seven directors. The board of directors may increase or decrease the number of directors by a vote of a majority of the members of the board of directors, provided that the number of directors shall never be less than the minimum number required by Maryland law, nor more than fifteen (15), and that the tenure of office of a director shall not be affected by any decrease in the number of directors. Except as may be provided by the board of directors in setting the terms of any class or series of preferred stock, any vacancy may be filled only by a majority of the remaining directors, even if the remaining directors do not constitute a quorum, or, if no directors remain, by Sotherly's stockholders. Any director elected to fill a vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the full term in which the vacancy occurred and until a successor is elected and qualifies.

At each annual meeting of stockholders, the holders of the common stock may vote to elect all of the directors on the board of directors. Holders of common stock have no right to cumulative voting in the election of directors. Consequently, at each annual meeting of stockholders, the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock are able to elect all of the directors.

#### Removal of Directors

Subject to rights of holders of one or more classes or series of preferred stock to elect or remove one or more directors or the entire board of directors, Sotherly's charter provides that a director may be removed, with or without cause, upon the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast in the election of directors. Absent removal of all of Sotherly's directors, this provision, when coupled with the exclusive power of the board of directors to fill vacant directorships, precludes stockholders from removing incumbent directors, except upon a substantial affirmative vote, and filling the vacancies created by such removal with their own nominees.

### **Business Combinations**

Maryland law prohibits "business combinations" between us and an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested stockholder for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. These business combinations include a merger, consolidation, share exchange or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. Maryland law defines an interested stockholder as:

- any person who, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns 10.0% or more of the voting power of our stock after the date on which the corporation had 100 or more beneficial owners of its stock; or
- an affiliate or associate of ours who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in
  question, was the beneficial owner of 10.0% or more of the voting power of Sotherly's then
  outstanding voting stock after the date on which the corporation had 100 or more beneficial owners of
  its stock.

A person is not an interested stockholder if Sotherly's board of directors approved in advance the transaction by which the person otherwise would have become an interested stockholder. However, in approving a transaction, the board of directors may provide that its approval is subject to compliance, at or after the time of approval, with any terms and conditions determined by Sotherly's board of directors.

After the five-year prohibition, any business combination between us and an interested stockholder generally must be recommended by Sotherly's board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote of at least:

- 80.0% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of Sotherly's then outstanding shares of voting stock, voting together as a single group; and
- two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of Sotherly's voting stock, voting together as a
  single group, other than stock held by the interested stockholder with whom or with whose affiliate the
  business combination is to be effected or stock held by an affiliate or associate of the interested
  stockholder.

These super-majority vote requirements do not apply if Sotherly's common stockholders receive a minimum price, as defined under Maryland law, for their stock in the form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its stock.

The statute permits various exemptions from its provisions, including business combinations that are exempted by the board of directors before the time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Sotherly has opted out of the business combination provisions of the MGCL by resolution of Sotherly's board of directors. However, Sotherly's board of directors may, by resolution and without stockholders approval, opt into the business combination statute in the future.

Should Sotherly's board opt in to the business combination statute, it may discourage others from trying to acquire control of Sotherly and increase the difficulty of consummating any transaction.

### **Control Share Acquisitions**

Maryland law provides that holders of "control shares" of a Maryland corporation acquired in a "control share acquisition" have no voting rights unless approved by a vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Shares owned by the acquirer, or by officers or by directors who are Sotherly's employees are excluded from shares entitled to vote on the matter. "Control shares" are voting shares which, if aggregated with all other shares previously acquired by the acquiring person, or in respect of which the acquiring person is able to exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), would entitle the acquiring person to exercise voting power in electing directors within one of the following ranges of voting power:

- one-tenth or more but less than one-third;
- one-third or more but less than a majority; or
- a majority or more of all voting power.

Control shares do not include shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained stockholder approval. A "control share acquisition" means the acquisition of control shares, directly or indirectly, subject to certain exceptions.

A person who has made or proposes to make a control share acquisition may compel Sotherly's board of directors to call a special meeting of stockholders to be held within 50 days of demand to consider the voting rights of the shares. The right to compel the calling of a special meeting is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including a written undertaking to pay the expenses of the meeting. If no request for a meeting is made, we may present the question at any stockholders' meeting.

If voting rights are not approved at the stockholders' meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver the acquiring person statement required by Maryland law, then, subject to certain conditions and limitations, Sotherly may redeem any or all of the control shares, except those for which voting rights have previously been

approved, for fair value. Fair value is determined without regard to the absence of voting rights for the control shares and as of the date of the last control share acquisition or of any meeting of stockholders at which the voting rights of the shares were considered and not approved. If voting rights for control shares are approved at a stockholders' meeting and the acquirer may then vote a majority of the shares entitled to vote, then all other stockholders may exercise appraisal rights. The fair value of the shares for purposes of these appraisal rights may not be less than the highest price per share paid by the acquirer in the control share acquisition. The control share acquisition statute does not apply to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if we are a party to the transaction, nor does it apply to acquisitions approved or exempted by Sotherly's charter or bylaws.

Sotherly's bylaws contain a provision exempting from the control share acquisition statute any and all acquisitions by any person of Sotherly's shares of stock. Sotherly's board of directors may amend its bylaws, without stockholder approval, so as to implement the control share acquisition statute in the future.

### Maryland Unsolicited Takeovers Act

Subtitle 8 of Title 3 of the MGCL permits a Maryland corporation with a class of equity securities registered under the Exchange Act and at least three independent directors to elect to be subject, by provision in its charter or bylaws or a resolution of its board of directors and notwithstanding any contrary provision in the charter or bylaws, to any or all of five provisions:

- a classified board;
- a two-thirds vote requirement for removing a director;
- a requirement that the number of directors be fixed only by vote of the directors;
- a requirement that a vacancy on the board be filled only by the remaining directors and for the remainder of the full term of the class of directors in which the vacancy occurred; and
- a majority requirement for the calling of a special meeting of stockholders.

Pursuant to Subtitle 8, Sotherly has elected to provide that vacancies on the board be filled only by the remaining directors and for the remainder of the full term of the directorship in which the vacancy occurred. Through provisions in Sotherly's charter and bylaws unrelated to Subtitle 8, Sotherly already (a) requires a two-thirds vote for the removal of any director from the board, (b) vests in the board the exclusive power to fix the number of directorships and (c) requires, unless called by the chairman of Sotherly's board of directors, its president, chief executive officer or Sotherly's board of directors, the request of the holders of a majority of outstanding shares to call for a special meeting.

## **Merger**; Amendment of Charter

Under the MGCL, a Maryland corporation generally cannot dissolve, amend its charter or merge with another entity unless approved by the affirmative vote of stockholders holding at least two-thirds of the shares entitled to vote on the matter unless a lesser percentage (but not less than a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter) is set forth in the corporation's charter. Sotherly's charter provides for approval by the holders of a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter for the matters described in this paragraph, except for amendments to various provisions of the charter, including, but not limited to, the provisions relating to removal of directors, that require the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. As permitted by the MGCL, Sotherly's charter contains a provision permitting its directors, without any action by its stockholders, to amend the charter to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock or the number of shares of stock of any class or series that it has authority to issue.

### Limitation of Liability and Indemnification

Sotherly's charter limits the liability of its directors and officers for money damages to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law.

Sotherly's charter authorizes it to obligate itself, and Sotherly's bylaws require it, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, to indemnify, and to pay or reimburse reasonable expenses to, any of Sotherly's present or former directors or officers or any individual who, while a director or officer and at our request, serves or has served another entity, employee benefit plan or any other enterprise as a trustee, director, officer, partner or otherwise. The indemnification covers any claim or liability against the person by reason of his or her status as a present or former director or officer.

Maryland law permits Sotherly to indemnify its present and former directors and officers against liabilities and reasonable expenses actually incurred by them in any proceeding unless it is established that:

- the act or omission of the director or officer was material to the matter giving rise to the proceeding;
   and
  - was committed in bad faith; or
  - was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty; or
- the director or officer actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services; or
- in a criminal proceeding, the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe that the act or omission
  was unlawful.

However, Maryland law prohibits Sotherly from indemnifying its present and former directors and officers for an adverse judgment in a derivative action. Maryland law requires it, as a condition to advancing expenses in certain circumstances, to obtain:

- a written affirmation by the director or officer of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification; and
- a written undertaking by or on behalf of the director or officer to repay the amount reimbursed if the standard of conduct is not met.

Sotherly has entered into indemnification agreements with Sotherly's directors and executive officers that provide for indemnification of such persons to the fullest extent permitted under Maryland law.

The partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership provides for indemnification of officers, directors and employees of the Operating Partnership, as well as its indemnification, along with its employees, officers and directors. See "Partnership Agreement."

Insofar as the foregoing provisions permit indemnification of Sotherly's directors, officers or persons controlling us for liability arising under the Securities Act, we have been informed that, in the opinion of the SEC, this indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.

### **REIT Status**

Sotherly's charter provides that its board of directors may revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election, without the approval of its stockholders, if it determines that it is no longer in our best interest to continue to qualify as a REIT.

#### Dissolution

Pursuant to Sotherly's charter, and subject to the provisions of any of Sotherly's classes or series of shares of stock then outstanding and the approval by a majority of the entire board of directors, Sotherly's stockholders, at any meeting thereof, by the affirmative vote of a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, may approve a plan of liquidation and dissolution.

### **Advance Notice of Director Nominations and New Business**

Sotherly's bylaws provide that, with respect to an annual meeting of stockholders, nominations of individuals for election to Sotherly's board of directors and the proposal of business to be considered by stockholders at the annual meeting may be made only:

- pursuant to Sotherly's notice of the meeting;
- by or at the direction of Sotherly's board of directors; or
- by a stockholder who was a stockholder of record both at the time of the provision of notice and at the
  time of the meeting who is entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with the advance notice
  procedures set forth in Sotherly's bylaws.

With respect to special meetings of stockholders, only the business specified in Sotherly's notice of meeting may be brought before the meeting of stockholders and nominations of individuals for election to Sotherly's board of directors may be made only:

- pursuant to Sotherly's notice of the meeting;
- by or at the direction of Sotherly's board of directors; or
- provided that Sotherly's board of directors has determined that directors shall be elected at such
  meeting, by a stockholder who was a stockholder of record both at the time of the provision of notice
  and at the time of the meeting who is entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with the advance
  notice provisions set forth in Sotherly's bylaws.

### Possible Anti-Takeover Effect of Certain Provisions of Maryland Law and of Sotherly's Charter and Bylaws

Sotherly's board of directors may rescind the resolution opting out of the business combination statute or repeal the bylaw opting-out of the control share acquisition statute without stockholder approval. If the business combination provisions or control share provisions become applicable to Sotherly, those provisions, in addition to the provisions in Sotherly's charter regarding removal of directors and the restrictions on the transfer of shares of stock and the advance notice provisions of Sotherly's bylaws could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in the control that might involve a premium price for holders of the common stock or otherwise be in their best interest.

#### PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT

The following description of certain terms of the agreement of limited partnership of the Operating Partnership is only a summary. For a complete description, we refer you to the Agreement of Limited Partnership of Sotherly Hotels LP, as amended, a copy of which is an exhibit to this registration statement.

#### Management

The Operating Partnership was formed on August 19, 2004 as a limited partnership under the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act. Pursuant to the partnership agreement, Sotherly Hotels Inc., as general partner of the Operating Partnership, has, subject to certain protective rights of limited partners described below, full, exclusive and complete responsibility and discretion in the management and control of the Operating Partnership, including the ability to cause the Operating Partnership to enter into certain major transactions including acquisitions, dispositions, refinancings and selection of lessees and to cause changes in the Operating Partnership's line of business and distribution policies.

The partnership agreement does not require the partners of the Operating Partnership to hold an annual meeting and the Operating Partnership does not intend to hold annual meetings of the partners, given the general partner's management responsibility and discretion.

## **Transferability of Interests**

Sotherly may not voluntarily withdraw from the Operating Partnership or transfer or assign its interest in the Operating Partnership or engage in any transaction which would result in a change of control of Sotherly unless:

- The Operating Partnership receives the consent of limited partners holding more than 50.0% of the partnership interests of the limited partners (other than those held by the general partner or any subsidiary);
- The consent of limited partners (including the general partner or any subsidiary) holding more than 66.7% of the percentage interests of the limited partnership interests (including those held by the general partner or any subsidiary) is obtained and as a result of such transaction all limited partners will receive for each partnership unit an amount of cash, securities or other property equal in value to the product of the conversion factor and the greatest amount of cash, securities or other property paid in the transaction to a holder of one share of Sotherly's common stock, provided that if, in connection with the transaction, a purchase, tender or exchange offer shall have been made to and accepted by the holders of more than 50.0% of the outstanding shares of Sotherly's common stock, each holder of units shall be given the option to exchange its units for the greatest amount of cash, securities or other property that a limited partner would have received had it (A) exercised its redemption right (described below) and (B) sold, tendered or exchanged pursuant to the offer shares of Sotherly's common stock received upon exercise of the redemption right immediately prior to the expiration of the offer; or
- The consent of limited partners (including the general partner or any subsidiary) holding more than 66.7% of the percentage interests of the limited partnership interests (including those held by the general partner or any subsidiary) is obtained and Sotherly is the surviving entity in the transaction and either (A) Sotherly's stockholders do not receive cash, securities or other property in the transaction or (B) all limited partners (other than any subsidiary of the general partner) receive for each partnership unit an amount of cash, securities or other property having a value that is no less than the product of the conversion factor and the greatest amount of cash, securities or other property received in the transaction by Sotherly's stockholders.

In addition, in the event of a change of control of Sotherly, the limited partners will have the right, for a period of 30 days following the change of control event, to cause the Operating Partnership to redeem all of the units held by the limited partners for a cash amount equal to the cash redemption amount otherwise payable upon redemption pursuant to the partnership agreement.

Sotherly also may (i) transfer all or any portion of its general partnership interest to an affiliate of the general partner, and following such transfer, may withdraw as the general partner and (ii) engage in a transaction required by law or by the rules of any national securities exchange on which Sotherly's common stock is listed.

Limited partners may not transfer their units without Sotherly's written consent as general partner.

### **Capital Contribution**

Sotherly currently owns a 1.0% interest as general partner and an approximately 79.5% interest as limited partner in the Operating Partnership. The partnership agreement provides that if the Operating Partnership requires additional funds at any time in excess of funds available to the Operating Partnership from borrowing or capital contributions, Sotherly may borrow such funds from a financial institution or other lender and lend such funds to the Operating Partnership. Under the partnership agreement, Sotherly is obligated to contribute the proceeds of any offering of shares of stock as additional capital to the Operating Partnership. Sotherly is authorized to cause the Operating Partnership to issue partnership interests for less than fair market value if Sotherly has concluded in good faith that such issuance is in both the Operating Partnership's and Sotherly's best interests. If Sotherly contributes additional capital to the Operating Partnership, it will receive additional units and Sotherly's percentage interest will be increased on a proportionate basis based upon the amount of such additional capital contributions and the value of the Operating Partnership at the time of such contributions. Conversely, the percentage interests of the limited partners will be decreased on a proportionate basis in the event of additional capital contributions by Sotherly. In addition, if Sotherly contributes additional capital to the Operating Partnership, we will revalue the property of the Operating Partnership to its fair market value (as determined by Sotherly) and the capital accounts of the partners will be adjusted to reflect the manner in which the unrealized gain or loss inherent in such property (that has not been reflected in the capital accounts previously) would be allocated among the partners under the terms of the partnership agreement if there were a taxable disposition of such property for its fair market value (as determined by us) on the date of the revaluation. The Operating Partnership may issue [additional] preferred partnership interests, in connection with acquisitions of property or otherwise, which could have priority over common partnership interests with respect to distributions from the Operating Partnership, including the partnership interests Sotherly owns as the general partner.

### **Redemption Rights**

Pursuant to the partnership agreement, the limited partners received redemption rights which enable them to cause the Operating Partnership to redeem their units in exchange for cash or, at Sotherly's option, shares of common stock of Sotherly. The cash redemption amount per unit is based on the average of the market price of Sotherly's common stock for the 10 trading days immediately preceding the notice of redemption. The number of shares of Sotherly's common stock issuable upon redemption of units held by limited partners may be adjusted upon the occurrence of certain events such as stock dividends, stock subdivisions or combinations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a limited partner will not be entitled to exercise its redemption rights if the delivery of Sotherly's common stock to the redeeming limited partner would:

- result in any person owning, directly or indirectly, common stock in excess of the stock ownership limit in Sotherly's charter;
- result in shares of Sotherly's common stock being owned by fewer than 100 persons (determined without reference to any rules of attribution);
- result in Sotherly being "closely held" within the meaning of Section 856(h) of the Code;
- cause Sotherly to own, actually or constructively, 10.0% or more of the ownership interests in a tenant of Sotherly's, the Operating Partnership's or a subsidiary partnership's real property, within the meaning of Section 856(d)(2)(B) of the Code other than a taxable REIT subsidiary if the requirements of Section 856(d)(8)(B) of the Code are satisfied;
- cause any of our hotel management companies to fail to qualify as an "eligible independent contractor" within the meaning of Section 856(d)(9) of the Code; or

cause the acquisition of Sotherly's common stock by such redeeming limited partner to be "integrated" with any other distribution of common stock for purposes of complying with the registration provisions of the Securities Act.

Sotherly may, in its sole and absolute discretion, waive any of these restrictions.

With respect to the units issued in connection with the acquisition of our initial properties, the redemption rights may be exercised by the limited partners at any time after the first anniversary of our acquisition of these properties; provided, however, unless Sotherly otherwise agrees:

- a limited partner may not exercise the redemption right for fewer than 1,000 units or, if such limited partner holds fewer than 1,000 units, the limited partner must redeem all of the units held by such limited partner;
- a limited partner may not exercise the redemption right for more than the number of units that would, upon redemption, result in such limited partner or any other person owning, directly or indirectly, common stock of Sotherly in excess of the ownership limitation in Sotherly's charter; and
- a limited partner may not exercise the redemption right more than two times annually.

The aggregate number of shares of the Sotherly's common stock issuable upon exercise of the redemption rights is 2,554,127. The number of shares of the Sotherly's common stock issuable upon exercise of the redemption rights will be adjusted to account for stock splits, mergers, consolidations or similar pro rata stock transactions.

The partnership agreement requires that the Operating Partnership be operated in a manner that enables Sotherly to satisfy the requirements for being classified as a REIT, to avoid any federal income or excise tax liability imposed by the Code (other than any federal income tax liability associated with Sotherly's retained capital gains) and to ensure that the partnership will not be classified as a "publicly traded partnership" taxable as a corporation under Section 7704 of the Code.

In addition to the administrative and operating costs and expenses incurred by the Operating Partnership, the Operating Partnership generally will pay all of our administrative costs and expenses, including:

- all expenses relating to Sotherly's continuity of existence and our subsidiaries' operations;
- all expenses relating to offerings and registration of securities;
- all expenses associated with the preparation and filing of any of Sotherly's and the Operating Partnership's periodic or other reports and communications under federal, state or local laws or regulations;
- all expenses associated with Sotherly's compliance with laws, rules and regulations promulgated by any regulatory body; and
- all of Sotherly's other operating or administrative costs incurred in the ordinary course of business on behalf of the Operating Partnership.

These expenses, however, do not include any of Sotherly's administrative and operating costs and expenses incurred that are attributable to hotel properties that are owned by Sotherly directly rather than by the Operating Partnership or its subsidiaries.

## **Distributions**

The partnership agreement provides that the Operating Partnership will distribute cash at such time and in such amounts as determined by Sotherly in its sole discretion, to Sotherly and the limited partners in accordance with their respective percentage interests in the Operating Partnership. Furthermore, the partnership agreement provides that the Operating Partnership shall distribute amounts sufficient to enable Sotherly to pay stockholder dividends that will allow Sotherly to meet the distribution requirements to qualify as a REIT and avoid any federal income or excise tax liability.

Upon liquidation of the Operating Partnership, after payment of, or adequate provision for, debts and obligations of the partnership, including any partner loans, any remaining assets of the partnership will be distributed to Sotherly and the limited partners with positive capital accounts in accordance with their respective positive capital account balances.

#### **Allocations**

Profits and losses of the partnership (including depreciation and amortization deductions) for each fiscal year generally are allocated to Sotherly and the limited partners in accordance with the respective percentage interests in the partnership. All of the foregoing allocations are subject to compliance with the provisions of Sections 704(b), 704(c) and 706 of the Code and Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder. The Operating Partnership expects to use the "traditional method" under Section 704(c) of the Code for allocating items with respect to contributed property acquired in connection with the offering for which the fair market value differs from the adjusted tax basis at the time of contribution.

#### **Term**

The Operating Partnership has perpetual duration unless dissolved upon:

- Sotherly's bankruptcy, dissolution, removal or withdrawal (unless the limited partners elect to continue the partnership);
- the passage of 90 days after the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all the assets of the partnership;
- the redemption of all units (other than those held by Sotherly, if any); or
- an election by Sotherly in its capacity as the general partner.

### **Tax Matters**

Pursuant to the partnership agreement, Sotherly is the tax matters partner of the Operating Partnership and, as such, Sotherly has authority to handle tax audits and to make tax elections under the Code on behalf of the Operating Partnership.

#### Indemnification

Subject to any terms, conditions or restrictions set forth in the Operating Partnership's partnership agreement, Section 17-108 of the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act empowers a Delaware limited partnership to indemnify and hold harmless any partner or other person from and against all claims and demands whatsoever. The amended and restated partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership generally requires the Operating Partnership to indemnify Sotherly and the directors, officers and employees of Sotherly, and any affiliates of either Sotherly or the Operating Partnership and certain other specific persons to the fullest extent permitted by the law against all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, including reasonable legal fees and expenses, or similar events except for those which arise from bad faith, improper receipt of a personal benefit or where there was reasonable knowledge that the act or omission leading to the activity was unlawful.

Sotherly provides insurance from a commercial carrier against certain liabilities that could be incurred by Sotherly's directors and officers.

Insofar as the foregoing provisions permit indemnification of Sotherly's directors, officers or persons controlling us for liability arising under the Securities Act, we have been informed that, in the opinion of the SEC, this indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.

#### MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

#### General

As used in this "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations" discussion, unless otherwise expressly so noted, the terms "we," "us" and "our" refer solely to Sotherly and not to the Operating Partnership nor to our other subsidiaries nor to any of the Operating Partnership's direct and indirect subsidiaries.

The following is a summary of material U.S. federal income tax considerations relating to our qualification and taxation as a REIT which may be material to a purchaser of our securities or the Operating Partnership's debt securities. This summary is based on current law, is for general information only, does not address all possible tax considerations that may be material or relevant to such a purchaser and is not tax or legal advice. Also, this summary does not deal with all tax aspects that might be relevant to any such purchaser in light of the purchaser's particular circumstances, nor does it deal with particular types of purchasers that may be subject to special treatment under the U.S. federal income tax laws, such as insurance companies, those acquiring securities through the exercise of stock options or otherwise as compensation, tax-exempt organizations (except as provided below), financial institutions or broker-dealers, persons subject to the alternative minimum tax, persons purchasing our equity or debt securities, or the Operating Partnership's debt securities, as part of a hedge, straddle or other risk reduction, constructive sale or conversion transaction, or stockholders that are not "U.S. stockholders" as defined in "-Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders" (except to the limited extent discussed in "—Taxation of Non-U.S. Stockholders" below). Accordingly, this summary may not contain all of the information that may be pertinent to you. Additional material U.S. federal income tax considerations relevant to prospective purchasers of particular offerings of our securities or the Operating Partnership's debt securities will be addressed in the applicable Prospectus Supplement for those securities.

You are urged to review the applicable Prospectus Supplement in connection with the purchase of any of our securities or any of the Operating Partnership's debt securities, as the case maybe, and to consult your own tax advisor regarding the specific tax consequences to you of purchasing any such securities, of our election to be taxed as a REIT and regarding potential changes in the applicable tax laws.

This discussion does not cover state or local tax laws or any U.S. federal tax laws other than income tax laws. The statements made in this section of the prospectus are based upon current provisions of the Code and Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, as currently applicable, currently published administrative positions of the IRS and judicial decisions, all of which are subject to change, either prospectively or retroactively.

The Code provisions governing the U.S. federal income tax treatment of REITs and their shareholders are highly technical and complex, and this summary is qualified in its entirety by the express language of applicable Code provisions, Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder and administrative and judicial interpretations thereof. If a partnership, including any entity that is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, were to purchase any of our securities or any of the Operating Partnership's debt securities, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner in such partnership will generally depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. If you are a partner in such a partnership, you should consult your tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences to you of your partnership's purchase of any of our securities or any of the Operating Partnership's debt securities.

## **REIT Qualification**

We elected to be taxable as a REIT commencing with our taxable year ending December 31, 2004. This section of the prospectus discusses the laws governing the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a REIT and its stockholders, which are highly technical and complex. In connection with this filing, we will receive an opinion of Baker & McKenzie LLP that we have been organized and have operated in conformity with the requirements

for qualification and taxation as a REIT for the period commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2004 and continuing through our taxable year ended December 31, 2013, and our current organization and method of operation will enable us to continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT.

The opinion of Baker & McKenzie LLP is based on various assumptions relating to our organization and operations, and is conditioned upon factual representations made by us regarding our organization, assets, gross income and the past, present and future conduct of our business operations. The opinion of Baker & McKenzie LLP is not binding on the IRS or any court, and no assurance can be given that the IRS will not successfully challenge the conclusions set forth in such opinion. We have conducted our business operations each taxable year since our formation in 2004 in conformity with the requirements for REIT qualification, and we intend to operate our business operations in conformity with these requirements so as to maintain our status as a REIT. Given the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs, the ongoing importance of factual determinations, and the possibility of future changes in our circumstances, however, no assurance can be given by Baker & McKenzie LLP or by us that we will be able to maintain our REIT status for any particular year. Baker & McKenzie LLP has no obligation to advise us or the holders of any of our or the Operating Partnership's securities of any subsequent change in the matters stated, represented or assumed in the opinion, or of any subsequent change in the applicable law.

Maintenance of REIT status depends on our ability to meet, on a continuing basis, through actual operating results, a number of requirements including quarterly asset, annual gross income and distribution, diversity of stock ownership and various other requirements imposed upon REITs by the Code. Satisfaction of some of these asset requirements depend upon the fair market values of assets directly or indirectly owned by us, which values may not be susceptible to a precise determination.

A REIT that is a partner in an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal tax purposes is treated as owning its proportionate share of the assets of the partnership and as being entitled to the income of the partnership attributable to such share and which share, for purposes of the REIT requirements of Code Section 856 (including the REIT gross income and asset requirements), is determined in accordance with its capital interest in the partnership. In addition, the character of the assets and gross income of the partnership retains the same character in the hands of the REIT for purposes of such requirements. Accordingly, in applying these REIT requirements (and for purposes of the discussion of these requirements below), our proportionate share of the assets, liabilities and items of income of the Operating Partnership and any Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity is treated as our assets, liabilities and items of income. For purposes of this discussion, an "Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity" means any direct or indirect subsidiary of ours or of the Operating Partnership that is a partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or other entity that is treated as a partnership or "disregarded entity" for U.S. federal tax purposes and which is not owned either directly or indirectly by any taxable REIT subsidiary of ours or any C corporation subsidiary in which we or the Operating Partnership has any direct or indirect interest.

While we intend to continue to operate in conformity with the REIT requirements and in a manner that will allow us to maintain our REIT status, no assurance can be given that the actual results of our (and the Operating Partnership's) operations for any taxable year will allow us to satisfy such requirements or that we will be able to maintain our status as a REIT.

#### **Taxation of Sotherly**

As a REIT, we generally are not subject to U.S. federal income tax on that portion of our taxable income that we distribute to stockholders. This treatment substantially eliminates the "double taxation" (at the corporate and stockholder levels) that generally results from investment in a non-REIT "C" corporation. However, we are subject to U.S. federal tax as follows:

1. First, we are subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate rates on any undistributed adjusted REIT taxable income, including undistributed net capital gain (adjusted REIT taxable income is the taxable income of a REIT subject to specified adjustments, including a deduction for dividends paid).

- 2. Second, under certain circumstances, we may be subject to the U.S. federal "alternative minimum tax" on our items of tax preference.
- 3. Third, if we have (a) net income from the sale or other disposition of "foreclosure property" (including foreign currency gain that is attributable to otherwise permitted income from foreclosure property) which is held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business or (b) other nonqualifying income from foreclosure property, we are subject to U.S. federal income tax at the highest U.S. federal corporate rate on such income. Foreclosure property generally is property acquired on foreclosure or otherwise on default on a loan secured by such real property or a lease of such property.
- 4. Fourth, if we have net income from a "prohibited transaction," such income is subject to a 100.0% excise tax generally, a "prohibited transaction" is a sale or other disposition of property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, other than foreclosure property and property involuntarily converted; for this purpose, we would be treated as holding primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business our proportionate share of any property so held by the Operating Partnership or any Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity. See "Prohibited Transaction Rules" discussion below.
- 5. Fifth, if we fail to satisfy the 75.0% gross income requirement or the 95.0% gross income requirement that is required to be satisfied for REIT qualification (as discussed below), but nonetheless maintain our qualification as a REIT because certain other requirements have been met, we are subject to a 100.0% tax on an amount equal to (a) the gross income attributable to the greater of the amount by which we fail the 75.0% gross income test or the amount by which 95.0% of our gross income exceeds the amount of income qualifying under the 95.0% gross income test multiplied by (b) a fraction intended to reflect our profitability.
- 6. Sixth, if we fail to satisfy the asset requirements that are required to be satisfied for REIT qualification (as discussed below) but nonetheless maintain our qualification as a REIT because certain other requirements have been met, we may be subject to a U.S. federal tax that would be the greater of (a) \$50,000 or (b) an amount determined by multiplying the highest rate of U.S. federal income tax for corporations by the net income generated by the assets for the period beginning on the first date of the failure and ending on the day we dispose of the assets (or otherwise satisfy the requirements for maintaining REIT qualification).
- 7. Seventh, if we fail to satisfy one or more requirements for REIT qualification, other than the 95.0% and 75.0% gross income requirements and other than the asset requirements, but nonetheless maintain our qualification as a REIT because certain other requirements have been met, we may be subject to a \$50,000 penalty for each failure.
- 8. Eighth, if we fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of (1) 85.0% of our ordinary income for such year, (2) 95.0% of our net capital gain income for such year, and (3) any undistributed taxable income from prior periods, we will be subject to a nondeductible 4.0% excise tax on the excess of such required distribution over the amounts distributed.
- 9. Ninth, if we acquire any appreciated assets from a non-REIT C corporation (i.e., a corporation generally subject to full corporate level tax) in a transaction in which the basis of the assets in our hands is determined by reference to the basis of the assets (or any other property) in the hands of the non-REIT C corporation, we may be subject to tax on such appreciation at the highest U.S. federal corporate income tax rate then applicable if we recognize gain on a disposition of such assets during the 10-year period following their acquisition from the non-REIT C corporation. This tax is referred to as the "Built-in Gains Tax." The Built-in Gains Tax would not apply if the asset acquired in such manner was exchanged for a replacement property in a qualifying exchange under Code Section 1031. However, a sale of the replacement property within that same 10-year period would be subject to the Built-in Gains Tax.

- 10. Tenth, we may be subject to a 100.0% excise tax if, in general, our dealings with our taxable REIT subsidiaries, defined below, are not at arm's length.
- 11. Eleventh, our taxable REIT subsidiaries will be subject to corporate-level U.S. federal income tax on their taxable income (and may also be subject to alternative minimum tax on their alternative minimum taxable income).
- 12. Finally, we may elect to retain and pay U.S. federal income tax on our net long-term capital gain, in which case a stockholder would include his, her or its proportionate share of our undistributed long-term capital gain in his, her or its taxable income and would be allowed to credit for the stockholder's proportionate share of the U.S. federal income tax imposed on us and deemed to have been paid by such stockholder, and an adjustment would be made to increase the stockholder's U.S. federal income tax basis in our stock.

### **Requirements for REIT Qualification**

### Organizational Requirements

An entity must satisfy the following requirements in order to qualify as a REIT under the Code: (1) it must be a corporation, trust or association that would be taxable as a domestic corporation but for the REIT provisions of the Code, (2) it must elect to be taxed as a REIT and satisfy relevant filing and other administrative requirements, (3) it must be managed by one or more trustees or directors, (4) its beneficial ownership must be evidenced by transferable shares or by transferable certificates of beneficial interest, (5) it must not be a financial institution or an insurance company subject to special provisions of the U.S. federal income tax laws, (6) it must use a calendar year for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (7) it must have at least 100 beneficial owners for at least 335 days of each taxable year of 12 months or during a proportionate part of a taxable year of less than 12 months, (8) it must not be closely held (i.e., at any time during the last half of any taxable year, more than 50.0% in value of its outstanding capital stock must not be owned, directly or indirectly through the application of certain attribution rules, by five or fewer "individuals," as such term is defined in the Code to include certain entities), and (9) it must satisfy certain asset, gross income, distribution and other requirements.

To monitor compliance with the stock ownership requirements, a REIT is generally required to maintain records regarding the actual ownership of its stock. A REIT must demand written statements each year from the record holders of 5.0% or more of its stock (or such lesser percentage as is required by applicable Treasury Regulations) pursuant to which the record holders must disclose the actual owners of the stock (i.e., the persons required to include in gross income the dividends paid by the REIT). A REIT must maintain a list of those persons failing or refusing to comply with this demand as part of its records. A REIT could be subject to monetary penalties if it fails to comply with these record-keeping requirements. A stockholder who or that fails or refuses to comply with the demand is required by Treasury Regulations to submit a statement with his, her or its tax return disclosing such stockholder's actual ownership of the REIT's stock and other information. If in any taxable year a REIT did not know, and with the exercise of reasonable diligence could not have known, that it failed to meet the requirement that it cannot be closely held, the REIT will be treated as having met such requirement for such taxable year.

We were organized as a Maryland corporation in August 2004 and elected to be taxable as a REIT commencing with our initial taxable year ending December 31, 2004. We believe that we have complied with the organizational and record-keeping requirements described above for each taxable year since our formation and, unless our board of directors shall determine that it is no longer in our best interests to attempt to qualify (or to continue to qualify) as a REIT, we intend to continue to comply with these requirements in order to maintain our status as a REIT.

#### Asset Requirements

At the close of each quarter of our taxable year, we must satisfy a number of requirements relating to the nature of our assets. First, at least 75.0% of the value of our total assets must be represented by interests in real property, interests in mortgages on real property, shares in other REITs, cash, cash items and government securities (as well as certain temporary investments in stock or debt instruments purchased with the proceeds of new capital raised by us). "Cash" includes foreign currency if we or any "qualified business unit" uses such foreign currency as our functional currency, but only to the extent such foreign currency is held for use in the normal course of our activities or the "qualified business unit" giving rise to income in the numerator for the 75.0% gross income test or the 95.0% gross income test (discussed below), or directly related to acquiring or holding assets qualifying for the numerator in the 75.0% asset test, and is not held in connection with a trade or business of trading or dealing in certain securities. Second, although the remaining 25.0% of our assets generally may be invested without restriction, securities in this class generally may not exceed either (1) 5.0% of the value of our total assets as to any one nongovernment issuer ("5% Asset Requirement"), (2) 10.0% of the outstanding voting securities of any one issuer ("10% Voting Asset Requirement"), or (3) 10.0% of the value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer ("10% Value Asset Requirement"). Third, not more than 25.0% of the total value of our assets can be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. Securities for purposes of the 5% Asset Requirement, 10% Voting Asset Requirement and 10% Value Asset Requirement may include debt securities, including debt issued by a partnership.

Debt of an issuer will not count as a security for purposes of the 10% Value Asset Requirement if the security qualifies for any of a number of applicable exceptions, including for example, the exception for "straight debt" and for debt issued by a partnership at least 75% of the gross income of which (excluding gross income from prohibited transactions) is derived from sources constituting qualifying income for purposes of the REIT 75% gross income requirement.

After initially meeting the asset tests at the close of any quarter, we will not lose our qualification as a REIT for failure to satisfy the asset requirements at the end of a later quarter solely by reason of changes in asset values. If we fail to satisfy the asset requirements because we acquire securities during a quarter, we can cure this failure by disposing of the non-qualifying assets within 30 days after the close of that quarter. If we fail either the 5% Asset Requirement, 10% Voting Asset Requirement or 10% Value Asset Requirement at the end of any quarter, and such failure is not cured within 30 days thereafter, we may dispose of sufficient assets or otherwise satisfy such requirements within six months after the last day of the quarter in which our identification of the failure to satisfy those asset requirements occurred to cure the violation, provided that the non-permitted assets do not exceed the lesser of 1.0% of the total value of our assets at the end of the relevant quarter or \$10,000,000. If we fail any of the other REIT asset requirements, or our failure of the 5% Asset Requirement, 10% Voting Asset Requirement or 10% Value Asset Requirement is in excess of this amount, as long as the failure was due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect and, following our identification of the failure, we filed a schedule in accordance with the Treasury Regulations describing each asset that caused the failure, we are permitted to avoid disqualification as a REIT, after the 30 day cure period, by taking steps to satisfy the requirements of the applicable REIT asset requirement within six months after the last day of the quarter in which our identification of the failure to satisfy the REIT asset requirement occurred, including the disposition of sufficient assets to meet the asset requirements and paying a U.S. federal tax equal to the greater of (1) \$50,000 or (2) the product of the net income generated by the assets that caused the failure multiplied by the highest applicable U.S. federal corporate income tax rate (currently 35.0%).

We believe that we have complied with the foregoing REIT asset requirements each calendar quarter since our election to be taxable as a REIT, and we intend to monitor compliance with such requirements on an ongoing basis. We can provide no assurance, however, that the IRS will agree with our determinations in this regard. To the extent that we fail one or more of the REIT asset requirements and do not fall within any of the safe harbors described above, we may fail to maintain our REIT status.

# **Gross Income Requirements**

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must satisfy two gross income requirements on an annual basis. First, at least 75.0% of our gross income for each taxable year, excluding gross income from prohibited transactions, must be derived from investments relating to real property or mortgages on real property, including "rents from real property," dividends received from other REITs, interest income derived from mortgage loans secured by real property (including certain types of mortgage-backed securities), and gains from the sale of real estate assets, as well as "qualified temporary investment income," (i.e., income that is attributable to temporary investments in stock and debt securities of new capital proceeds from stock issuances and public debt offerings and that is received in the one-year period beginning on the date new capital is received). Second, at least 95.0% of our gross income in each taxable year, excluding gross income from prohibited transactions, must be derived from sources of income that qualify under the 75.0% gross income requirement and other dividends, interest, gain from the sale or disposition of stock or securities, and certain other categories of income.

Rents will qualify as "rents from real property" in satisfying the REIT gross income requirements only if several conditions are met, including the following:

- The rent must not be based in whole or in part on the income or profits of any person. An amount will not be disqualified, however, solely by being based on a fixed percentage or percentages of receipts or sales or, if it is based on the net income or profits of a lessee which derives substantially all of its income with respect to such property from subleasing of substantially all of such property, to the extent that the rents paid by the sublessees would qualify as rents from real property, if derived directly by us.
- If rent is partly attributable to personal property leased in connection with a lease of real property, the portion of the total rent that is attributable to the personal property will not qualify as rents from real property if it exceeds 15.0% of the total rent received under the lease (for this purpose, with respect to each lease of real property, rent attributable to personal property for the taxable year is that amount which bears the same ratio to total rent for the taxable year as the average of the fair market values of the personal property at the beginning and at the end of the taxable year bears to the average of the aggregate fair market values of both the real property and the personal property at the beginning and at the end of such taxable year) (the "Personal Property Rent Attribution Test").
- For rents received to qualify as rents from real property, neither we (nor the Operating Partnership or any Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity) generally may operate or manage the property or furnish or render certain services to the lessees of such property, other than through an "independent contractor," as defined in the Code, who is adequately compensated and from which neither we, the Operating Partnership nor any Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity derive or receive any income or through a taxable REIT subsidiary. We (or the Operating Partnership or an Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity) are permitted, however, to perform services that are "usually or customarily rendered" in connection with the rental of space for occupancy only and are not otherwise considered rendered to the occupant of the property. Additionally, we (or the Operating Partnership or an Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity) may directly or indirectly provide non-customary services to lessees of our properties without disqualifying all of the rents from the property if the gross income from such services does not exceed 1.0% of the total gross income from the property. In such a case, only the amounts for non-customary services are not treated as rents from real property, and the provision of the services does not disqualify all of the rents from treatment as rents from real property. For purposes of this requirement, gross income received from such non-customary services is deemed to be at least 150.0% of the direct cost of providing the services. Also, services are permitted to be provided to lessees through a taxable REIT subsidiary without disqualifying the rental income received from lessees as rents from real property.
- Rental income will not qualify as rents from real property if we directly or indirectly (through application of certain constructive ownership rules) own (i) in the case of any lessee which is a corporation, stock possessing 10.0% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock

entitled to vote, or 10.0% or more of the total value of shares of all classes of stock, of such lessee or (ii) in the case of any lessee which is not a corporation, an interest of 10.0% or more in the assets or net profits of such lessee. Rental payments from a taxable REIT subsidiary, however, will qualify as rents from real property even if we own more than 10.0% of the total value or combined voting power of the taxable REIT subsidiary if (i) at least 90.0% of the property is leased to unrelated lessees and the rent paid by the taxable REIT subsidiary is substantially comparable to the rent paid by the unrelated lessees for comparable space or (ii) as relevant to us, the property is a "qualified lodging facility" and certain additional requirements are satisfied (including that the leased property is operated on the taxable REIT subsidiary's behalf by an "eligible independent contractor"). Our leases of our hotel properties with TRS Lessee (and, thus, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, with its sole member and beneficial owner MHI Holding) (the "TRS Hotel Leases") are structured with the intent to comply with clause (ii) so that our rents under these leases will qualify as "rents from real property."

We believe that we have complied with the foregoing REIT gross income requirements each taxable year since our election to be taxable as a REIT, and most of our gross income has consisted of our share of the rents derived under the TRS Hotel Leases, which rents we believe have constituted rents from real property. None of the rents under our, the Operating Partnership's or any Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity's leases (including under the TRS Hotel Leases) have been based on the income or profits of any person, and none of the rents under any such lease and which are attributable to personal property (as determined under the Personal Property Rent Attribution Test) have exceeded 15.0% of the total rents received under any such lease. Furthermore, all or most of the services performed with respect to our properties have been services that are usually or customarily rendered in connection with the rental of real property and not rendered to the occupant(s) of such property or services performed by an "eligible independent contractor" engaged by TRS Lessee. We intend to monitor compliance with the REIT gross income requirements on an ongoing basis but can provide no assurances that the actual future sources of our income will allow us to continue to satisfy these requirements.

Even if we were to fail to satisfy one or both of the 75.0% gross income requirement and the 95.0% gross income requirement for any taxable year, we may still qualify as a REIT for that year if we are eligible for relief under specific provisions of the Code. These relief provisions generally will be available if (1) our failure to meet these requirements was due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect; (2) we attach a schedule of our income sources to our U.S. federal income tax return; and (3) any incorrect information on the schedule is not due to fraud with intent to evade tax. It is not possible, however, to state whether, in all circumstances, we would be entitled to the benefit of these relief provisions. If these relief provisions are inapplicable, we will not qualify as a REIT. Even where these relief provisions apply, a tax would be imposed upon the profit attributable to the amount by which we fail to satisfy the particular gross income test.

# **Annual Distribution Requirements**

To qualify as a REIT, we are required to distribute each year to our stockholders an amount that qualifies for the "dividends-paid deduction" (other than capital gains dividends) and which equals at least (1) the sum of (a) 90.0% of our REIT taxable income (computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain) and (b) 90.0% of the net income (after tax), if any, from foreclosure property, minus (2) the sum of certain items of non-cash income over 5.0% of our REIT taxable income. Such distributions must be paid in the taxable year to which they relate, or in the following taxable year if declared before we timely file our U.S. federal income tax return for such year and if paid on or before the first regular dividend payment after such declaration, provided that such payment is made during the 12-month period following the close of such taxable year. These distributions are taxable to stockholders in the year in which paid, even though the distributions relate to our prior taxable year for purposes of the 90.0% distribution requirement.

To the extent that we do not distribute all of our net capital gain or all of our other REIT taxable income, then we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the undistributed amount at regular U.S. federal corporate tax rates. However, for any of our net capital gain that we elect not to distribute to stockholders, we can

nonetheless elect to report such gain to our stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes (as if we had actually distributed said gain to them), in which case each of our stockholders would be required to report on its own U.S. federal income tax return its pro rata share of such undistributed net capital gain income and would be allowed a credit for its proportionate share of the U.S. federal income tax imposed on us on such gain (but which proportionate share of such tax would be deemed paid by such stockholder), and an adjustment would be made to increase such stockholder's U.S. federal income tax basis in our stock. Furthermore, if we should fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of (1) 85.0% of our ordinary income for such year, (2) 95.0% of our net capital gain income for such year, and (3) any undistributed taxable income from prior periods, we would be subject to a non-deductible 4.0% excise tax on the excess of such required distribution over the sum of the amounts actually distributed and the amount of any net capital gains we elected to retain and pay tax on. For these and other purposes, dividends that we declare in October, November or December of one taxable year and which are payable to a stockholder of record on a specific date in any such month shall be treated as both paid by and received by the stockholder during such taxable year, provided that the dividend is actually paid by us by January 31 of the following taxable year.

If we fail to meet the distribution requirements as a result of an adjustment to our tax return by the IRS or we determine that we understated income on a filed return, we may retroactively cure the failure by paying a "deficiency dividend" (plus applicable penalties and interest) within a specified period.

Since our election to be taxable as a REIT, we believe that we have satisfied the annual distribution requirements described above. It is possible, however, that in the future we may not have sufficient cash or other liquid assets to meet the distribution requirements, including for example due to timing differences between the actual receipt of income and actual payment of expenses on the one hand, and the inclusion of such income and deduction of such expenses in computing our REIT taxable income on the other hand or because cash representing taxable income is required to be used to make a payment that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, is either non-deductible (e.g., re-payment of loan principal) or must be capitalized. Further, as described below, it is possible that, from time to time, we may be allocated a share of net capital gain attributable to the sale of depreciated property that exceeds our allocable share of cash attributable to that sale. To avoid any problem with the distribution requirements, we will closely monitor the relationship between our REIT taxable income and cash flow (including amounts that the Operating Partnership is able and permitted to distribute to us) and, if necessary and feasible, we may borrow funds and/or issue stock (and/or we may cause the Operating Partnership and/or one or more of its direct and/or indirect subsidiaries to borrow funds for distribution to us) to enable us to satisfy our REIT distribution requirement.

# **Qualified REIT Subsidiaries**

For purposes of the requirements described herein, any corporation we own that is a qualified REIT subsidiary will not be treated as a corporation separate from us and all of its assets, liabilities and items of income, deduction and credit will be treated as our assets, liabilities and items of income, deduction and credit. A qualified REIT subsidiary is a corporation, other than a taxable REIT subsidiary, all of the capital stock of which is owned by a REIT.

#### **Ownership of Partnership Interests**

We own substantially all of our assets and conduct substantially all of our activities through the Operating Partnership of which, as of September 30, 2014, we were the sole general partner and owned approximately 79.0% of the partnership units in the Operating Partnership (with the limited partners, including certain of our officers and directors, owning the remaining units of the Operating Partnership). As noted above, a REIT that is a partner in an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal tax purposes is treated as owning its proportionate share of the assets of the partnership and as being entitled to the income of the partnership attributable to such share and which share, for purposes of the REIT requirements of Code Section 856 (including the REIT gross income and asset requirements) is determined in accordance with its capital interest in the partnership. In

addition, the character of the assets and gross income of the partnership retains the same character in the hands of the REIT for purposes of such requirements. Accordingly, and as also noted above, in applying these REIT requirements, our proportionate share of the assets, liabilities and items of income of the Operating Partnership and any Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity is treated as our assets, liabilities and items of income.

Moreover, for purposes of determining whether we might be subject to the 100.0% excise tax on net income from a prohibited transaction, we are treated as holding primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business our proportionate share of any property so held by the Operating Partnership or any Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity. See "Prohibited Transaction Rules" discussion below.

Finally, in the case where a partnership sells real property, or a REIT that is a partner of a partnership that owns real property sells its interest in such partnership, any gross income realized from such sale, to the extent attributable to the real property, is deemed gross income from the sale or disposition of real property held for either the period that the partnership held the real property or the period that the REIT was a member of the partnership, whichever is shorter.

#### **Taxable REIT Subsidiaries**

Subject to the 25% asset requirement addressed in the following paragraph, a REIT is permitted to own (including through a partnership or other entity that constitutes a "partnership" for U.S. federal income tax purposes) up to 100.0% of the stock of one or more "taxable REIT subsidiaries." The subsidiary and the REIT must jointly elect to treat the subsidiary as a taxable REIT subsidiary. In addition, if a taxable REIT subsidiary owns, directly or indirectly, securities representing 35.0% or more of the vote or value of a subsidiary corporation, that subsidiary will automatically be treated as a taxable REIT subsidiary of the parent REIT. A taxable REIT subsidiary is subject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax (where applicable), as a regular "C" corporation.

Generally, a taxable REIT subsidiary may earn income that would not be qualifying income under the REIT gross income requirements if earned directly by the parent REIT. Several provisions in the Code regarding the arrangements between a REIT and a taxable REIT subsidiary ensure, however, that the taxable REIT subsidiary will be subject to an appropriate level of U.S. federal income tax. For example, the Code limits the ability of a taxable REIT subsidiary to deduct interest payments made to its parent REIT in excess of a certain amount. In addition, the Code imposes a 100.0% tax on transactions between a taxable REIT subsidiary and its parent REIT or the REIT's tenants that are not conducted on an arm's-length basis. Moreover, not more than 25.0% of the total value of our assets can be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. We believe that our taxable REIT subsidiaries have complied with, and currently is in compliance with, the above rules.

We can give you no assurance that any taxable REIT subsidiary that we currently own or will form in the future will not be limited in their ability to deduct interest payments (if any) made to us. We also cannot assure you that the IRS would not seek to impose a 100.0% tax on us to the extent any taxable REIT subsidiary is undercompensated for any services it may perform for our tenants or the tenants of partnerships in which we own an interest, or on a portion of the payments received by us from, or expenses deducted by, our taxable REIT subsidiaries.

# **Prohibited Transaction Rules**

Any gain that a REIT recognizes from the sale of property held as inventory or otherwise held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business (excluding sales of foreclosure property and sales conducted by taxable REIT subsidiaries) will be treated as income from a prohibited transaction that is subject to a 100.0% excise tax. Under existing law, whether property is held as inventory or primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business is a question of fact that depends on all of the facts and circumstances of the particular transaction. Under a statutory safe harbor, however, we will not be subject to the 100.0% excise tax

with respect to a sale of property if (the "Prohibited Transaction Safe Harbor") (1) the property has been held for at least two years for the production of rental income prior to the sale, (2) capitalized expenditures on the property in the two years preceding the sale are less than 30.0% of the net selling price of the property and (3) either (a) we have seven or fewer sales of property (excluding certain property obtained through foreclosure and certain involuntary conversions) in the year of sale, (b) the aggregate tax basis of property sold during the year of sale is 10.0% or less of the aggregate tax basis of all of our assets as of the beginning of the taxable year ("10% Basis Exception"), or (c) the aggregate fair market value of property sold during the year of sale is 10.0% or less of the aggregate fair market value of all of our assets as of the beginning of the taxable year ("10% FMV Exception"), in each case excluding sales of foreclosure property and involuntary conversions. In addition, in order for the 10% Basis Exception or 10% FMV Exception to apply, substantially all of the marketing and development expenditures with respect to the property sold must be made through an independent contractor from whom we derive no income.

Moreover, for purposes of determining whether we might be subject to the 100.0% excise tax under these prohibited transaction rules, we would be treated as holding primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business our proportionate share of any property so held by the Operating Partnership or any Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity.

Although we will attempt to ensure that none of our (or the Operating Partnership's or Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity's) sales of property will constitute a prohibited transaction, we cannot assure you that none of such sales will be so treated. In the event that the IRS were to successfully contend that the Operating Partnership's or any Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity's sale of property constitutes a prohibited transaction (and such sale otherwise did not qualify for the Prohibited Transaction Safe Harbor), then we would be required to pay the 100.0% penalty tax on the gain (or, in the case of a sale by the Operating Partnership or Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity, our proportionate share of any gain) resulting from such sale.

# Failure to Qualify

If we fail to satisfy one or more requirements for REIT qualification, other than the gross income requirements and asset requirements, we may retain our REIT qualification if the failures are due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect, and if we pay a penalty of \$50,000 for each such failure.

If we fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT in any taxable year and the relief provisions do not apply, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax (including any applicable alternative minimum tax) on our taxable income at regular corporate rates. Distributions to stockholders in any year in which we fail to qualify will not be deductible, nor will they be required to be made. Unless entitled to relief under specific statutory provisions, we will also be disqualified from taxation as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost. It is not possible to state whether we would be entitled to such statutory relief.

# **Foreclosure Property**

"Foreclosure property" is real property (including interests in real property) and any personal property incident to such real property (1) that is acquired by a REIT as a result of the REIT having bid in the property at foreclosure, or having otherwise reduced the property to ownership or possession by agreement or process of law, after there was a default (or default was imminent) on a lease of the property or a mortgage loan held by the REIT and secured by the property, (2) for which the related loan or lease was made, entered into or acquired by the REIT at a time when default was not imminent or anticipated and (3) for which such REIT makes an election to treat the property as foreclosure property. Treatment of property as foreclosure property generally continues until the end of the third taxable year following the year during which the REIT acquires or takes possession of the property, but this period ends prematurely if, before the end of the third year, (1) the REIT makes a lease of the property under which it will receive rents not qualified for purposes of the 75.0% gross income requirement,

(2) the REIT begins construction on the property (other than by continuing a project at least 10.0% completed when default became imminent), or (3) the REIT uses the property in a trade or business on a day more than 90 days after it acquired the property. The IRS may, however, extend the period if the REIT establishes to the IRS's satisfaction that an extension is necessary for the orderly liquidation of the REIT's interests in such property, but no such extension may prolong the period beyond the sixth taxable year following the year during which the REIT acquires or takes possession of the property.

REITs generally are subject to U.S. federal income tax at the maximum corporate rate (currently 35.0%) on any net income from foreclosure property. Net income from foreclosure property is the excess of (1) gain on sales and exchanges of foreclosure property that the REIT holds for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business and (2) gross income from foreclosure property other than rents from real property, interest on real property mortgages, refunds of real property taxes and gains on dispositions of real property not held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, over deductions directly connected with the production of the above income. Net income from foreclosure property constitutes "qualifying income" under both the 75.0% and the 95.0% gross income requirements described above.

REITs must distribute to shareholders 90.0% of the excess of any net income from foreclosure property over the U.S. federal income tax on such income. Any gain from the sale of property for which a foreclosure property election has been made will not be subject to the 100.0% excise tax on gains from prohibited transactions, even if the property is held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business.

If there were to be a default on any lease of any property owned by us, the Operating Partnership or any Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity such that possession of the subject property is acquired by us, the Operating Partnership or Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity, as applicable, and an election is made to treat such property as foreclosure property, our net income from any foreclosure property should qualify under both the 75.0% and the 95.0% gross income requirements. We will be subject to U.S. tax on such net income, however.

# Redetermined Rents, Redetermined Deductions, and Excess Interest

Any redetermined rents, redetermined deductions or excess interest we generate will be subject to a 100.0% penalty tax. In general, redetermined rents are our rents from real property to the extent the amount would be reduced by IRS's distributing, apportioning, or allocating items of income or deduction under the principles of Section 482 of the Code to clearly reflect income as a result of services furnished or rendered to a tenant by a taxable REIT subsidiary. Redetermined deductions and excess interest represent amounts that are deducted by a taxable REIT subsidiary for amounts paid to us that are in excess of the amounts that would have been charged based on arm's-length negotiations. Under "safe harbor" provisions of the Code, rents we receive from tenants of a property will not constitute redetermined rents (by reason of the performance of services by any taxable REIT subsidiary to such tenants) if:

- So much of such amounts as constitutes "impermissible tenant service income" (i.e., any amounts received or accrued directly or indirectly by a REIT, with respect to any real or personal property, for services furnished or rendered by the REIT to tenants of such property, or for managing or operating such property) does not exceed 1.0% of all amounts received or accrued during the year with respect to such property;
- The taxable REIT subsidiary renders a significant amount of similar services to unrelated parties and the charges for such services are substantially comparable;
- Rents paid to a REIT by tenants leasing at least 25.0% of the net leasable space in the property who are
  not receiving services from the taxable REIT subsidiary are substantially comparable to the rents paid
  by tenants leasing comparable space who are receiving such services from the TRS and the charge for
  the services is separately stated; or

• The taxable REIT subsidiary's gross income from the service is not less than 150.0% of the taxable REIT subsidiary's direct cost in furnishing the service.

We have conducted, and will continue to conduct, our operations so as to not generate any redetermined rents, redetermined deductions or excess interest, but no assurance can be given that we will not generate such amounts.

# **Hedging Transactions**

We (or the Operating Partnership or Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity) may enter into hedging transactions with respect to one or more assets or liabilities. Hedging transactions could take a variety of forms, including interest rate swaps or cap agreements, options, futures contracts, forward rate agreements or similar financial instruments. Any income from a hedging transaction to manage risk of interest rate or price changes or currency fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or to be made, or ordinary obligations incurred or to be incurred by us to acquire or own real estate assets, which is clearly identified as such before the close of the day on which it was acquired, originated or entered into, including gain from the disposition of such a transaction, will be disregarded for purposes of the 75.0% and 95.0% gross income tests. There are also rules for disregarding income for purposes of the 75.0% and 95.0% gross income tests with respect to hedges of certain foreign currency risks. To the extent we (or the Operating Partnership or Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity) enter into other types of hedging transactions, the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of both the 75.0% and 95.0% gross income tests. We intend that any hedging transaction that we (or the Operating Partnership or Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity) may determine to enter into shall be one that would not jeopardize our ability to qualify as a REIT.

#### Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders

This section summarizes the taxation of U.S. stockholders that are not U.S. tax-exempt organizations. For these purposes, a "U.S. stockholder" is a beneficial owner of our stock that for U.S. federal income tax purposes is (1) a citizen or resident of the United States, (2) a corporation or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes that is created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof, (3) an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source or (4) a trust if (a) a U.S. court is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (b) it has a valid election in place to be treated as a U.S. person or otherwise is treated as a U.S. person.

If an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds our stock, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner generally will depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. A partner of a partnership holding our stock should consult his, her or its tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences to the partner of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of our stock by the partnership.

#### Distributions

Distributions to U.S. stockholders, other than capital gain dividends discussed below, will constitute dividends to the extent they do not exceed our current and accumulated earnings and profits. As long as we continue to qualify as a REIT, such dividends will (a) in the case of corporate U.S. stockholders, not be eligible for the dividends-received deduction generally available to corporate stockholders; and (b) in the case of individual and other U.S. stockholders, generally be taxable as ordinary income subject to a maximum 39.6% U.S. federal income tax rate, other than the portion of such dividends that constitute (and are designated by us as) "qualified dividend income" eligible for taxation at the preferential maximum 20% U.S. federal income tax rate. Only the portion (if any) of our dividends attributable to (and which are designated by us as):

(1) income retained by us in the prior taxable year on which we were subject to corporate level income tax (less the amount of tax),

- (2) distributions received by us (or our share of distributions received by the Operating Partnership or Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity) from taxable C corporations including our taxable REIT subsidiaries (e.g., dividends derived from MHI Holding), or
- (3) income in the prior taxable year from the sales of "built-in gain" property acquired by us from C corporations in carryover basis transactions (less the amount of corporate tax on such income) will constitute "qualified dividend income."

If we make a distribution in excess of the amount of our current and accumulated earnings and profits, the distribution will be treated first as a tax-free return of capital, reducing the tax basis of a U.S. stockholder's shares of our stock, and the amount of each distribution in excess of a U.S. stockholder's tax basis in his, her or its shares of our stock will be taxable as gain realized from the sale of his, her or its shares. Distributions that we declare in October, November or December of any year payable to a stockholder of record on a specified date in any of these months will be treated as both paid by us and received by the stockholder on December 31 of the year, as long as we actually pay the distribution during January of the following calendar year. U.S. stockholders are not permitted to include any of our losses on their own U.S. federal income tax returns.

Distributions from us that are designated as capital gain dividends will be taxed to U.S. stockholders as long-term capital gains, to the extent that they do not exceed our actual net capital gains for the taxable year, without regard to the period for which the U.S. stockholder has held its shares. To the extent that we elect under the applicable provisions of the Code to retain our net capital gains, U.S. stockholders will be treated as having received, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, our undistributed capital gains as well as a corresponding credit for taxes paid by us on such retained capital gains. U.S. stockholders will increase their adjusted U.S. federal income tax basis in our stock by the difference between their allocable share of such retained capital gain and their share of the tax paid by us. Corporate U.S. stockholders may be required to treat up to 20.0% of some capital gain dividends as ordinary income. Long-term capital gain is generally taxable at maximum U.S. federal income tax rate of 20.0% in the case of U.S. stockholders who are individuals, and a maximum U.S. federal income tax rate of 35.0% for corporate stockholders, except that for U.S. stockholders who are individuals long-term capital gain attributable to the sale of depreciable real property held for more than 12 months is subject to a 25.0% maximum U.S. federal income tax rate to the extent of previously claimed depreciation deductions.

### Disposition of Stock

In general, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, a U.S. stockholder will realize gain or loss upon the sale or other taxable disposition of our stock in an amount equal to the difference between the sum of the fair value of any property and the amount of cash received in such disposition and the U.S. stockholder's adjusted U.S. federal income tax basis in the stock at the time of the disposition. Capital gains recognized by individuals upon the sale or disposition of shares of our stock will generally be subject to a maximum U.S. federal income tax rate of 20.0% if such stock is held for more than 12 months, and will be taxed at ordinary income rates of up to 39.6% if such stock is held for 12 months or less. The IRS has the authority to prescribe, but has not yet prescribed, regulations that would apply a capital gain tax rate of 25.0% (which is generally higher than the long-term capital gain tax rates for non-corporate stockholders) to a portion of a capital gain realized by a non-corporate stockholder on the sale of REIT shares that would correspond to the REIT's "unrecaptured Section 1250 gain." Gains recognized by stockholders that are corporations are subject to a maximum U.S. federal income tax of 35.0%, whether or not classified as long-term capital gains. Losses recognized by a stockholder upon the disposition of shares of our stock will be considered capital losses, and are generally available only to offset capital gain income of the stockholder but not ordinary income (except in the case of individuals, who may offset up to \$3,000 of ordinary income each year). In addition, any loss upon a sale or exchange of shares of our stock by a stockholder who has held such shares for six months or less, after applying holding period rules, will be treated as a long-term capital loss to the extent of distributions received from us that are required to be treated by the stockholder as long-term capital gain.

If a U.S. stockholder has shares of our stock redeemed by us, such U.S. stockholder will be treated as if it sold the redeemed shares if (1) all of the U.S. stockholder's shares of our stock are redeemed (after taking into consideration certain ownership attribution rules set forth in the Code) or (2) such redemption is (a) not essentially equivalent to a dividend within the meaning of Section 302(b)(1) of the Code or (b) substantially disproportionate within the meaning of Section 302(b)(2) of the Code. If a redemption is not treated as a sale of the redeemed shares, it will be treated as a distribution made with respect to the U.S. stockholder's stock. U.S. stockholders should consult with their tax advisors regarding the taxation of any particular redemption of our shares.

### Passive Activity Losses and Investment Interest Limitations.

Distributions made by us and gain arising from the sale or exchange by a U.S. stockholder of our stock will not be treated as passive activity income. As a result, a U.S. stockholder will not be able to apply any "passive losses" against income or gain relating to our stock. Distributions made by us, to the extent they do not constitute return of capital, generally will be treated as investment income for purposes of computing the investment interest limitation. Net capital gain derived from a disposition of our stock (or capital gain dividends) generally will be excluded from a U.S. stockholder's investment income unless the U.S. stockholder elects to have such gain taxed at ordinary income rates.

#### Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Payments of dividends on our stock and proceeds received upon the sale, redemption or other disposition of our stock may be subject to IRS information reporting and backup withholding. Payments to certain U.S. stockholders (including, among others, corporations and certain tax-exempt organizations) are generally not subject to information reporting or backup withholding. Payments to a non-corporate U.S. stockholder generally will be subject to information reporting. Such payments also generally will be subject to backup withholding at the current rate of 28.0% with respect to distributions paid, if such stockholder (1) fails to furnish its taxpayer identification number, which for an individual is ordinarily his or her social security number, (2) furnishes an incorrect taxpayer identification number, (3) is notified by the IRS that it has failed to properly report payments of interest or dividends or (4) fails to certify, under penalties of perjury, that it has furnished a correct taxpayer identification number and that the IRS has not notified the U.S. stockholder that it is subject to backup withholding.

A U.S. stockholder that does not provide us with its correct taxpayer identification number may also be subject to penalties imposed by the IRS. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amount paid as backup withholding will be creditable against the U.S. stockholder's U.S. federal income tax liability, if any, and otherwise will be refundable, provided that the requisite procedures are followed. U.S. stockholders should consult their tax advisors regarding their qualification for an exemption from backup withholding and information reporting and the procedures for obtaining such an exemption, if applicable.

#### Medicare Tax on Unearned Income

A U.S. stockholder who is an individual is subject to a 3.8% tax on the lesser of (1) his or her "net investment income" for the relevant taxable year or (2) the excess of his or her modified gross income for the taxable year over a certain threshold (between \$125,000 and \$250,000 depending on the individual's U.S. federal income tax filing status). A similar regime applies to certain estates and trusts. Net investment income generally would include dividends on our stock and gain from the sale of our stock. If you are a U.S. stockholder that is an individual, an estate or a trust, you are urged to consult your tax advisors regarding the applicability of this tax to your income and gains in respect of your investment in our stock.

WE URGE THOSE OF YOU THAT ARE, OR WOULD BE IF PURCHASING OUR SECURITIES, A U.S. STOCKHOLDER TO CONSULT YOUR OWN TAX ADVISOR(S) TO DETERMINE THE

# IMPACT OF THE UNITED STATES FEDERAL, STATE AND LOAN INCOME AND OTHER TAX LAWS ON THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF OUR SECURITIES IN LIGHT OF YOUR OWN PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

#### Taxation of Tax-Exempt U.S. Stockholders

U.S. tax-exempt entities, including qualified employee pension and profit sharing trusts and individual retirement accounts, generally are exempt from U.S. federal income taxation. They are subject to taxation, however, on their unrelated business taxable income, or UBTI. Provided that (1) a tax-exempt U.S. stockholder has not held shares of our stock as "debt financed property" within the meaning of the Code (i.e., where the acquisition or ownership of our stock is financed through a borrowing by the tax-exempt stockholder) and (2) our stock is not otherwise used in an unrelated trade or business, distributions from us and income from the sale or redemption of shares of our stock generally should not give rise to UBTI to a tax-exempt U.S. stockholder.

However, for tax-exempt U.S. stockholders that are social clubs, voluntary employee benefit associations, supplemental unemployment benefit trusts and qualified group legal services plans exempt from U.S. federal income taxation under Sections 501(c)(7), (c)(9), (c)(17) and (c)(20) of the Code, respectively, income from an investment in our stock will constitute UBTI unless the organization properly sets aside or reserves such amounts for purposes specified in the Code. These tax-exempt U.S. stockholders should consult their own tax advisors concerning these "set aside" and reserve requirements.

In the event that we are deemed to be "predominately held" by qualified employee pension benefit trusts (as defined in the Code), such trusts would be required to treat a certain percentage of the distributions paid to them as UBTI. We would be deemed to be "predominately held" by such trusts if either (1) one employee pension benefit trust owns more than 25.0% in value of our stock, or (2) any group of employee pension benefit trusts, each owning more than 10.0% in value of our stock, holds in the aggregate more than 50.0% in value of our stock. If either of these ownership thresholds were ever exceeded, any qualified employee pension benefit trust holding more than 10.0% in value of our stock would be subject to tax on that portion of our distributions made to it which is equal to the percentage of our income that would be UBTI if we were a qualified trust, rather than a REIT. Our stock has not been and is not currently "predominately held" by qualified employee pension benefit trusts. Although we do not expect our stock to be deemed to be "predominately held" by qualified employee pension benefit trusts, we cannot give any assurance that our stock will not be so held and that the above rules dealing with qualified employee pension benefit trusts will not apply.

WE URGE THOSE OF YOU THAT ARE, OR WOULD BE IF PURCHASING OUR SECURITIES, A TAX-EXEMPT U.S. STOCKHOLDER TO CONSULT YOUR OWN TAX ADVISOR(S) TO DETERMINE THE IMPACT OF THE UNITED STATES FEDERAL, STATE AND LOAN INCOME AND OTHER TAX LAWS ON THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF OUR SECURITIES IN LIGHT OF YOUR OWN PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

# Taxation of Non-U.S. Stockholders

The following is a discussion of certain anticipated U.S. federal income tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of our stock applicable to non-U.S. stockholders. A non-U.S. stockholder is any person who is not a U.S. stockholder. The discussion is based on current law and is for general information only. The discussion addresses only certain and not all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation.

### **Ordinary Dividends**

The portion of dividends received by non-U.S. stockholders payable out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits which are not attributable to capital gains and which are not effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the non-U.S. stockholder will generally be treated as ordinary income and will be

subject to U.S. withholding tax at the rate of 30.0% (unless reduced by an applicable income tax treaty). In general, non-U.S. stockholders will not be considered engaged in a U.S. trade or business solely as a result of their ownership of our stock. In cases where the dividend income from a non-U.S. stockholder's investment in our stock is effectively connected with such stockholder's conduct of a U.S. trade or business (or, if an income tax treaty applies, is attributable to a U.S. permanent establishment of the non-U.S. stockholder), the non-U.S. stockholder generally will be subject to U.S. tax at graduated rates, in the same manner as U.S. stockholders are taxed with respect to such dividends (a corporate non-U.S. stockholder may also be subject to a "branch profits tax" at a rate of 30.0% or lower under an applicable treaty).

We expect to withhold U.S. income tax at the rate of 30.0% on the gross amount of any distributions of ordinary income made to a non-U.S. stockholder unless (1) a lower treaty rate applies and proper certification is provided on IRS Form W-8 (i.e., IRS Form W-8BEN, IRS Form W-8IMY or IRS Form W-8EXP) or (2) the non-U.S. stockholder submits an IRS Form W-8ECI claiming that the distribution is effectively connected with the non-U.S. stockholder's conduct of a U.S. trade or business (or, if an income tax treaty applies, is attributable to a U.S. permanent establishment of the non-U.S. stockholder). However, the non-U.S. stockholder may seek a refund of such amounts from the IRS if it is subsequently determined that such distribution was, in fact, in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits.

#### Non-Dividend Distributions

A non-U.S. stockholder will not incur tax on a distribution in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits if such excess does not exceed such non-U.S. stockholder's adjusted basis in our stock. Instead, the excess portion of such distribution will reduce the non-U.S. stockholder's adjusted basis in our stock. The excess of a distribution over both our current and accumulated earnings and profits and the non-U.S. stockholder's adjusted basis in our stock will be taxed, if at all, as gain from the sale or disposition of our stock. See "—Disposition of Stock" below. Under the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980, or FIRPTA (discussed below), we may be required to withhold 10% of the portion of any distribution that exceeds our current and accumulated earnings and profits. If it cannot be determined at the time a distribution is made whether or not such distribution will be in excess of current and accumulated earnings and profits, the distribution will be subject to withholding at the rate applicable to dividends. However, a non-U.S. stockholder may seek a refund of such amounts from the IRS if it is subsequently determined that such distribution was, in fact, in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits.

# Capital Gain Dividends and FIRPTA

Under FIRPTA, a distribution made by us to a non-U.S. stockholder, to the extent attributable to gains from dispositions of U.S. real property interests held by us directly or held by the Operating Partnership or Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity (a "capital gain dividend"), must be reported on U.S. federal income tax returns filed by, and are treated as effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of, the non-U.S. stockholder. Capital gain dividends are subject to U.S. federal income tax at the rates applicable to U.S. stockholders. A non-U.S. corporate stockholder may also be subject to an additional 30.0% "branch profits tax" (or a lower rate of tax under the applicable income tax treaty). We are required to withhold tax at a 35.0% rate on capital gain dividends. Notwithstanding the above, if at any time during the one-year period ending on the date of our distribution of a capital gain dividend a non-U.S. stockholder did not hold more than 5.0% of any class of our stock that is regularly traded on an established securities market, such dividend will, instead, be subject to U.S. withholding tax as an ordinary dividend and, thus, subject to a U.S. withholding tax rate of 30.0% (or lower applicable treaty rate) pursuant to the rules discussed above under "- Ordinary Dividends."

#### Disposition of Stock

Gain recognized by a non-U.S. stockholder upon a sale, repurchase or other disposition of our stock generally will not be taxable to such stockholder in the United States unless (1) investment in our stock is

effectively connected with the non-U.S. stockholder's U.S. trade or business (through a U.S. permanent establishment, if a non-U.S. stockholder is entitled to the benefits of an applicable tax treaty and such tax treaty so requires as a condition for taxation), in which case the non-U.S. stockholder generally will be subject to the same treatment as U.S. stockholders with respect to the gain and if such non-U.S. stockholder is a corporation, may also be subject to the branch profits tax described above; (2) the non-U.S. stockholder is a nonresident alien individual who was present in the United States for more than 182 days during the taxable year and other requirements are met, in which case the nonresident alien individual will be subject to a 30% tax on the individual's capital gains, reduced by certain capital losses; or (3) we are not a "domestically controlled REIT" (defined generally as a REIT in which at all times during a specified testing period less than 50% in value of the stock was held directly or indirectly by foreign persons), in which case gain recognized by a non-U.S. stockholder will be taxable under FIRPTA.

We currently anticipate that we constitute a domestically controlled REIT, although, because our common stock is publicly traded, there can be no assurance that we have or will retain that status. If we are not a domestically controlled REIT, gain recognized by a non-U.S. stockholder with respect to any class of our stock that is regularly traded on an established securities market will nevertheless be exempt under FIRPTA if that non-U.S. stockholder at no time during the five-year period ending on the date of disposition owned more than 5.0% of such class of stock. If the gain on the sale of shares were to be subject to taxation under FIRPTA, the non-U.S. stockholder would be subject to the same treatment as U.S. stockholders with respect to the gain (subject to applicable alternative minimum tax and a special alternative minimum tax in the case of nonresident alien individuals). In that case, withholding tax at a rate of 10.0% of the amount payable could apply and any withholding tax withheld pursuant to the rules applicable to dispositions of a U.S. real property interest would be creditable against such non-U.S. stockholder's U.S. federal income tax liability.

Non-U.S. stockholders are urged to consult their own tax advisors as to whether they will be subject to tax under FIRPTA upon a disposition of our stock.

# Information reporting and backup withholding

Backup withholding will generally not apply to dividend payments made by us or our paying agents, in their capacities as such, to a non-U.S. stockholder provided that the non-U.S. stockholder furnishes to us or our paying agent the required certification as to its non-U.S. status, such as providing a valid IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8ECI, or certain other requirements are met. Notwithstanding the foregoing, backup withholding may apply if either we or our paying agent has actual knowledge, or reason to know, that the holder is a "United States person" that is not an exempt recipient. Payments of the proceeds from a disposition or a redemption effected outside the U.S. by a non-U.S. stockholder made by or through a foreign office of a broker generally will not be subject to information reporting or backup withholding. However, information reporting (but not backup withholding) generally will apply to such a payment if the broker has certain connections with the U.S. unless the broker has documentary evidence in its records that the beneficial owner is a non-U.S. stockholder and specified conditions are met or an exemption is otherwise established. Payment of the proceeds from a disposition by a non-U.S. stockholder of common shares made by or through the U.S. office of a broker is generally subject to information reporting and backup withholding unless the non-U.S. stockholder certifies under penalties of perjury that it is not a "United States person" and satisfies certain other requirements, or otherwise establishes an exemption from information reporting and backup withholding.

WE URGE THOSE OF YOU THAT ARE, OR WOULD BE IF PURCHASING OUR SECURITIES, A NON-U.S. STOCKHOLDER TO CONSULT YOUR OWN TAX ADVISOR(S) TO DETERMINE THE IMPACT OF THE UNITED STATES FEDERAL, STATE AND LOAN INCOME AND OTHER TAX LAWS ON THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF OUR SECURITIES IN LIGHT OF YOUR OWN PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

#### **Dividend Reinvestment Plan**

Our stockholders have had the opportunity since June 2006 to participate in a dividend reinvestment plan (a "DRIP") sponsored and administered by AST which allows them to acquire additional shares of our common stock by automatically reinvesting their cash dividends. The additional shares are purchased on the open market by the DRIP administrator. The share price of stock acquired pursuant to the DRIP is the average price of all shares purchased with the reinvested distributions by the DRIP administrator on behalf of all DRIP participants relating to a particular distribution by us. The DRIP administrator charges participants under the DRIP commissions and other fees according to the fee schedule provided by AST in connection with any acquisition of shares. We do not subsidize or otherwise provide any discount to DRIP participants in connection with the acquisition of shares of common stock under the DRIP. Stockholders who do not participate in the DRIP continue to receive cash distributions as declared. Stockholders who elect to participate in the DRIP will incur tax liability for dividends reinvested even though they will receive no related cash. Specifically, stockholders will be treated as if they have received a cash dividend from us and then applied such dividend to purchase additional common stock in the DRIP. A U.S. stockholder who reinvests dividends will be taxed on such dividends at ordinary income tax rates to the extent such dividends are made out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, unless we have designated all or a portion of the distribution as a capital gain dividend, in which case such designated portion of the distribution will be taxed as capital gain. See "Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders - Distributions" above. A non-U.S. stockholder who reinvests dividends will be subject to U.S. withholding tax on such dividends to the extent such dividends are made out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as discussed in "Taxation of Non-U.S. Stockholders - Ordinary Dividends" above. A non-U.S. stockholder who reinvests dividends that we designate as capital gain dividends will be subject to tax on such dividends as discussed in "Taxation of Taxable Non-U.S. Stockholders - Capital Gain Dividends" above.

# Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA")

FATCA generally imposes a 30% withholding tax on certain U.S.-source "withholdable payments" made after June 30, 2014 to "foreign financial institutions" with U.S. customers and "foreign nonfinancial entities" with substantial U.S. owners, unless foreign financial institutions and foreign nonfinancial entities disclose certain information regarding their U.S. customers or U.S. owners to the IRS and satisfy certain conditions, including the execution of an information reporting agreement with the IRS. A "withholdable payment" is non-effectively connected (1) U.S. source fixed or determinable annual or periodical income (i.e., dividends, interest, royalties); (2) U.S. source gross proceeds from sales of property that produce interest and dividend income; and (3) interest on deposits with foreign branches of domestic commercial banks (which are otherwise non-U.S. source income). A foreign financial institution includes a foreign entity that (1) accepts deposits in the ordinary course of a banking or similar business, (2) holds financial assets for the account of others as a substantial portion of its business, or (3) is engaged or holds itself out as being engaged primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities, partnership interests, commodities or any interest in the foregoing. A foreign nonfinancial entity is any entity that is not a foreign financial institution.

In order to comply with the new rules and avoid the 30% withholding tax, non-U.S. stockholders should note that they may themselves be required to comply with these reporting requirements with respect to their investors and/or to enter into an information reporting agreement with the IRS. Non-U.S. stockholders are urged to consult their own tax advisors as to the impact of these new rules and reporting requirements on their investment in us.

# Tax Aspects of Our Investment in The Operating Partnership

We must include in our income our distributive share of the Operating Partnership's income and gain (which would include our indirect share of the income and gain of any Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity) and to deduct our distributive share of the Operating Partnership's losses (which would include our indirect losses of any Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity) only if the Operating Partnership is classified

as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes (and, as regard to any income, gain and losses of any Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity, only if the Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity is classified as either a partnership or "disregarded entity" for U.S. federal income tax purposes), rather than as a corporation or an association taxable as a corporation. Under applicable Treasury Regulations, which we refer to as the "Check-the-Box-Regulations," an unincorporated domestic entity with at least two members may elect to be classified for U.S. federal tax purposes either as an association taxable as a corporation or as a partnership and an unincorporated domestic entity having only one member may elect to be classified for U.S. federal tax purposes either as an association taxable as a corporation or a "disregarded entity". If an unincorporated domestic entity does not make any classification election, it generally will be treated either as a partnership (if it has at least two members) or a "disregarded entity" (if it has only one member) for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Operating Partnership is classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and does not intend to make the election to be treated as an association taxable as a corporation under the Check-the-Box-Regulations.

Even though the Operating Partnership has not made, and will not make, the election to be treated as an association taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, it may nonetheless be taxed as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes if it were to constitute a "publicly-traded partnership" and it were unable to satisfy the "90% gross income requirement". In general, a publicly traded partnership is a partnership whose interests are traded on an established securities market or are readily tradable on a secondary market or the substantial equivalent thereof. However, even if a partnership were to constitute a "publicly-traded partnership" under this definition, the partnership would still not be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes if at least 90.0% of the partnership's gross income for each taxable year consisted of "qualifying income" under Section 7704(d) of the Code. Qualifying income generally includes any income that is qualifying income for purposes of the 95.0% gross income test applicable to REITs.

Under applicable Treasury Regulations, limited safe harbors from the definition of a publicly traded partnership are provided. Pursuant to one of those safe harbors — i.e., the "Private Placement Exclusion" — interests in a partnership will not be treated as readily tradable on a secondary market or the substantial equivalent thereof if (1) all interests in the partnership were issued in a transaction (or transactions) that were not required to be registered under the Securities Act and (2) the partnership does not have more than 100 partners at any time during the partnership's taxable year. In determining the number of partners in a partnership, a person owning an interest in a flow-through entity (including a partnership, grantor trust or S corporation) that owns an interest in the partnership is treated as a partner in such partnership only if (1) substantially all of the value of the owner's interest in the flow-through entity is attributable to the flow-through entity's direct or indirect interest in the partnership, and (2) a principal purpose of the use of the flow-through entity is to permit the partnership to satisfy the 100 partner limitation.

We do not believe that the Operating Partnership constitutes a publicly traded partnership in the first instance. This is because (1) interests in the Operating Partnership are not traded and have never been traded on an established securities market; and (2) the Operating Partnership satisfies the Private Placement Exclusion safe harbor (such that interests in the Operating Partnership should not be treated as readily tradable on a secondary market or the substantial equivalent thereof). Moreover, even if interests in the Operating Partnership could be viewed as being traded on an established securities market or readily tradable on a secondary market or the substantial equivalent thereof, the Operating Partnership should still avoid "corporation" treatment for U.S. federal income tax purposes since at least 90.0% of its gross income for each taxable year has consisted of, and is expected to consist of, "qualifying income" under Section 7704(d) of the Code.

We have not requested, and do not intend to request, a ruling from the IRS that the Operating Partnership will be classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If for any reason the Operating Partnership were to become taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, then we would not be able to qualify as a REIT, unless we were eligible for relief from the violation pursuant to relief provisions described herein. In addition, any change in the Operating Partnership's classification for U.S. federal income tax purposes might be treated as a taxable event, in which case we might incur a U.S. federal income tax liability

without any related cash distribution. Further, items of the Operating Partnership's income, gain, losses and deduction would not pass through to us and its other partners, and we (and its other partners) would be treated as stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In such instance, the Operating Partnership would be required to pay U.S. federal income tax at corporate tax rates on its taxable income and gain, and distributions to us (and its other partners) would constitute distributions that would not be deductible in computing such taxable income and gain.

# Partners, Not The Operating Partnership, Subject to U.S. Federal Income Tax

A partnership is not a taxable entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We will therefore take into account our allocable share of the Operating Partnership's income, gains, losses, deductions, and credits for each taxable year of the Operating Partnership ending with or within our taxable year, even if we receive no distribution from the Operating Partnership for that year or a distribution less than our allocable share of the Operating Partnership's taxable income and gain. Similarly, even if we receive a distribution from the Operating Partnership, it may not be taxable if the distribution does not exceed our adjusted tax basis in our interest in the Operating Partnership.

# Tax Allocations With Respect to Contributed Properties

Pursuant to Section 704(c) of the Code, income, gain, loss, and deduction attributable to appreciated or depreciated property that is contributed to a partnership in exchange for an interest in the partnership must be allocated for U.S. federal income tax purposes in a manner such that the contributor is charged with, or benefits from, the unrealized gain or unrealized loss associated with the property at the time of the contribution. The amount of unrealized gain or unrealized loss is generally equal to the difference between the fair market value of the contributed property at the time of contribution and the adjusted tax basis of such property at the time of contribution. Under applicable Treasury Regulations, partnerships are required to use a "reasonable method" for allocating items subject to Section 704(c) of the Code, and several reasonable allocation methods are described therein.

Under the partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership, depreciation or amortization deductions of the Operating Partnership generally will be allocated among the partners in accordance with their respective interests in the Operating Partnership, except to the extent that the Operating Partnership is required under Section 704(c) to use a different method for allocating depreciation deductions attributable to its properties. In addition, gain or loss on the sale of a property that has been contributed to the Operating Partnership will be specially allocated to the contributing partner to the extent of any built-in gain or loss with respect to the property for U.S. federal income tax purposes. It is possible that we may (1) be allocated lower amounts of depreciation deductions for tax purposes with respect to contributed properties than would be allocated to us if each such property were to have a tax basis equal to its fair market value at the time of contribution, and (2) be allocated taxable gain in the event of a sale of such contributed properties in excess of the economic profit allocated to us as a result of such sale.

These allocations may cause us to recognize taxable income in excess of cash proceeds received by us, which might adversely affect our ability to comply with the REIT distribution requirements, although we do not anticipate that this event will occur. The foregoing principles also will affect the calculation of our earnings and profits for purposes of determining the portion of our distributions that are taxable as a distribution. The allocations described in this paragraph may result in a higher portion of our distributions being taxed as a distribution than would have occurred had we purchased such properties for cash.

# Basis in Our Partnership Interest in the Operating Partnership.

Our adjusted tax basis in our partnership interest in the Operating Partnership generally will be:

 the amount of cash and the adjusted tax basis of any other property we contribute to the Operating Partnership;

- increased by our allocable share of the Operating Partnership's income (including tax-exempt income) and our allocable share of the Operating Partnership's indebtedness; and
- reduced, but not below zero, by our allocable share of the Operating Partnership's loss (excluding any
  nondeductible items), the amount of cash and the adjusted tax basis of property distributed to us, and
  constructive distributions resulting from a reduction in our share of the Operating Partnership's
  indebtedness.

Loss allocated to us in excess of our basis in our partnership interest in the Operating Partnership will not be taken into account until we again have basis sufficient to absorb the loss. A reduction of our share of the Operating Partnership's indebtedness will be treated as a constructive cash distribution to us, and will reduce our adjusted tax basis in our partnership interest in the Operating Partnership. Distributions, including constructive distributions, in excess of the adjusted tax basis of our partnership interest in the Operating Partnership will constitute taxable income to us. Such distributions and constructive distributions normally will be characterized as long-term capital gain.

# Sale of the Properties

We conduct substantially all our business through the Operating Partnership. The Operating Partnership intends to hold its properties (through the Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entities) for investment with a view to long-term appreciation. We believe that such properties should not be considered dealer property (i.e., property held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business). Whether property is dealer property is a question of fact that depends on the particular facts and circumstances with respect to that particular transaction, however. Our share of any gain realized by the Operating Partnership (or Operating Partnership Flow-Through Entity) on the sale of any dealer property generally will be treated as income from a prohibited transaction that is subject to a 100% excise tax (unless such sale qualified for the Prohibited Transaction Safe Harbor). See "Prohibited Transaction Rules" above. Although we and the Operating Partnership will attempt to ensure that no property sale will be treated as a prohibited transaction, no assurance can be given of this treatment.

# **State and Local Taxes**

We and our subsidiaries and our stockholders may be subject to state or local taxation in various jurisdictions, including those in which we or they transact business or reside. The state and local tax treatment of us, our subsidiaries and our stockholders may not conform to the U.S. federal income tax consequences discussed above. Consequently, prospective stockholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the effect of state and local tax laws on an investment in us.

#### Possible Legislative or Other Actions Affecting Tax Considerations

Prospective investors should recognize that the present U.S. federal income tax treatment of an investment in our securities may be modified by legislative, judicial or administrative action at any time, and that any such action may affect investments and commitments previously made. The rules dealing with U.S. federal income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the IRS and the U.S. Treasury Department, resulting in revisions of the Treasury Regulations and revised interpretations of established concepts as well as statutory changes. Revisions in U.S. federal tax laws and interpretations thereof could adversely affect the tax consequences of an investment in our securities.

THE FOREGOING SUMMARY IS INCLUDED FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY. ACCORDINGLY, YOU ARE URGED TO CONSULT WITH YOUR OWN TAX ADVISORS WITH RESPECT TO THE PARTICULAR U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL AND FOREIGN TAX CONSEQUENCES OF YOUR PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF OUR SECURITIES APPLICABLE TO YOUR OWN PARTICULAR TAX SITUATIONS.

### PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We may sell the securities from time to time pursuant to underwritten public offerings, negotiated transactions, block trades or a combination of these methods or through underwriters or dealers, through agents and/or directly to one or more purchasers. The securities may be distributed from time to time in one or more transactions:

- at a fixed price or prices, which may be changed,
- at market prices prevailing at the time of sale,
- at prices related to such prevailing market prices, or
- at negotiated prices.

Each time that we sell securities covered by this prospectus, we will provide a prospectus supplement or supplements that will describe the method of distribution and set forth the terms and conditions of the offering of such securities, including the offering price of the securities and the proceeds to us, if applicable.

Offers to purchase the securities being offered by this prospectus may be solicited directly. Agents may also be designated to solicit offers to purchase the securities from time to time. Any agent involved in the offer or sale of our securities will be identified in a prospectus supplement.

If a dealer is utilized in the sale of the securities being offered by this prospectus, the securities will be sold to the dealer, as principal. The dealer may then resell the securities to the public at varying prices to be determined by the dealer at the time of resale.

If an underwriter is utilized in the sale of the securities being offered by this prospectus, an underwriting agreement will be executed with the underwriter at the time of sale and the name of any underwriter will be provided in the prospectus supplement that the underwriter will use to make resales of the securities to the public. In connection with the sale of the securities, we or the purchasers of securities for whom the underwriter may act as agent, may compensate the underwriter in the form of underwriting discounts or commissions. The underwriter may sell the securities to or through dealers, and those dealers may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions from the underwriters and/or commissions from the purchasers for which they may act as agent. Unless otherwise indicated in a prospectus supplement, an agent will be acting on a best efforts basis and a dealer will purchase securities as a principal, and may then resell the securities at varying prices to be determined by the dealer.

Any compensation paid to underwriters, dealers or agents in connection with the offering of the securities, and any discounts, concessions or commissions allowed by underwriters to participating dealers, will be provided in the applicable prospectus supplement. Underwriters, dealers and agents participating in the distribution of the securities may be deemed to be underwriters within the meaning of the Securities Act, and any discounts and commissions received by them and any profit realized by them on resale of the securities may be deemed to be underwriting discounts and commissions. We may enter into agreements to indemnify underwriters, dealers and agents against civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, or to contribute to payments they may be required to make in respect thereof and to reimburse those persons for certain expenses.

Any common stock will be listed on NASDAQ, but any other securities may or may not be listed on a national securities exchange. To facilitate the offering of securities, certain persons participating in the offering may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of the securities. This may include over-allotments or short sales of the securities, which involve the sale by persons participating in the offering of more securities than were sold to them. In these circumstances, these persons would cover such over-allotments or short positions by making purchases in the open market or by exercising their over-allotment option, if any. In addition, these persons may stabilize or maintain the price of the securities by bidding for or

purchasing securities in the open market or by imposing penalty bids, whereby selling concessions allowed to dealers participating in the offering may be reclaimed if securities sold by them are repurchased in connection with stabilization transactions. The effect of these transactions may be to stabilize or maintain the market price of the securities at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open market. These transactions may be discontinued at any time.

If indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, underwriters or other persons acting as agents may be authorized to solicit offers by institutions or other suitable purchasers to purchase the securities at the public offering price set forth in the prospectus supplement, pursuant to delayed delivery contracts providing for payment and delivery on the date or dates stated in the prospectus supplement. These purchasers may include, among others, commercial and savings banks, insurance companies, pension funds, investment companies and educational and charitable institutions. Delayed delivery contracts will be subject to the condition that the purchase of the securities covered by the delayed delivery contracts will not at the time of delivery be prohibited under the laws of any jurisdiction in the United States to which the purchaser is subject. The underwriters and agents will not have any responsibility with respect to the validity or performance of these contracts.

We may engage in at the market offerings into an existing trading market in accordance with Rule 415(a)(4) under the Securities Act. In addition, we may enter into derivative transactions with third parties, or sell securities not covered by this prospectus to third parties in privately negotiated transactions. If the applicable prospectus supplement so indicates, in connection with those derivatives, the third parties may sell securities covered by this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement, including in short sale transactions. If so, the third party may use securities pledged by us or borrowed from us or others to settle those sales or to close out any related open borrowings of securities received from us in settlement of those derivatives to close out any related open borrowings of securities. The third party in such sale transactions will be an underwriter and, if not identified in this prospectus, will be named in the applicable prospectus supplement (or a post-effective amendment). In addition, we may otherwise loan or pledge securities to a financial institution or other third party that in turn may sell the securities short using this prospectus and an applicable prospectus supplement. Such financial institution or other third party may transfer its economic short position to investors in our securities or in connection with a concurrent offering of other securities.

The specific terms of any lock-up provisions in respect of any given offering will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

In compliance with the guidelines of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc., or FINRA, the maximum consideration or discount to be received by any FINRA member or independent broker dealer may not exceed 8% of the aggregate proceeds of the offering.

The underwriters, dealers and agents may engage in transactions with us, or perform services for us, in the ordinary course of business for which they receive compensation.

#### **LEGAL MATTERS**

Unless the applicable prospectus supplement indicates otherwise, certain legal matters in connection with this offering, including the validity of the securities to be offered by Sotherly or by the Operating Partnership, will be passed upon for us by Baker & McKenzie LLP.

#### **EXPERTS**

The financial statements incorporated into this prospectus by reference from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, filed with the SEC on March 25, 2014, have been audited by PBMares, LLP (formerly Witt Mares, PLC), an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is incorporated herein by reference.

The financial statements of CSC Georgian Terrace Limited Partnership incorporated by reference in this prospectus and elsewhere in the registration statement have been so incorporated by reference in reliance upon the report of Grant Thornton LLP, independent certified public accountants, upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

#### WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We maintain a website, www.sotherlyhotels.com, which contains additional information concerning us. We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information, as applicable, with the SEC. You may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's public reference room at Room 1580, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room. The SEC also maintains a web site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding registrants that file electronically with the SEC (http://www.sec.gov).

We have filed a registration statement on Form S-3 of which this prospectus is a part and related exhibits under the Securities Act with respect to the securities being offered by this prospectus. The registration statement contains additional information about us. You may inspect the registration statement and exhibits without charge at the office of the SEC at Room 1580, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549, and you may obtain copies from the SEC at prescribed rates.

We make available free of charge through our website all our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, definitive proxy statements and other reports filed with the SEC as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. We have also posted on this website Sotherly's Code of Business Conduct and the charters of Sotherly's Audit and Nominating, Corporate Governance and Compensation Committees of Sotherly's board of directors. The information contained in or accessed through our website is neither part of nor incorporated into this prospectus.

This prospectus does not contain all of the information included in the registration statement. We have omitted certain parts of the registration statement in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. For further information, we refer you to the registration statement, including its exhibits and schedules, which may be found at the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov. Statements contained in this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplements about the provisions or contents of any contract, agreement or any other document referred to are not necessarily complete. Please refer to the actual exhibit for a more complete description of the matters involved. Each of these statements is qualified in all respects by this reference.

#### INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference" information into this document prior to the completion of this offering. This means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to another document filed separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this prospectus, and information that we file later with the SEC prior to the completion of this offering will automatically update and supersede the previously filed information. We incorporate by reference into this prospectus the documents listed below as well as any future filings made by us with the SEC pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (File Nos. 001-32379 and 001-36091), including any filings made after the date of this prospectus until we sell all of the securities under this prospectus, except that we do not incorporate any document or portion of a document that is "furnished" to the SEC, but not deemed "filed." The following documents filed with the SEC are incorporated by reference in this prospectus:

- our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013;
- our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2014;
- our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 17, 2014, April 1, 2014, April 2, 2014, April 14, 2014, April 25, 2014, June 12, 2014, June 13, 2014, July 3, 2014, and July 9, 2014;
- Sotherly's definitive Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on April 22, 2014;
   and
- the description of Sotherly's common stock included in our Form 8-A filed with the SEC on March 10, 2008.

Any statement in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus is deemed to be modified or superseded to the extent that a statement contained in this prospectus, or in any other document we subsequently file with the SEC prior to the completion of this offering, modifies or supersedes that statement. If any statement is modified or superseded, it does not constitute a part of this prospectus, except as modified or superseded.

You may request a copy of any or all of the information incorporated by reference into this prospectus (other than an exhibit to the filings unless we have specifically incorporated that exhibit by reference into the filing), at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at the following address:

Sotherly Hotels Inc. 410 W. Francis Street Williamsburg, Virginia 23185-4046 Attention: Investor Relations/Scott Kucinski, Telephone: 757-229-5648

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus, any prospectus supplement, any applicable free writing prospectus and the documents that are incorporated by reference. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. We are not making an offer to sell, or soliciting an offer to buy, securities in any jurisdiction where the offer and sale is not permitted. You should not assume that the information in this prospectus, any prospectus supplement, any applicable free writing prospectus or any incorporated document is accurate as of any date other than the date of the document.

# SOTHERLY HOTELS INC.



# 3,000,000 Shares

**Common Stock** 

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

Sandler O'Neill + Partners, L.P.

JMP Securities

Ladenburg Thalmann

Boenning & Scattergood, Inc.

J.J.B. Hilliard, W.L. Lyons, LLC

, 2015